Neuromuscular Function in Meniscectomized Patients at High Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis

Research Unit for Musculoskeletal Function and Physiotherapy Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics Faculty of Health Sciences





Jonas Bloch Thorlund Ph.D. Thesis Odense 2011

Contents

Preface	4
List of papers	5
Thesis at a glance	6
Description of contributions	7
Abbreviations	8
Introduction	9
Knee Osteoarthritis	9
The role of neuromuscular function in OA development	knee
Meniscectomized patients as a 'pre- osteoarthritis' model	12
Neuromuscular function in meniscectomized patients	13
Aims of the thesis	16
General aim	16
Specific aims	16
Methods	17
Participants	17
Paper I	17
Paper II	19
Paper III	19
Descriptive variables	19
Co-morbidities	19
Physical activity level	20
Hand grip strength	20
Estimation of maximal oxygen consumption	20
Outcomes	20
Self-reported outcomes	20
Muscle strength assessment	21
Functional capacity tests	22

Stair descent analysis	23
Statistics	26
Sample size calculation	26
Basic statistics	26
Multivariate statistics	26
Results	28
Maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance	28
Stair descent performance	29
Kinematic and kinetic variables	29
Neuromuscular activity	29
Self-reported outcomes	30
Discussion	32
Main findings	32
Neuromuscular function	32
Muscle strength and functional performance	32
Stair descent performance	35
Self-reported outcomes	36
Methodological considerations	37
Subjects	37
Outcomes	38
Clinical implications	39
Conclusions	41
Perspectives	42
Summary	43
Dansk resumé	44
Acknowledgements	45
References	46

Preface

This thesis was accomplished at the Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, Faculty of Health, University of Southern Denmark, Odense. Supervision was provided by main supervisor professor, PhD, Ewa M. Roos and co-supervisor professor, PhD, Per Aagaard from the Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark.

All experiments were conducted at the Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark and recruitment of patients was accomplished through the Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Odense University Hospital, with the help of Professor, PhD, Søren Overgaard.

The studies of which this thesis comprises was supported by The Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of Southern Denmark.

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following three papers which will be referred to by their roman numerals in the text:

- I. Thorlund JB, Aagaard P, Roos EM. Thigh Muscle Strength, Functional Capacity, and Self-Reported Function in Patients at High Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis Compared With Controls. *Arthritis Care & Research* 2010; 62(9): 1244-51
- II. Thorlund JB, Roos EM, Aagaard P. Neuromuscular function during stair descent in meniscectomized patients and controls. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise 2011; 43(7): 1272-9
- III. Thorlund JB, Aagaard P, Roos EM. Muscle strength and functional performance in patients at high risk of knee osteoarthritis: Changes from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy. Revised version accepted for publication in *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, October 10, 2011.

Thesis at a glance

Paper	Question	Participants	Time since meniscectomy	Methods	Conclusion
Ι	Do meniscectomized patients self-report more pain and impaired function together with reduced muscle strength and reduced functional performance compared to population-based controls?	31 patients and 31 controls	2 years	Isokinetic dynamometry Functional tests KOOS questionnaire	Despite patients self- reporting more pain and reduced function compared to population- based controls no differences were observed in muscle strength and functional performance.
Π	Do meniscectomized patients show altered patterns of neuromuscular activity, reduced ROM, reduced movement speed and reduced GRF during stair descent compared to controls?	22 patients and 26 controls	2 years	Force plate analysis Electro goniometry EMG	Reductions in knee ROM, movement speed and altered GRF kinetics and neuromuscular activity between patients and controls could not be confirmed. A shorter stance phase along with reduced medial vs. lateral thigh muscle activity was observed in the operated compared with the contra- lateral leg of patients.
Π	Do changes in maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance differ between patients and controls over a 2 year period?	22 patients and 25 controls	4 years	Isokinetic dynamometry Functional tests	Longitudinal changes in knee flexor MVC, rapid force capacity and functional performance from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy were similar in patients and controls. However, post- hoc analysis revealed differential changes in knee extensor MVC in favor of the contra-lateral leg compared with the operated leg of patients.

EMG = Electromyography, MVC = Maximal Voluntary Contraction, RFD = Rate of Force Development

Description of contributions

PAPER I

PAPER III

Study design:	Jonas B. Thorlund Ewa M. Roos	Study design:	Jonas B. Thorlund Ewa M. Roos
Data collection:	Jonas B. Thorlund Jacob Damgaard	Data collection:	Jonas B. Thorlund Louise F. Sandal
Dete analysis	Søren Skovbakke	Data analysis:	Jonas B. Thorlund
Data analysis.	Per Aagaard	Manuscript writing:	Jonas B. Thorlund
Manuscript writing:	Jonas B. Thorlund	Manuscript revision:	Ewa M. Roos
Manuscript revision:	Ewa M. Roos Per Aagaard		Per Aagaard
PAPER II			
Study design:	Jonas B. Thorlund Ewa M. Roos Per Aagaard		
Data collection:	Jonas B. Thorlund Jacob Damgaard Søren Skovbakke		
Data analysis:	Jonas B. Thorlund Per Aagaard		
Manuscript writing:	Jonas B. Thorlund		

Manuscript revision: Ewa M. Roos Per Aagaard

Abbreviations

ACR	American College of	Sport/Rec
	Rheumatology	ST
Act _{load}	Mean neuromuscular activity during the loading slope phase	T _{peakGRF}
Act _{peakGRF}	Mean neuromuscular activity at GRF_{peak}	T _{stance}
ADL	Activities of Daily Living	VL
BPM	Beats Per Minute	VM
BF	m. Biceps Femoris	V _{mean}
Co-act _{load}	Level of muscle co-activation during the loading slope phase	
Co-act _{peakGRF}	Level of muscle co-activation at GRF_{peak}	
EMG	Electromyography	
GRF	Ground Reaction Force	
GRF _{peak}	Peak Ground Reaction Force	
KAM	Knee Adduction Moment	
KOOS	Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome score	
Load _{slope}	GRF Loading Slope	
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging	
MVC	Maximal Voluntary Contraction	
OA	Osteoarthritis	
QOL	Quality Of Life	
RFD	Rate of Force Development	
ROM	Range of motion	
S _{freq}	Stride Frequency	

Sport/Rec	Sport and Recreational function
ST	m. Semitendinosus
T _{peakGRF}	Time from foot-strike to GRF _{peak}
T _{stance}	Time for entire stance phase
VL	m. Vastus Lateralis
VM	m. Vastus Medialis
V _{mean}	Average knee joint angular velocity from foot-strike to GRF _{peak}

Introduction

Knee Osteoarthritis

Musculoskeletal diseases are the most common chronic disorders and a huge burden to society affecting more than half of the adult Danish population within any given two-week period (Statens Institut for Folkesundhed, 2007. Altman, 2010). Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of these musculoskeletal diseases. It is a slowly developing degenerative disease causing local destruction of the involved joint and the surrounding structures. The knee is the most frequently affected joint by OA (Martin, 1994) resulting in pain, functional disability and reduced quality of life (Buckwalter et al., 2004, Felson, 2009). A review from the UK estimated that about 25% of adults above 55 years self-report knee pain with half of them displaying radiographic changes of OA (Peat et al., 2001).

The structural changes observed in patients with tibiofemoral knee OA are characterized by a degradation of the cartilage on the tibial and femoral articular surfaces together with degenerative changes such as joint space narrowing, osteophytes, sclerosis and bone marrow lesions (Hunter et al., 2009, Ding et al., 2010). These changes are believed to origin from changes to the mechanical environment causing altered knee joint load (Andriacchi and Mundermann, 2006) and can be detected by radiography or Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). Traditionally, knee OA has been diagnosed by radiography using different classification systems such as the Kellgren & Lawrence scale (KELLGREN and LAWRENCE, 1957) which is one of the most commonly used. Radiography is still considered the diagnostic 'gold standard'.

However, the most frequent symptoms experienced by the patients such as knee pain, stiffness and functional decline are poorly associated with structural changes (Dieppe et al., 1997, Dieppe, 2004). In fact, it may take decades for structural changes to appear on radiographs even though symptoms are evident. Therefore, much research is presently conducted in using MRI as an alternative and more sensitive measure than radiography to detect OA onset (Hunter et al., 2009). Relying only on radiographs and not including patient reported pain and symptoms in the diagnosis of knee OA is problematic. The American College of Rheumatology (ACR) has developed a set of criteria for clinical diagnosis of knee OA. These criteria include age >38, knee pain, morning stiffness and joint crepitus (Altman et al., 1986). As a consequence of this, knee OA is frequently referred to as either radiographic or symptomatic knee OA depending on the criteria of diagnosis.

Several risk factors have been identified for the development of knee OA (Blagojevic et al., 2010). Some of the most studied and well defined are; age (Dillon et al., 2006), obesity (Lohmander et al., 2009), female gender (Srikanth et al., 2005), heredity (Neame et al., 2004) and previous knee injury (Gelber et al., 2000, Wilder et al., 2002, Lohmander et al., 2007). Furthermore, impaired neuromuscular function is also considered a risk factor for knee OA (Bennell et al., 2008).

The role of neuromuscular function in knee OA development

Knee OA is considered a mechanically driven disease due to increased and/or altered load. Particularly increased knee adduction moment (KAM), which is indicative of medial

compartment knee joint loading (Schipplein and Andriacchi, 1991), have been associated with incidence (Baliunas et al., 2002), severity (Sharma et al., 1998) and progression (Miyazaki et al., 2002) of medial tibiofemoral knee OA. Impaired muscle strength reduces the capacity for shock absorption and joint protection. Several studies have demonstrated that patients with knee OA have reduced lower extremity muscle strength compared to healthy controls (Jan et al., 1990, Messier et al., 1992, Slemenda et al., 1997, Liikavainio et al., 2008). Particularly maximal quadriceps strength seems to be compromised (Bennell et al., 2008). Furthermore, studies have reported reduced risk of knee OA in women with moderate and high quadriceps strength (Hootman et al., 2004), a protective effect of quadriceps strength high on incident symptomatic knee OA (Segal et al., 2009) and that reduced functional capacity predict knee OA development in patients with knee pain (Thorstensson et al., 2004). Training induced changes in quadriceps strength have been shown to reduce the rate of loading in women indicating a possible role for muscle strength and training in knee OA prevention (Mikesky et al., 2000).

Alterations in neuromuscular activity are another aspect of neuromuscular function which is thought to affect knee joint kinematics and kinetics during walking gait and stair ascent/descent. Observed kinematic alterations in knee OA patients include decreased range of motion (ROM) and reduced movement speed during walking gait (Chen et al., 2003, Astephen and Deluzio, 2005) thought to reflect a movement strategy to protect the knee joint and minimize pain. Changes in neuromuscular activity in knee OA patients involve increased muscle coactivation (Childs et al., 2004, Lewek et al., 2004, Hortobagyi et al., 2005, Hubley-Kozey et al., 2008, Schmitt and Rudolph, 2008) and altered medial vs. lateral muscle activity (Hubley-Kozey et al., 2006, Heiden et al., 2009, Hubley-Kozey et al., 2009). As with impaired muscle strength changes in prime mover thigh neuromuscular activity/control could potentially affect the focal concentration of bone-on-bone contact forces in the knee joint during locomotion.

The causes of degenerative changes to the knee joint are complex and likely involve different pathways incorporating various combinations of risk factors for different sub groups of patients (Radin, 2004). Impaired neuromuscular function is considered one of the modifiable risk factors for knee OA but the exact role still remains to be determined. Figure 1 presents a possible framework containing modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors that can affect knee OA initiation through pathways mediated by neuromuscular function. Aging is associated with loss in muscle strength (Aagaard et al., 2010) together with proprioception and balance (Loeser and Shakoor, 2003) and men and women have different strategies of neuromuscular activation (Henry and Kaeding, 2001). Knee injury can affect neuromuscular function through mechanical instability, pain and disuse atrophy. Furthermore, few patients are ever fully rehabilitated after knee injury. Deconditioning of the neuromuscular system may also stem from a sedentary lifestyle which can lead to obesity that can affect loading of the knee joint directly due to increased mass (Messier et al., 2005) or indirectly through decreased neuromuscular function.



Figure 1: Risk factors of osteoarthritis which may contribute to the development of osteoarthritis through impaired neuromuscular function, inspired by Roos et al. (Roos, 2005) and Andriacchi and Mündermann et al. (Andriacchi and Mundermann, 2006).

Age is an important feature of knee OA and given future demographics with an increasing number of older people the prevalence of knee OA is expected to increase (Helweg-Larsen et al., 2009, Felson, 2009). The majority of patients have mild to moderate OA (Lohmander and Roos, 2007). Exercise, together with information and weight reduction if needed is the first line treatment (Zhang et al., 2010) and evidence-based medicine to reduce pain and improve function in these patients (Fransen and McConnell, 2008, Fransen and McConnell, 2009).

There is currently no cure for knee OA and when all other treatments fail knee joint replacement is the only alternative for end stage knee OA (Lohmander and Roos, 2007) but this procedure is expensive, has a limited lifespan and is invasive for the patient. Thus, prevention is of utmost importance to decrease the prevalence of the disease. Investigating potential deficits in lower limb neuromuscular function in patients at high risk of knee OA could expand our knowledge about the role of neuromuscular function in the initiation of knee OA. Such knowledge would be important for the future tailoring of prevention regimes to prevent or postpone knee OA development.

Meniscectomized patients as a 'preosteoarthritis' model

From a transverse perspective the menisci are two wedge shaped structures situated between the medial and lateral articular surfaces of the femur and tibia. They are semi-lunar shaped and constructed of fibro cartilage with exception of the ends which consists of collagen fibers attaching to the tibia through the anterior and posterior horns. The peripheral part of the meniscus is infiltrated by capillaries and unlike articular cartilage the meniscal matrix primarily comprise of Type I collagen which is arranged in а circumferential pattern (Fithian et al., 1990). The medial meniscus covers about 50% of the medial tibial plateau and is also attached to the medial collateral ligament. The lateral meniscus covers about 70% of the lateral tibial plateau and is not attached to the lateral collateral ligament making it more mobile (Rath and Richmond, 2000).

The primary functions of the menisci are to provide shock absorption and load transmission (i.e. distributing contact force over a large area of articular cartilage) during movement and joint loading (Walker and Erkman, 1975, Kurosawa et al., 1980) but the menisci may also be important for knee joint stability, proprioception and lubrication (Fithian et al., 1990). Thus, damage to the menisci compromises normal knee joint function.

The medial meniscus is more prone to injuries than the lateral meniscus (Rath and Richmond, 2000). This is thought to be due to the lower mobility of the medial meniscus caused by the long distance between its attachments (compared with the lateral meniscus) and due to its attachment to the medial collateral ligament (Fithian et al., 1990). Meniscus tears are often categorized as either traumatic or degenerative tears (Poehling et al., 1990).

Traumatic tears are typically observed in an otherwise 'healthy' meniscus of younger active individuals in relation to a sports related trauma and can be associated with anterior cruciate or collateral ligament injuries (Poehling et al., 1990). The injury often occur due to internal femur rotation as the knee moves from a flexed to a more extended position causing the meniscus to split vertically and parallel to the circumferential collagen fibers (Englund and Lohmander, 2006). This type of tear is referred to as a horizontal or bucket handle tear.

Degenerative tears are observed in middleaged and older population and are described as horizontal cleavages, flap tears or complex tears (Poehling et al., 1990). These tears are primarily observed in the medial meniscus (Noble and Hamblen, 1975) and are common _ also in asymptomatic individuals (Bhattacharyya et al., 2003, Englund et al., 2008), however the etiology is unclear. Patients undergoing surgery for degenerative tears have worse long-term outcome after meniscectomy than patients with traumatic tears (Englund et al., 2003).

Meniscus tears are one of the most common types of knee injury and meniscus surgery is the most common and an increasingly used orthopedic procedure with more than 16.000 meniscectomies performed in Denmark in 2009 (Figure 2). Studies have shown that meniscus injury in addition to other knee



Figure 2: Number of meniscus surgeries in Denmark from 2005-2009 based on numbers from the Danish patient register ('Landspatientregisteret'), adapted from www.Altinget.dk 08-09-2010.

injuries are associated with a higher risk of knee OA compared to knee injuries without concomitant meniscus tears (Oiestad et al., 2009). Furthermore, every second meniscectomized patient show radiographic features of knee OA 10-15 years after surgery (Englund et al., 2003).

It has been suggested that degenerative tears may be associated with incipient OA or represent the initial stage of the disease in the middle-aged population (Englund and Lohmander, 2006, Englund, 2008). As such, individuals with symptomatic degenerative medial meniscus tears are a subgroup at particular high risk of knee OA and thus constitute a good model to study individuals in a 'pre-osteoarthritis' stage.

Neuromuscular function in meniscectomized patients

Varying results have been reported on muscle strength recovery after surgery in meniscectomized patients. Most studies have focused on short-term (0-6 month) recovery after surgery (Figure 3) (Durand et al., 1991, Stam et al., 1992, Matthews and St-Pierre, 1996, Gapeyeva et al., 2000, Sturnieks et al., 2008a, Glatthorn et al., 2010) and it seems that strength deficits still persist ~6 month after surgery (Gapeyeva et al., 2000, Glatthorn et al., 2010). However, most studies include a mixed population of patients with substantial variation in age, different types of meniscus tears (i.e. traumatic or degenerative) or do not specify the type of tear. Furthermore, the method of muscle strength assessment (i.e. isometric or concentric) and velocity used during isokinetic testing also vary between studies. which make comparison difficult. Deficits in short-term muscle strength may partly be caused by the surgery induced trauma as indicated by the studies by Durand et al. and Matthews & St-Pierre in Figure 3 (Durand et al., 1991, Matthews and St-Pierre, 1996). Thus, it is difficult to elucidate if strength deficits are attributed to the surgery induced trauma per



Figure 3: Overview of studies on muscle strength deficits in meniscectomized patients. Age of patients, type of meniscal tear and method of muscle strength assessment vary between studies. Triangle denote comparison of meniscectomized leg to a control group, circle denote comparison to the contra-lateral leg. Studies with connecting lines indicate longitudinal data.

se or represent potential initial stages of knee OA development in studies on the short-term recovery in meniscectomized patients. To investigate the role of muscle strength deficits in knee OA development attention should be given to studies with a longer follow-up from surgery since these patients may be considered fully rehabilitated from surgery.

A single long term (>6 month) longitudinal study has been conducted, which observed no difference in maximal knee extensor muscle strength compared to the contra-lateral leg 28 month post meniscectomy (Stam et al., 1993) (Figure 3). However, patients were military personnel and a mix of patients who had undergone partial or total meniscectomy making the results difficult to generalize. Only two long-term cross-sectional studies (~48 month post meniscectomy) have been conducted including homogeneous groups of middle-aged patients meniscectomized for symptomatic degenerative tears (Becker et al., 2004, Ericsson et al., 2006) (Figure 3). One study reported a 6-9% difference in muscle strength between the operated and the contralateral leg (Ericsson et al., 2006). The other study observed a bilateral deficit of >20% in maximal muscle strength between patients and controls, but no difference was observed between the operated leg and contra-lateral leg (Becker et al., 2004). The finding of a bilateral strength deficit emphasizes the need for a control group if the magnitude and nature of lower extremity muscle strength deficiencies are to be identified and examined.

Testing of maximal isometric or concentric muscle strength are often the methods of choice to assess maximal muscle strength. However, these methods may not adequately describe all aspects of lower extremity muscle function and functional performance. For instance, reduced levels of eccentric thigh muscle strength may reduce the ability to absorb impacts and thereby increase knee joint loading (Bennell et al., 2008). Furthermore, reduced capacity for rapid force production (i.e. a right shift in the torque-time curve, indicating a reduced rate of force development [RFD]) is thought to be

important for functional performance (Suetta et al., 2004, Aagaard et al., 2010). Impaired rapid force capacity would decrease the percentage of force produced in the early phase of muscle contraction (0-200 ms) and thereby impair the ability to react on sudden perturbations, potentially representing a functional deficiency in postural control and other types of reactive motor tasks (Pijnappels et al., 2008, Aagaard et al., 2010). Knowledge on these variables are important to fully understand muscle strength deficiencies in this population.

Altered neuromuscular activity/control and gait biomechanics have been observed in meniscectomized patients. Changes include increased KAM compared to controls (Sturnieks et al., 2008a, Sturnieks et al., 2008b), altered knee flexion and extension moments compared to controls (Bulgheroni et al., 2007), reduced ROM (Durand et al., 1993, Magyar et al., 2008, Sturnieks et al., 2008b), reduced cadence and walking speed (Durand et al., 1993), which was associated with reduced neuromuscular activity (Durand et al., 1993, Moffet et al., 1993). However, when interpreting these results with respect to knee OA development the same limitations apply as with studies on muscle strength (i.e. either a short follow-up time or studies with populations traumatic mixed or degenerative tears, young/old patients). Therefore, it is difficult to interpret the potential influence of these results on knee OA development and more knowledge is needed to further understand the potential changes in neuromuscular activity and knee joint kinetics and kinematics in patients in a 'pre-osteoarthritis' state.

Aims of the thesis

General aim

To identify potential impairments in neuromuscular function and self-reported pain and function in middle-aged meniscectomized patients at high risk of knee OA.

Specific aims

- 1. To identify reductions in muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients and compared with controls (paper I).
- 2. To assess level of self-reported pain and function in meniscectomized patients at high risk of knee OA compared to population-based controls (Paper I).
- 3. To identify differences in kinematic and kinetic variables and neuromuscular activity during a stair descent task between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients and compared with controls (Paper II).
- 4. To investigate if changes in muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance differ between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients and compared with controls from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy (Paper III).

Methods

Participants

A detailed overview of the baseline and follow-up recruitment flow is shown in Figure 4.

Paper I

Patients, 35-55 years old at the time of surgery, who had undergone surgery for a medial meniscus tear in the posterior half of the meniscus in the years 2006 and 2007 were identified for baseline assessment through the surgical code system from two different hospitals. The age criteria were set to include a majority of patients with degenerative meniscus tears but without knee OA. Patients were excluded if they were misclassified by the surgical code system, or if they had a previous knee ligament injury. severe cartilage changes defined as deep clefts or visible bone at meniscectomy, or self-reported co-morbidities limiting participation in the study. Following surgery patients were given a leaflet with standard rehabilitation exercises which they were encouraged to perform at home. Information on compliance with the exercise recommendation was not collected.

Age and gender matched controls were identified through Danish Civil the Registration System. An invitation was sent to a total of 600 people living in the same geographic area as the meniscectomized patients. Subjects were excluded if they had had a previous knee ligament injury, knee surgery or self-reported co-morbidities limiting participation in the study. Eligible controls were stratified into four groups: men 35-45, men 46-55, women 35-45, and women 46-55 years.

The intention was to include a control randomly selected from the appropriate age group by use of a random number generator for each patient included. Due to a slow recruitment process of patients in the beginning of the study, the first 7 controls were included before patients were included, which is the reason for the discrepancy between the number of women, 10 and 12, respectively, in the patient and control groups (Paper I). Therefore, the study was matched on a group level instead of on a case level.

At the initial baseline test session, 5 patients reported knee injuries in the contra-lateral knee (which had not been reported during the screening process): 3 patients had а meniscectomy, 1 patient had a deficient anterior cruciate ligament (ACL), and 1 patient had an ACL reconstruction and meniscectomy. These patients were not excluded since our a priori hypothesis was a bilateral strength deficit between patients and controls. Furthermore, their results in the strength and functional tests were within 2 SDs of the mean of contra-lateral leg. All other patients had a healthy control leg. Characteristics of participants included in paper I is shown in Table 1.

BASELINE (paper I and II)



Figure 4: Flow-chart of the baseline and follow-up recruitment process of meniscectomized patients and controls

Paper II

Due to EMG equipment malfunction during the first baseline assessment on two consecutive testing days, 5 patients and 5 controls had to be excluded from paper II. Of the remaining 26 patients, four patients reported knee injuries to the contra-lateral knee. Due to the mechanistic focus of paper II these patients were also excluded. Characteristics of participants included in paper II is shown in Table 1.

Paper III

The follow-up assessment was conducted ~ 2 years after the first assessment (i.e. 49.6±5.0 months [mean±SD] after meniscectomy). All participants from the baseline assessment received a written invitation to participate in the follow-up (Figure 4). If participants failed to reply to the invitation they were contacted by phone. Four patients (2 men/2 women) and 3 controls (3 men) had dropped out at the follow-up examination (Patients: 1 due to back injury, 3 unable to contact; Controls: 2 due to lack of time, 1 unable to contact). Overall, no differences were observed in physical characteristics (age, BMI and aerobic

power) of patients (n=4) and controls (n=3) that dropped out compared to those who were available for follow up at 4 years post meniscectomy. However, controls that dropped out demonstrated a higher hand grip strength (51.5 ± 7.3 vs. 36.6 ± 7.7 kg [mean±SD], p=0.003).

Furthermore, 5 patients (1 man/4 women) and 3 controls (2 men/1 woman) were only able/willing to reply the KOOS questionnaire and did not participate in the physical examination at the follow-up (Patients: 1 moved to another country, 1 due to back injury, 1 due to depression, 1 scheduled for knee replacement, 1 due to recent surgery for hernia; Controls: 2 due to lack of time, 1 due to joint pain). Characteristics of participants included in paper III is shown in Table 1.

Descriptive variables

Co-morbidities

A validated questionnaire (Sangha et al., 2003) was used to assess co-morbidities prior to inclusion of patients and controls. The questionnaire contains a list of several typical

Table 1: Baseline characteristics of study participants included in paper I, II and III. Time surgery = time since surgery, BMI = body mass index (body weight/height²), Aerobic power = maximum oxygen uptake, Grip strength = hand grip strength, Co-morbidities = number of participants reporting co-morbidities (i.e. 1-2 musculoskeletal co-morbidities/1-2general co-morbidities). Musculoskeletal co-morbidities reported other than knee problems; joint problems, back pain. General co-morbidities reported; high blood pressure, diabetes, ulcer, heart problems, depression. Values are mean±SD or no.

				Time			Aerobic	Grip	Co-
		Ν	Sex, %	surgery	Age	BMI	power	strength	morbidities
Participants	Paper	(no.)	women	(mth)	(yrs)	(kg/m^2)	$(ml O_2 \cdot kg^{-1})$	(kg)	(no.)
Patients	Ι	31	32	20.6±6.1	46.0 ± 5.5	25.5±3.8	35.8±8.9	39.1±9.1	13/6
Controls	Ι	31	39	N/A	45.9±5.8	25.5±4.3	37.0±11.1	38.1±8.8	11/10
Patients	II	22	32	20.7±6.6	45.4±5.1	25.4±4.1	36.6±9.6	38.3±7.9	10/6
Controls	II	26	38	N/A	45.6±6.1	25.6±4.7	37.9±11.8	37.9±8.4	9/6
Patients	III	22	23	21.6±5.1*	46.6±5.0	24.7±2.9	37.9±8.2	41.4±7.8	10/3
Controls	III	25	44	N/A	46.4±5.2	25.1±4.6	35.9±9.5	36.7±7.4	8/7
	.1								

*i.e. 49.6±5.0 month at follow-up

medical conditions (i.e. diabetes, heart disease, high blood pressure etc.). For each condition the participant is asked to indicate if they have the problem (yes/no), to indicate if they receive treatment for the problem (yes/no) and to answer if the problem limits their activities (yes/no). Patients and controls were included if the self-reported comorbidities were treated and/or did not limit their activities or participation in the study.

Physical activity level

Physical activity level was reported at the baseline examination. Level of physical activity was reported as the amount (in hours and minutes) of vigorous and moderate physical activity undertaken during the previous 7 days and reported separately for work and leisure time. Each period of physical activity had to last for at least 10 minutes at a time. Vigorous physical activity was defined as activity that makes one breathe harder than normal, and moderate physical activity that makes one breathe somewhat harder than normal.

Hand grip strength

Maximal hand grip strength was measured at baseline using a handheld dynamometer (Smedlay's, Tokyo, Japan). Three trials were performed for the left and right hand, respectively. Participants were standing with their body straight and back against a wall with the elbow of the tested arm flexed to 90 degrees. Participants were instructed to gradually build up force and maintain maximal force for 2-3 s. During testing it was ensured that the elbow was not rested against the wall or the body of the subject to increase force output. The mean of the best trial for the left and right hand was reported.

Estimation of maximal oxygen consumption

Aerobic power was estimated from work load and heart rate during a sub-maximal bicycle warm-up prior to strength testing at the baseline examination using Åstrands Nomogram (Astrand and RYHMING, 1954). Participants were asked to cycle for 6 minutes while heart rate was recorded (Polar 610, Oulo, Finland). After 6 minutes heart rate was noted if it was between 120-170 beats pr min. (BPM) and stable during the prior 1-2 minutes. Otherwise the test was extended 1-2 minutes until heart rate was stable and between 120-170 BPM. Work load was adjusted to ensure a heart rate between 120-170 BPM after 6 minutes. Estimated maximal oxygen consumption was adjusted according to age prior to division with body mass to express maximal oxygen uptake as $mlO_2 kg^{-1}$.

Outcomes

For an overview of outcomes in papers I, II and III see Table 2. Informed consent form was signed at baseline and follow-up and the study procedures were approved by the ethics committee of the Region of Southern Denmark (ID: S-20080044). All procedures were identical at both examinations (i.e. baseline and follow-up) and the order of testleg was randomized for both patients and controls (i.e. operated/contra-lateral and left/right, respectively).

Self-reported outcomes

The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcomes Score (KOOS) (Paper I and III) is a kneespecific questionnaire to assess pain, symptoms, activities of daily living (ADL), activities during sport and recreation function (Sport/Rec) and quality of life (QOL) validated in patients with knee problems (Roos et al., 1998a, Roos et al., 1998b). A normalized score is calculated for each subscale (0 indicating extreme symptoms and 100 indicating no symptoms). The KOOS has been validated for use in meniscectomized patients (Roos et al., 1998a). In the present thesis emphasis was on the subscales pain and Sport/Rec.

The Short Form-36 questionnaire (SF-36) (Paper I) is a generic, widely used measure of general health status (Ware, Jr. and Sherbourne, 1992). The SF-36 consists of 8 subscales; physical function (PF), role physical (RP), bodily pain (BP), general health (GH), vitality (VT), social function (SF), role emotional (RE) and mental health (MH). The SF-36 is self-explanatory, takes about 10 minutes to complete and is scored from 0-100 (0 indicating extreme problems and 100 indicating no problems). The Acute Danish version of the SF-36 was used (Bjorner et al., 1998a, Bjorner et al., 1998b).

Muscle strength assessment

At the baseline examination both isometric and dynamic muscle strength measurements were conducted (Paper I). At the follow-up examination only isometric measurements were performed (Paper III). All muscle strength tests were carried out in an isokinetic dynamometer (Kinetic Communicator 500H, Chattecx Corp., Hixson, TN, USA). Subjects were seated at a 10° reclining angle, e.g. slightly leaning back with 100° hip flexion with their arms folded over their chest and their body firmly strapped at the hip and thigh in an isokinetic dynamometer. The axis of rotation of the dynamometer lever arm was visually aligned to the axis of the lateral femoral epicondyle of the subject, and the lower leg was attached to the lever arm of the dynamometer 2 cm above the medial malleolus (Aagaard et al., 1998, Thorlund et al., 2008). The dynamometer force and position signals were recorded by a personal computer at a 1,000 Hz sampling rate during isometric tests and at a 100 Hz rate during dynamic tests, and was filtered by a fourthorder zero-lag Butterworth low-pass filter at 15 Hz cutoff frequency. To correct for the effect of gravity on the measured joint torques, the passive mass of the lower leg was measured in the dynamometer at a knee joint angle of 45° (Aagaard et al., 1995). In addition to the sub maximal bicycle warm-up, subjects performed a further warm-up and preconditioning exercise in the dynamometer, which consisted of several concentric and

	2 year menisc	rs post ectomy	4 years post meniscectomy
	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III
Maximal muscle strength	Х		Х
Rapid force capacity	Х		Х
One-leg hop for distance	Х		Х
Max. knee bends/30 s	Х		Х
Stair descent analysis		Х	
KOOS	Х		Х
SF-36	Х		

1 able 2: Overview of outcomes in paper 1, 11 and 11	Table 2:	Overview	of outcomes	in paper	I, II an	d III
--	----------	----------	-------------	----------	----------	-------

eccentric contractions, gradually increasing force. Maximal concentric, eccentric, and isometric muscle strength were measured unilaterally in the knee extensors and knee flexors in both legs of all participants. Knee joint angular velocity during dynamic testing was set to 30°/s with a knee joint range of motion from 90° to 20° (0° = full knee extension). Successive trials at each contraction mode were conducted until the subject was unable to further increase peak torque (4-6 trials were typically conducted). Isometric MVC was measured at a 70° knee joint angle (best of 3 trials) during knee extension and flexion, respectively. RFD was calculated as the average slope (Δ torque/ Δ time) at time points 0-30, 50, 100, and 200 ms of the torque-time curve to evaluate the capacity for rapid force production. These time intervals have previously been used to assess RFD in the initial phase of muscle contraction in healthy subjects (Aagaard et al., 2002, Thorlund et al., 2008) and in surgical patients (Suetta et al., 2004). The onset of contraction was defined as the instant where force increased by 2% of peak torque above the resting baseline level. Visual feedback of the dynamometer torque output was provided to the subjects on a computer screen each trial (Kellis after and



Figure 5: One-leg hop test.

Baltzopoulos, 1996). The reliability and validity of the KinCom dynamometer have previously been verified in detail (Farrell and Richards, 1986, Sole et al., 2007).

Functional capacity tests

The one-leg hop test (Paper I and III) (Tegner et al., 1986) was used to assess the longest distance that could be covered in a one-leg jump. The test has shown to be valid and reliable in middle-aged meniscectomized patients (Bremander et al., 2007). The subject was standing on one foot with the hands on the back and was asked to jump as far as possible and land steadily on the same foot. The subject has to be able to land and stand long enough for the examiner to measure the length of the jump. At least 3 trials with a 60 s rest period between each attempt (or until the subject made no further progress) were conducted, and the longest jump was recorded (Figure 5).

The maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 s (Paper I and III) (Roos et al., 2001) was also assessed. The test has shown to be valid and reliable in middle-aged meniscectomized patients (Bremander et al., 2007). The subject's long axis of the foot was aligned with a straight line and the toes placed on a perpendicular line; light fingertip support was provided to the subject by the examiner to aid balance. The subject was asked to flex the knee while standing on one leg, without bending forward at the hip, until the line along the toes was no longer visible to the subject (~30° knee flexion). The maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 seconds was recorded (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Maximum number of knee bends test.

Stair descent analysis

A biomechanical analysis of stair descent based on synchronous force plate, EMG and goniometer recording was conducted, as it represents a challenging functional task in daily life (Figure 7). Subjects were asked to descend a 4-step staircase at a self-chosen speed, without the use of hand rails wearing their own comfortable walking shoes. At the bottom of the stairs subjects continued walking performing a horizontal transition step down onto a force plate imbedded in the floor. The horizontal staircase position was adjusted relative to the position of the force plate so that the length of the horizontal transition step corresponded to 1/3 of the total leg length for each individual subject (measured from the midpoint of the greater trochanter to the midpoint of the lateral malleolus). Subjects were carefully instructed to continue walking until they reached a cone placed 2 meters beyond the force plate. Subjects were allowed 2-3 stair descent trials for the purpose of familiarization prior to actual testing. Subsequently, two experimental trials were performed for each leg (i.e. the operated and contra-lateral for the patients and the left and the right leg of the controls) and the average of these two trials was used for further analysis. Trials were repeated if visible hesitation, misplaced footing, or stumbles were observed. The staircase was designed with a step height of 16 cm, a depth of 23 cm, and a width of 60 cm. In the current study experimental focus was on the transition step between stair descent and subsequent level walking, as this transition step involves high peak ground reaction forces (GRF_{neak}). In fact GRF at impact is considerably higher during this transition than during level gait, stair ascent and descent. Thus, the first part of foot strike during this transition step represents a daily task with high GRF and knee joint loading (Figure 8).

Knee angle recordings: Flexible electrogoniometers (Biometrics SG150, Biometrics Ltd., Gwent, UK) were placed laterally across both knees of the subjects according to the manufacturer's manual to measure instantaneous knee ioint angle during movement. During later off-line analysis the instants of foot strike and toe-off were determined from the GRF curve and used as temporal reference points. The goniometer was calibrated with the knee flexed at a 90-



Figure 7: Stair descent test



Figure 8: Example of the M-shaped GRF trajectory (Fz expressed in % of body weight) during the stance phase of the transition step between stair descent and horizontal walking. Variables are: Fz2 – the first peak force (typically also GRF_{peak}), present in weight acceptance; Fz3 – the minimum force, present during mid-stance and represents unloading; Fz4 – the second peak force, present in the push-off phase prior to take-off (Fz3 and Fz4 was not analyzed in the present study).

degree angle (0 degrees = full extension).

Force plate analysis: The methods used for data collection and processing of ground reaction forces are similar to those reported by Larsen et al. (Larsen et al., 2008). In brief, a force plate (Kistler 9281 B, Winterthur, Switzerland) was placed in the floor at a distance of 1/3 the leg length of the subject from the final step of the stairs. The force plate was completely isolated from the staircase structure and the floor in order to avoid vibration artifacts. The vertical GRF signal (Fz) was recorded at 1000 Hz using a 12-bit A/D converter (DT 3010, Data Translation, Marlboro, MA, USA) (Larsen et al., 2008). Furthermore, two strain-gaugebased load cells connected to a custom-made amplifier were integrated in the second and fourth step of the stair case. The duration between contacts on the two load cells (steps) were determined from the on-off signals provided by the load cells and used to calculate stride frequency. In the current study, analytical focus was given to the first part of the Fz signal (Figure 8), which represents the vertical impact phase (i.e. weight acceptance) and thus comprises the phase of GRF_{peak} and energy absorption by the knee extensors during ground contact, being the phase most demanding for the knee joint. All Fz (GRF) signals were normalized as a percentage of body weight (%BW) and rate of GRF rise during the initial stance phase (loading slope: Load_{slope}) and the peak ground reaction force (GRF_{peak}) were calculated. GRF_{peak} occurred in the first half

of the Fz signal (Fz2, Figure 8). In some cases an initial force peak (Fz1) was detected prior to Fz2 and if higher than Fz2, Fz1 was identified as GRF_{peak}. However, in most cases Fz1 was lower than Fz2. Load_{slope} was defined as the mean rate of Fz rise expressed in percentage of body weight (%BW s⁻¹) from the instant of foot-strike to 80% of $\ensuremath{\mathsf{GRF}}_{\ensuremath{\mathsf{peak}}}$ and reflects the ability to absorb GRF impacts during the initial phase of foot contact. Furthermore, the stride frequency (strides/minute) (S_{freq}), average knee joint velocity (° s⁻¹) from foot-strike to GRF_{peak} (V_{mean}), time from foot-strike to GRF_{peak} (T_{peakGRF}) and time for the entire stance phase (T_{stance}) were determined.

Electromyography (EMG) recording and analysis: Bipolar surface EMG signals were obtained during stair descent from selected knee extensor and flexor muscles (vastus lateralis: VL; vastus medialis: VM; biceps femoris: BF and semitendinosus: ST) and were subsequently normalized to the maximal EMG signal amplitude recorded during an isometric maximal voluntary contraction (MVC). Three MVC trials for the quadriceps and hamstring muscles, respectively, were conducted following the stair descent tests. The MVCs were performed in a sitting position as maximal isometric extensor or flexor contractions, respectively. The hip was flexed at 90 degrees and the knee angle was in 60 degrees extension. Strong verbal encouragement was given during every contraction to promote maximal voluntary effort.

EMG signals were obtained according to procedures previously used in our laboratory (Thorlund et al., 2008, Larsen et al., 2008) and in agreement with SENIAM recommendations (www.SENIAM.org) using pairs of Ag/AgCl surface electrodes, (Ambu, Blue Sensor M, M-00-S/50, Ballerup, Denmark) with a 20 mm inter-electrode distance. Before placing the electrodes, the skin was shaved and cleaned with alcohol to reduce electrode-skin impedance. EMG electrodes were directly connected to small custom-built preamplifiers taped to the skin. The EMG signals were transmitted through shielded wires to a custom-built differential instrumentation amplifier with a frequency response of 10-10,000 Hz and a common mode rejection ratio > 100 dB. An amplifier gain of 400 (=52 dB) was used, and included analogue high-pass (10 Hz) and low-pass filtering (550 Hz), respectively. Signal-tonoise ratio exceeded 55 dB (Thorlund et al., 2008, Larsen et al., 2008).

EMG signals were synchronously All sampled at a 1000 Hz sampling rate along with the goniometer and force plate signals. During subsequent analysis, any potential DC offset was removed from the raw EMG bv linear de-trending signals and subsequently the signals were digitally highpass filtered at 5 Hz cut-off frequency, followed by full-wave rectification and lowpass filtering at 10 Hz cut-off frequency (Aagaard et al., 2000). All filtering routines used fourth-order zero-lag Butterworth filters. Finally, all EMG signals were normalized to their peak EMG amplitude during MVC.

Neuromuscular activity was calculated as the mean normalized EMG amplitude during the loading slope phase (Act_{load}) and at peak GRF (Act_{peakGRF}; mean in a 20 ms time interval prior to the instant of GRF_{peak}). As described by Larsen et al. (Larsen et al., 2008), the magnitude of agonist-antagonist muscle co-activation was calculated as the magnitude of relative normalized signal-overlapping

(common EMG-signal area) for two EMG signals: EMG_a and EMG_b expressed relative to the total EMG signal area calculated in a given time interval.

$$\text{Co-activation} = \frac{\int \min\{\text{EMG}_{a^{*}} \text{EMG}_{b}\} dt}{\int \max\{\text{EMG}_{a^{*}} \text{EMG}_{b}\} dt}$$

Muscle co-activation was calculated for the whole thigh (mean knee extensor activity vs. flexor activity) and separately for the lateral and medial thigh muscle, respectively, during the loading slope phase (Co-act_{load}: from the instant of foot strike to 80% GRF_{peak}) and at peak GRF (Co-act_{peakGRF}; mean in the 20 ms time interval prior to the instant of GRF_{peak}). Additionally, to investigate the distribution of overall medial vs. lateral muscle activity, mean medial ((VM+ST)/2) and mean lateral ((VL+BF)/2) neuromuscular activity were also calculated, in the operated and contralateral leg of the patients and for the left/right leg of the controls during the initial weight acceptance phase (loading slope phase) and at GRF_{peak} (mean in the 20 ms time interval prior to the instant of GRF_{peak}).

Statistics

Sample size calculation

Becker et al. (Becker et al., 2004) has previously reported a ~20% difference in quadriceps MVC between meniscectomized patients and controls. Our sample size calculation indicated a need for 25 individuals in each group to detect a similar difference in quadriceps MVC at the baseline examination (power=0.80, significance level=0.05).

Basic statistics

Students unpaired t-test, chi²-test and the Mann-Whitney test were used to compare subject characteristics between patients and controls as appropriate (Paper I, II and III). Furthermore, the students paired t-test was used to evaluate differences between medial vs. lateral muscle activity within the different legs (i.e. operated, contra-lateral and control legs) (Paper II) and the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare self-reported outcomes between patients and controls (paper I and III). Correlation analyses were performed by calculation of Spearman's Rho to assess the relationship between KOOS Sport/Rec and various strength variables (Paper I). Furthermore, to examine the relationship between the magnitude of self-reported pain in patients and those kinetic, kinematic and EMG outcome variables obtained in the operated leg that were significantly different from those of the contra-lateral leg or control legs (Paper II).

Multivariate statistics

Mixed linear random effects models (Rabe-Hesketh and Skrondal, 2008) were used to evaluate differences in outcome variables between operated legs, contra-lateral legs and control legs of patients and controls, respectively.

Paper I: To assess differences in strength and functional performance variables a mixed linear model was used with 'subject' as random effect and 'leg' (i.e. operated, contralateral and control legs) as fixed effect. Differences between legs in torque-time curve pattern (and hence RFD) were also assessed by using a mixed linear model with the combination of 'subject' and 'side' (i.e. repeated nested measurements on each leg of the subjects) as random effects and 'leg' (i.e. operated, contra-lateral and control legs) and 'time point' (i.e. 0-30, 50, 100 and 200 ms) as fixed effects. In all models age and sex were introduced as covariates to adjust for potential confounding, as anticipated in classical epidemiology.

Paper II: A mixed linear model was used to evaluate differences between legs in the kinematic, kinetic and EMG variables of interest with 'subject' as random effect and 'leg' as fixed effect. If data did not follow the Gaussian distribution, they were logtransformed prior to analysis, although data are still presented as non-log transformed means.

Paper III: To assess differences in change in maximal knee extensor/flexor MVC and functional performance a mixed linear model with 'subject' as random effect and 'leg' as fixed effect was used. Furthermore, changes in RFD at 0-30, 50, 100 and 200 ms were also assessed by using a mixed linear model with the combination of 'subject' and 'side' (i.e. repeated nested measurements on each leg of the subjects) as random effects and 'leg' (i.e. operated, contra-lateral and control legs) as fixed effect. All models were adjusted for values at baseline assessment, age and sex.

Stata 10.1 (Statacorp, College Station, TX, USA) were used for all statistical analyses, with a pre-specified level of significance = 0.05.

Results

Maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance

Overall, no differences were observed between the operated and contra-lateral legs of patients or when compared with controls in any of the strength variables or in functional performance at the baseline assessment 2 meniscectomy (Table vears post 3). Furthermore, no differences were observed in rapid force capacity (i.e. no right shift in the torque-time curve and hence no reduction in RFD) during maximal isometric knee extension (p=0.18) (Figure 9) and knee flexion (p=0.71) at baseline.

At the follow-up examination 4 years post meniscectomy no differences in change were observed between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs in knee flexor MVC, functional performance (Table 4) or overall knee extensor or flexor RFD (p>0.10 and p>0.34, respectively) from baseline to followup. A tendency towards a difference in change



Figure 9: Mean torque time curve during knee extension for the operated leg (solid line, n=29), contra-lateral leg (dashed line, n=29), and control legs (dotted line, n=31 [62 legs]). No difference in rapid force capacity using the time points 0–30, 50, 100, and 200 ms were observed between any of the legs (mixed linear model).

in knee extensor MVC was observed from baseline to follow-up between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs (Table 4). Posthoc analysis showed a significant difference in change in knee extensor MVC (p=0.04) from baseline to follow-up when comparing only the operated and contra-lateral leg.

complete the isokinetic strength test due to severe	pain after the warm-up	procedure).		
	Pati	ents		
	Operated leg (n=31)	Contra-lateral leg (n=31)	Controls (n=31, 62 legs)	<i>p</i> -value
ISOKINETIC MUSCLE STRENGTH				
Knee extension				
Concentric peak torque (Nm kg ⁻¹)	2.66 (2.50-2.82)	2.73 (2.57-2.89)	2.55 (2.40-2.70)	0.20
Eccentric peak torque (Nm kg ⁻¹)	3.37 (3.13-3.61)	3.48 (3.24-3.72)	3.27 (3.05-3.48)	0.29
Isometric MVC (Nmkg ⁻¹)	2.80 (2.62-2.99)	2.88 (2.70-3.08)	2.70 (2.54-2.87)	0.26
Knee flexion				
Concentric peak torque (Nm kg ⁻¹)	1.37 (1.28-1.47)	1.39 (1.30-1.48)	1.39 (1.31-1.47)	0.84
Eccentric peak torque (Nm kg ⁻¹)	1.76 (1.62-1.89)	1.79 (1.65-1.92)	1.87 (1.74-1.99)	0.46
Isometric MVC (Nmkg ⁻¹)	1.20 (1.10-1.30)	1.26 (1.17-1.36)	1.20 (1.11-1.29)	0.23
FUNCTIONAL PERFORMANCE				
Max. no. knee bends / 30 s (no.)	25.8 (22.3-29.3)	26.1 (22.6-29.6)	28.6 (25.2-32.1)	0.45
One-leg hop (cm)	82.4 (73.6-91.1)	84.5 (75.7-93.3)	91.1 (82.6-99.6)	0.27

Table 3: Isokinetic muscle strength and functional performance at the baseline examination (2 years post meniscectomy). Values are means adjusted for age and sex with 95% confidence intervals. Mixed linear model. P-value indicate main effect of "leg". n=29 patients in isokinetic tests (one patient failed to meet for the second test and, one patient did not complete the isokinetic strength test due to severe pain after the warm-up procedure).

Stair descent performance

Kinematic and kinetic variables

No differences were observed between patients and controls in knee ROM. speed GRF movement and variables. However, patients showed a reduced stance phase (T_{stance}) when stepping out on the operated leg compared to the contra-lateral leg (post-hoc test, p=0.01). In support, there was a tendency for increased stride frequency (S_{freq}) in trials where patients performed the stair descent transition step using the operated leg compared to the contra-lateral leg (Table 5).

Neuromuscular activity

No differences were observed in level of activation between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs (Paper II). Patients and controls displayed less activity in the medial hamstring muscle (ST) compared to the lateral (BF) hamstrings during the stair descent task. Furthermore, patients showed increased medial (VM) vs. lateral (VL) knee extensor activity at peak GRF (Act_{peakGRF}) in the contra-lateral leg (p \leq 0.05), along with a tendency towards reduced medial (VM) vs. lateral activity (VL) in the operated leg



Figure 10: Lateral (VL+BF) vs. medial (VM+ST) mean muscle activity for the operated leg (black bars) and contra-lateral leg (grey bars) of the patients (n=22) and control legs (n=26, 52 legs) (white bars) during initial weight acceptance (loading slope phase) and at GRF_{peak} (mean in preceding 20 ms time interval). Values are means \pm SE. Significant difference compared with mean lateral muscle activity, * p≤0.05, ** p≤0.01.

compared to the contra-lateral leg (Paper II). No differences in medial vs. lateral knee extensor activity were observed in controls.

The magnitude of muscle co-activation was similar in patients and controls. However, controls showed a tendency to an elevated level of co-activation compared to patients for the medial thigh muscles during the loading

Table 4: Maximal muscle strength and functional performance at baseline (2 years post meniscectomy) and change from baseline to follow-up (4 years post meniscectomy) for the operated leg (n=22), contra-lateral leg (n=22) and control legs (50 legs, n=25). P-value indicate main effect of "leg".

	<u>D)</u>	Pat	ier	nts Contro lotorol	-e a <u>ase</u>	Controls	<u>;%</u>	_	_
	-	(n=22)		$\log (n=22)$		$(n=26, 52 \log s)$		n voluo	p-
	g	(11-22)		- Icg (II-22)		(II-20, 52 legs)	Cont	-value	value
KNEE JOINT POSITION									
Angle _{foot-strike} (°)	4)	11.5 (8.5-14.5)		11.4 (8.4-14.4)	0.1	10.4 (8.1-12.6)	-(-(0.82	0.09
Angle _{toe-off} (°)	3)	54.3 (51.7-57.0)		55.8 (53.1-55.4)	0.0	53.7 (51.8-55.7)	(-(0.44	0.95
ROM _{stance} (°)	5)	42.9 (40.6-45.1)		44.3 (42.1-46.6)	0.0	43.4 (41.6-45.1)	(-0	0.42	0.75
ROM _{weight} (°)		20.8 (18.8-22.7)		22.4 (20.5-24.4)		21.2 (19.7-22.7)		0.22	
MOVEMENT SPEED	1)				2		9 (1		0.22
S _{freq} (stride/min)	7)	68.0 (62.5-73.5)		65.7 (60.1-71.2)	5.	61.6 (56.7-66.5)	8 (-	0.07	0.25
V_{mean} (° s ⁻¹)		130.1 (110.4-149.7)	_	148.5 (128.8-168.1))	138.5 (123.9-153.1)—	0.26	
$T_{peakGRF}$ (ms)		109.4 (96.3-122.5)		107.8 (94.7-120.9)		106.8 (96.3-117.2))	0.94	
T _{stance} (ms)		*657 (615-699)		679 (637-721)		677 (640-715)		0.04	
GROUND REACTION FORCES									20
GRF _{peak} (%BW)		163.4 (154.1-172.7)		169.8 (160.5-179.1))	160.3 (152.4-168.2)	0.12	29
$Load_{slope}$ (%BW s ⁻¹)		1966 (1650-2283)		2135 (1818-2451)		1904 (1636-2172)		0.32	

slope phase (Paper II).

No differences were observed in mean medial (VM+ST) vs. mean lateral (VL+BF) muscle activity between the operated, contra-lateral leg and control legs (Figure 10). However, in meniscectomized legs. the mean neuromuscular activity was lower in the medial compared with the lateral thigh muscles during the loading slope phase $(p \le 0.05)$ and at GRF_{peak} $(p \le 0.01)$ (Figure 10). In contrast, no medio-lateral differences in overall thigh muscle activity were observed for the contra-lateral leg or in control legs (Figure 10).

Self-reported outcomes

At the baseline examination two years post meniscectomy patients self-reported worse knee related function than controls in the KOOS sub scales ADL ($p \le 0.001$) and Sport/Rec ($p \le 0.001$), as well as worse general physical function (PF) score on the SF-36 sub scale ($p \le 0.001$). Additionally, patients reported more knee pain ($p \le 0.001$), bodily pain (SF-36, paper I, $p \le 0.01$), other knee symptoms ($p \le 0.001$), and worse knee related quality of life scores ($p \le 0.001$) than controls (Figure 11).

In addition to the drop-outs from baseline to follow-up (i.e. 4 patients and 3 controls) 5 patients and 3 controls (for more details see Methods section) were only able/willing to reply to the KOOS questionnaire and did not participate in the physical examination at follow-up. Patients that only answered the questionnaire (n=5) self-reported more pain (p=0.03),more symptoms (p=0.004),(p=0.03) and reduced impaired ADL Sport/Rec function (p=0.01) together with a tendency towards reduced QOL (p=0.08) than patients completing the 4 year follow up (n=22). In contrast, there were no difference in any KOOS subscale scores between

Table 5: Kinematic and kinetic variables during the transition step from stair descent to level walking at 2 years post meniscectomy. Values are mean with 95% confidence intervals. Mixed linear model. P-value indicates main effect of "leg". Knee angle at foot-strike (Angle_{foot-strike}), knee angle at toe-off (Angle_{toe-off}), range of motion during stance phase (ROM_{stance} – difference between knee angle foot-strike and toe-off), range of motion during weight acceptance (ROM_{weight} – difference between knee angle foot-strike and maximal knee flexion during weight acceptance), stride frequency (S_{freq}), mean knee angular velocity from foot-strike to peak GRF (Vmean), time foot-strike to peak GRF (T_{peakGRF}), time entire stance phase (T_{stance}), peak GRF (GRF_{peak}), loading slope (Load_{slope}).

	Pati	ients		
	Operated leg	Contra-lateral	Controls	
	(n=22)	leg (n=22)	(n=26, 52 legs)	<i>p</i> -value
KNEE JOINT POSITION				
Angle _{foot-strike} (°)	11.5 (8.5-14.5)	11.4 (8.4-14.4)	10.4 (8.1-12.6)	0.82
Angle _{toe-off} (°)	54.3 (51.7-57.0)	55.8 (53.1-55.4)	53.7 (51.8-55.7)	0.44
ROM _{stance} (°)	42.9 (40.6-45.1)	44.3 (42.1-46.6)	43.4 (41.6-45.1)	0.42
ROM _{weight} (°)	20.8 (18.8-22.7)	22.4 (20.5-24.4)	21.2 (19.7-22.7)	0.22
MOVEMENT SPEED				
S _{free} (stride/min)	68 0 (62 5-73 5)	657(601-712)	61 6 (56 7-66 5)	0.07
V_{max} (° s ⁻¹)	1301(1104-1497)	148 5 (128 8-168 1)	138 5 (123 9-153 1)	0.26
$T_{\text{mean}}(\mathbf{r}_{S})$	109 4 (96 3-122 5)	107 8 (94 7-120 9)	106 8 (96 3-117 2)	0.94
T _{stance} (ms)	*657 (615-699)	679 (637-721)	677 (640-715)	0.04
		()		
R	D (1		N .	
	Patie	nts)	2)	
	Operated leg	_ Contra-lateral)	Controls	<u> </u>
	(n=22)	leg (n=22)	(n=26, 52 legs)	<i>p</i> -value
KNEE JOINT POSITION				
Angles (°)	11.5 (8.5-14.5)	11 4 (8 4-14 4)	10.4 (8.1-12.6)	0.82 3
Angletones (°)	54 3 (51 7-57 0)	55 8 (53 1-55 4)	53 7 (51 8-55 7)	0.02
ROM.tore (°)	42.9 (40.6-45.1)	44 3 (42 1-46 6)	43 4 (41 6-45 1)	0.42
ROM _{unicht} (°)	20.8 (18.8-22.7)	22 4 (20 5-24 4)	21 2 (19 7-22 7)	0.22
teen weight ()	20.0 (10.0 22.7)	22.1 (20.3 21.7)	21.2 (1).7 22.7)	0.22
MOVEMENT SPEED				



Figure 11: Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) results at baseline (2 years post meniscectomy) (indicated by circles) and at follow-up (4 years post meniscectomy) (triangle indicate subjects with full data set and square indicate data including participants only replying the KOOS questionnaire) for the patients (solid markers) and controls (open markers). Scores are means presented as an outcome profile of the 5 dimensions of the KOOS scale, where a score of 100 represents no knee problems and a score of 0 represents extreme problems. ADL=activities of daily living; Sport/Rec=sports and recreational function; QOL=quality of life.

controls participating in the physical examination (n=25) and controls who only replied the questionnaire (n=3). KOOS scores are presented at 2 and 4 years for patients and controls participating in the full examination and including patients and controls only replying to questionnaire at follow-up (squared symbols, Figure 11).

Patients participating in the full follow-up examination 4 years post meniscectomy self-reported reduced knee related QOL compared with controls (p=0.007). Furthermore, tendencies towards patients reporting more pain (p=0.08) and symptoms (p=0.08) compared to controls were observed at follow-up. No differences were evident in ADL (p=0.18) or Sport/Rec (p=0.32) (Figure 11).

Discussion

Main findings

This thesis is based on the results of 3 studies (paper I, II and III) investigating neuromuscular function and self-reported pain and function in meniscectomized patients at high risk of knee OA.

Despite patients self-reporting pain and functional limitations no impairments in muscle strength and functional performance were observed between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or when compared with population-based controls 2 years after resection of a degenerative meniscus tear (paper I). However, minor alterations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity pattern were observed at 2 years post meniscectomy during stair descent between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients (paper II). Furthermore, a difference in maximal knee extensor strength seemed to emerge over a 2 year period between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients (paper III).

Neuromuscular function

Previous knee injury and impaired neuromuscular function are considered risk for knee osteoarthritis factors (OA)(Lohmander et al., 2007, Bennell et al., 2008). This thesis investigated different aspects of neuromuscular function in meniscectomized patients considered to represent a "preosteoarthritis" state (Englund et al., 2003, Becker et al., 2004, Englund and Lohmander, 2006). Some previous studies have reported quadriceps strength deficiencies (Stam et al., 1992, Gapeyeva et al., 2000), whereas others observed no difference in muscle function

(St-Pierre et al., 1992, Stam et al., 1993, Matthews and St-Pierre, 1996) comparing the operated with the contra-lateral leg in meniscectomized patients. Furthermore, a number of studies have been conducted to investigate alterations in neuromuscular activity (Durand et al., 1993, Moffet et al., 1993, Magyar et al., 2008, Glatthorn et al., 2010) and changes in gait and stair ascent/descent biomechanics in meniscectomized patients (Durand et al., 1993, Moffet et al., 1993, Bulgheroni et al., 2007, Magyar et al., 2008, Sturnieks et al., 2008a, Sturnieks et al., 2008b). However, in the majority of studies investigating various aspects of neuromuscular function and biomechanical changes in meniscectomized patients, study populations have been rather heterogeneous including patients with different combinations of medial/lateral and traumatic/degenerative meniscus tears complicating the interpretation. Furthermore, the short-term recovery period investigated in the majority of studies may primarily represent recovery from the surgery-induced trauma rather than the meniscus tear per se.

Muscle strength and functional performance

In two recent studies investigating strength deficiencies 4 years after meniscectomy in patients similar to those in the present thesis, impaired knee extensor strength and functional capacity were observed in the operated compared with the contra-lateral leg (Ericsson et al., 2006) and bilaterally compared with controls (Becker et al., 2004). Paper I was designed to combine the strength of these two studies, by elucidating detailed aspects of muscle strength and functional performance impairments in meniscectomized patients compared with age- and gendermatched controls, and relating this to selfknee function. Unexpectedly reported however, the initial hypothesis of bilateral strength deficiencies between patients and controls could not be verified at 2 years post meniscectomy. Further, no differences were detected between the operated and contralateral leg of meniscectomized patients in maximal thigh muscle strength and functional performance tests. At baseline (paper I), patients were examined about 21 months after meniscectomy, whereas patients were examined about months 48 post meniscectomy in the studies by Becker et al.

(Becker et al., 2004) and Ericsson et al.

(Ericsson et al., 2006) (Table 6). Thus, the discrepancies in muscle strength deficits between studies may be explained by the different post-surgery time intervals since the potential development of knee OA may not have progressed in the patients at 2 compared to at 4 years post meniscectomy.

To investigate this hypothesis a follow-up study was conducted 4 years post meniscectomy to investigate longitudinal changes in muscle strength and functional performance over 2 years time. No differences were observed in changes from

Table 6: Overview of studies investigating neuromuscular function in patients meniscectomized for degenerative tears.

	Becker et al. 2004	Ericsson et al. 2006	Thorlund et al. 2010 (Paper I)	Thorlund et al. (Paper III)
PATIENTS				` . /
Age (yrs) BMI (kg/m ²) Men/women (no.) Time since surgery, (mth) Type of tear	42.8 (7.9) 24.9 (2.9) 32/0 48 (9) APM of tear in the posterior part of the medial meniscus	45.7 (3.2) 26.5 (3.3) 29/16 48 (16) APM	46.0 (5.5) 25.5 (3.8) 21/10 20.6 (6.1) APM of tear in the posterior part of the medial meniscus	49.6 (4.8) 24.7 (2.7) 17/5 49.6 (5.0) APM of tear in the posterior part of the medial meniscus
Recruitment (setting)	Not specified	Indentified through surgical code system	Indentified through surgical code system	From Thorlund et al. 2010
Physical activity level	No participation in sporting activities on regular basis	Excluded if no not able to walk outdoors. 30 patients had high activity level (hiking, biking etc.), 15 had low activity level (i.e. yard work, shopping etc.)	Moderately physically active during leisure time equivalent to controls	N/A
CONTROLS		, II C ,		
Age	40.8 (13)	-	45.9 (5.8)	49.4 (5.2)
BMI Men/women	25.6 (3.9) 32/0	-	25.5 (4.3) 19/12	25.2 (4.9) 14/11
Recruitment (setting)	Not specified	-	Randomly chosen from the Danish Civil Registration system	From Thorlund et al. 2010
Physical activity level	Not specified	-	Moderately physically active during leisure time equivalent to patients	N/A
KNEE EXTENSOR DEFICITS				
Operated leg vs. contra-lateral leg	0 %	6-9 %	0 %	6 %
Operated leg vs. controls	~20 %	-	0 %	0 %

baseline to follow-up in maximal knee flexor muscle strength, overall knee extensor and flexor rapid force capacity (i.e. RFD) or functional performance between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or compared with controls. However, a tendency towards a difference in change in knee extensor MVC from baseline to follow-up was observed between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs (p=0.09). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant difference (p=0.04) in change in knee extensor MVC from baseline to follow-up resulting in a 6% difference between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients at follow-up. This finding is in line with the findings by Ericsson et al. (Ericsson et al., 2006) reporting differences of 6-9% in peak knee extensor torque between the operated and contra-lateral leg. In contrast, Becker et al. (Becker et al., 2004) reported a bilateral strength deficit >20% between meniscectomized patients and controls. This discrepancy may be due to differences in patient selection, selection of controls and/or methodological differences.

In fact, patient recruitment per se could be suspected to be a major reason for the divergent results. Patient recruitment from a clinical setting or advertising for patients may introduce selection bias towards patients with more symptoms. In the present study, great care was taken during the recruitment process to ensure that patients were representative of a population of patients meniscectomized for a degenerative tears. Furthermore, the meniscectomized patients in the present study were very similar to controls at baseline except for the self-reported knee problems (paper I and Table 6). In the study by Becker et al. (Becker et al., 2004) none of the patients participated in sports activities and no information on participation in sports was given for the controls (Table 6). Thus, the reported difference between the patients and controls (Becker et al., 2004) might be influenced by a higher level of physical activity in the control group. In the current study, patients self-reported more moderate and vigorous physical activity at work than controls at baseline whereas physical activity during leisure time was equal in the patient and control group (paper I). However, general muscle strength (grip strength) and general fitness (aerobic power) were equal in patients and controls supporting similar physical activity levels (Table 1). Further, in the present study, controls were not excluded if they had minor self-reported co-morbidities that were similar to those of the patients, since this was to be expected in a population of middle-aged individuals. No information was given on co-morbid conditions in the study by Becker et al. (Becker et al., 2004), and thus it is not possible to know if different levels of co-morbidities between the studies could help explain the inconsistent results.

Relating the results from the present thesis to the existing body of literature on muscle strength deficits in patients undergoing meniscectomy a pattern seems to emerge (i.e. disregarding the discrepancies in patient age, type of tear and method of assessment). It seems that patients scheduled for meniscectomy experience some deficits in muscle strength already prior to surgery, which are exacerbated following meniscectomy likely due to the trauma and/or period of disuse/unloading associated with the surgery (Figure 12). This is followed by a second recovery phase (6-24 months) where full recovery seems to be reached at some point in time. The results from the present



Figure 12: Overview of studies on muscle strength deficits in meniscectomized patients including the results of the present thesis. Age of patients, type of meniscus tear and method of muscle strength assessment vary between studies. Triangle denote comparison of meniscectomized leg to a control group, circle denote comparison to the contra-lateral leg. Studies with connecting lines indicate longitudinal data.

thesis together with the data by Becker et al. and Ericsson et al. (Becker et al., 2004, Ericsson et al., 2006) suggest that a third phase might occur where strength deficits start to evolve again (Figure 12). This proposed third phase of decline in muscle strength may be a window of opportunity for knee OA prevention strategies. However, this proposed time-course of muscle strength deficits in meniscectomized patients needs to be confirmed in prospective longitudinal studies.

Stair descent performance

In the present thesis (paper II) stair descent was used as a model to represent a demanding complex daily locomotor task with multiple degrees of freedom, in order to investigate potential changes in neuromuscular activation and knee joint kinetics/kinematics in patients at high risk of knee OA. Contrary to our expectations, no differences were observed in knee joint kinetics and kinematics between patients and controls. Likewise. no differences emerged in knee ROM, knee joint position or ground reaction force profile between the operated and contra-lateral legs of the patients. Nevertheless, a 3% reduction in the duration of the stance phase (T_{stance}) was observed in operated legs compared with the contra-lateral legs of patients potentially reflecting a greater reliance on the contralateral limb during stair descent. Further, we found that the duration of the stance phase (T_{stance}) on the operated leg was negatively related to self-reported knee pain (i.e. more pain was associated with a longer stance phase) (r_s =-0.47, p=0.03, paper II). This indicates that patients use a strategy where they produce a given amount of kinetic impulse (momentum) using an extended time of contact (t), which potentially may serve to reduce the magnitude of contact force [F] exerted in the knee joint [since Δ momentum = $F \cdot t$] as a strategy to minimize pain during stair descent.

Neuromuscular activity was generally lower (\sim 50%) in the medial (ST) vs. lateral (BF) hamstring muscles in the phases of interest in both legs of the patients. A similar pattern was observed in controls (\sim 40% lower medial

activity) indicating that this represents a general and normal pattern of hamstring activity during stair descent (paper II). Clinicians often report medial quadriceps (VM) atrophy and neuromuscular deficits following knee injury and delayed VM vs. VL muscle activity onset has been reported in patients with patellofemoral pain (Chester et al., 2008). Our results seems to support this notion since neuromuscular activity tended to be lower in the medial (VM) compared with the lateral (VL) quadriceps muscle in the operated leg of patients at the instant of GRF_{peak} .

Overall medial vs. lateral muscle activity was also investigated since skewed patterns of medial vs. lateral muscle activity could potentially affect knee control/function and joint stability. No differences were observed between mean medial (VM+ST) and mean lateral (VL+BF) muscle activity between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs. However, we observed reduced ($\sim 20\%$) medial compared with lateral mean muscle activity in the operated leg of patients. In contrast, no differences in medial vs. lateral muscle activity were observed in the contralateral leg of patients or in controls. Increased levels of lateral muscle activity have previously been observed in patients with knee OA compared with controls (Hublev-Kozey et al., 2006, Heiden et al., 2009), increasing with OA severity (Hubley-Kozey et al., 2009). This may represent a neuromuscular strategy to reduce knee adduction moment and decrease medial knee joint compartment loading (Heiden et al., 2009). Thus, the reduction in medial muscle activity currently observed in meniscectomized legs could reflect a strategy to decrease compression forces in the medial compartment of the knee joint. The specific impact of attenuated medial muscle activity on biomechanical knee joint loading profile and specifically on the knee adduction moment which is often used as a surrogate measure for medial knee compartment joint loading (Schipplein and Andriacchi, 1991, Noves et al., 1992, Zhao et al., 2007) and is associated with medial knee OA severity (Sharma et al., 1998) currently remains unknown. Recently, Netravali et al. (Netravali al.. 2010) reported that patients et meniscectomized for medial meniscus tears in the posterior part of the meniscus (similar to the present patients) showed increased external rotation of the tibia throughout the stance phase during walking. The presence of such a gait pattern is likely to affect knee joint stability and could be an alternative explanation for the altered medial vs. lateral muscle activity in the meniscectomized legs observed in the present thesis.

It was expected that meniscectomized patients would demonstrate altered patterns of neuromuscular control including increased muscle co-activation which have been suggested to be responsible for the reduced knee ROM seen in patients with knee OA. However, we did not observe any reductions in patient knee ROM nor did we detect increased muscle co-activation (paper II).

Self-reported outcomes

Despite observing no deficits in muscle strength and functional performance 2 years post meniscectomy, patients self-reported worse knee specific pain and impaired function (ADL and Sport/Rec) along with more symptoms and reduced QOL on the KOOS questionnaire (Figure 11). The KOOS scores observed in paper I were similar to

those previously reported in meniscectomized patients 4 years post meniscectomy (Ericsson Furthermore, our patients et al., 2006). reported more bodily pain and worse physical function on the generic SF-36 questionnaire (paper I). This indicate that factors other than muscle strength are responsible for the perceived functional limitations and suggest as such that training to improve strength alone may not be sufficient to improve self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee OA. The non-significant relationship observed between Sport/Rec and muscle strength variables at 2 years post meniscectomy (paper I) support this notion and indicate that the tests measure different constructs. Other likely candidates than maximal isolated leg muscle strength to influence self-reported Sport/Rec function include pain, mental health, general fitness (VO₂max) and physical activity level. Furthermore, self-reported knee function has been shown to be related to general subject characteristics like age, gender and (Paradowski et al., 2005, BMI Paradowski et al., 2006). A backward stepwise multiple regression analysis with these variables was conducted to explore other potential determinants of self-reported sport and recreational function (Sport/Rec) at 2 years post meniscectomy (paper I). Meniscectomy, poor mental health and higher BMI were found to be associated with worse KOOS Sport/Rec function (multiple regression coefficient $r^2=0.52$, p<0.001). Having had a meniscectomy was the strongest predictor $(r^2=0.35)$ of worse Sport/Rec function score in the model. Other factors like fear of pain and re-injury or low self-efficacy could also affect self-reported function but these aspects were not evaluated.

At the follow-up 4 years post meniscectomy it seemed that patients self-reported less problems on the KOOS sub scales compared to 2 years post meniscectomy (Figure 11) and the absolute mean values were somewhat lower compared to what Ericsson et al. (Ericsson et al., 2006) observed 4 years post meniscectomy. Explanations for this seemingly improvement with time may include true improvement but may also be caused by loss to follow-up. Additional analysis comparing baseline KOOS data for patients participating in the full follow-up examination 4 years post meniscectomy (n=22) (i.e. physical tests and KOOS questionnaire) to drop-outs and patients only replying the questionnaire (n=9) showed that patients dropping out or not participating in the physical examination at follow-up selfreported significantly worse on all KOOS subscales at baseline (p<0.01). In contrast, no differences were observed between controls participating in the physical examination (n=25) and those dropping out or only replying the KOOS questionnaire (n=6) (p=0.20-0.85). This analysis support the notion that the apparent improvement in patients KOOS scores at follow-up is primarily attributed to loss-to-follow-up bias.

Methodological considerations

Subjects

Strict inclusion/exclusion criteria were used to include a homogeneous group of middle-aged patients with degenerative medial meniscus tears. Thus, the results of the present thesis cannot be generalized to all meniscectomized patients since the results may not apply to younger patients who have with traumatic tears.
Study groups (i.e. patients and controls) were not exactly matched on gender which could potentially have influenced the present results. Thus, all variables concerning strength and functional capacity were adjusted for age and sex in paper I and III.

Five patients had an injury to the contralateral knee. These patients were not excluded in paper I and III since our a priori hypothesis was a bilateral strength deficit between patients and controls. Furthermore, their results in the strength and functional tests remained within two standard deviations of the mean of the non-operated leg and additional sensitivity analysis introducing unilateral/bilateral injury as a fixed effect in the mixed model did not change interpretation of data. Due to the mechanistic focus of paper II patients self-reporting knee injuries to the contra-lateral knee were excluded.

Drop outs of patients and controls occurred the baseline to the follow-up from examination (i.e. 4 patients and 3 controls). However, physical characteristics (age, BMI and aerobic power) did not differ between patients (n=4) and controls (n=3) that dropped out compared to those who stayed in the study, except that drop out controls showed a higher hand grip strength than control who subjects stayed in the study. Furthermore, some patients (n=5) and controls (n=3) did not perform the physical replied tests but only the KOOS questionnaire. Patients only replying the questionnaire self-reported worse on all KOOS subscales compared to those patients who completed the physical tests. To take this into account, all statistics on changes from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy in muscle strength variables and functional performance

were adjusted for values at 2 years post meniscectomy (paper III).

Outcomes

In the present thesis several different methods were employed to capture different aspects of neuromuscular function including self perceived function.

Reliability of the selected outcome measures were not tested in the present thesis since groups were primarily compared crosssectionally. Furthermore, when comparing between groups, reliability of tests is expected to affect both groups similarly. Most outcomes have previously been tested for reliability in similar patients. Isokinetic strength testing reliability has been tested in numerous studies on healthy participants (Lund et al., 2005, Sole et al., 2007, Impellizzeri et al., 2008), patients with knee osteoarthritis (Kean et al., 2010) and patients with ACL injuries (Brosky, Jr. et al., 1999). The reliability of the two functional performance tests used in the present thesis have previously been tested in patients similar to those in the present thesis (Bremander et 2007). Furthermore, the KOOS al.. questionnaire has been tested for reliability and validity (Roos et al., 1998a, Roos et al., 1998b) and has been used in numerous studies investigating patients with different types of knee problems and degree of knee pain like meniscus injury, ACL injury and knee osteoarthritis

In the present thesis a novel setup was used investigating the transition step between stair descent and level walking as this step involves the highest peak GRF forces and was thus considered the most demanding part of stair descent for the knee joint. The reliability of the stair descent protocol and hence kinematic, kinetic and EMG variables were not evaluated in the present thesis. Electro goniometers have previously shown moderate to good intra-tester reliability (ICC 0.75-0.88) for assessing static knee joint position (Piriyaprasarth et al., 2008) as well as during gait (Isacson et al., 1986). Stacoff et al. (Stacoff et al., 2005) has previously reported a low coefficient of variations during stair descent (5-8%) using similar methods as in the present thesis to define and evaluate ground reaction forces (except for the loading slope which had coefficients of variation of 15-16%). On the basis of these results and experience from a previous study from our laboratory (Larsen et al., 2008) only minor acceptable variation were expected. Using 3D would motion analysis have reduced variation, increased sensitivity and allowed for calculation of knee joint moments using inverse dynamics but this were not possible in the present thesis due to methodological restraints. EMG measurements are generally other biomechanical less reliable than methods showing moderate to good reliability (ICC 0.53-0.88 depending on the muscle examined) (Clark et al., 2007). This variability is probably attributed to the numerous factors that can influence the surface EMG signal (i.e. temperature, skin impedance, muscle architecture, electrode configuration, etc.) (Keenan et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the EMG recording method offers information about the degree of muscle activity that cannot be evaluated with other methods, but the results must always be interpreted with caution. In this thesis EMG was normalized to maximal EMG amplitude during a MVC. It has been suggested that normalization to maximal EMG amplitude is not appropriate in patients since maximal effort may not be reached in the trials used for

normalization due to pain. However, in the present study there were no indications that pain was a limitation for maximal effort since patients performed equally well as controls at the baseline examination during maximal muscle strength testing. Furthermore, no or negligible pain was reported on a 100 mm VAS scale following strength testing.

Clinical implications

This thesis demonstrate that patients meniscectomized for degenerative meniscus tears experience pain, functional limitations and reduced quality of life compared to population-based controls. Despite reductions in self-reported outcomes no impairments in maximal muscle strength or rapid force capacity were observed between patients and population-based controls 2 years post meniscectomy indicating that other factors than muscle strength are responsible for the functional limitations perceived by the patients (paper I). Nevertheless, alterations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity patterns were observed between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients which may contribute to the perceived reductions in selfreported outcomes (paper II). Furthermore, changes in neuromuscular activation may precede deficits in maximal muscle strength which seemed to emerge in knee extensor muscle strength between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy. This could be a potential window of opportunity for interventions to retain strength and potentially slow the development or decrease the risk of knee OA in these patients.

The hypothesized impairments in neuromuscular function between patients and controls could not be verified in the current thesis. Thus, the importance of the relatively modest leg-to-leg changes in patients in terms of neuromuscular function and their role in knee OA development may be limited. The observed reductions in medial muscle activity in meniscectomized legs may reflect an initial strategy to decrease compression forces in the medial compartment of the knee joint. No changes were observed in knee joint loading with the methods used in the present study. More precise methods to assess knee joint kinetics and kinematics, like 3D motion analysis, may be needed to detect early changes in knee joint biomechanics in patients at high risk of knee OA. Furthermore, Slemenda et al. (Slemenda et al., 1998) has previously shown that the development of knee OA over a $\sim 2^{1/2}$ year period in older people (~70 years at baseline) was associated with 18% lower knee extensor strength in women. On the other hand, a more recent study reported reductions in knee extensor strength of only 7 and 9% in men and women of similar age as in the present thesis selfreporting knee or hip OA at ~14 years followup (Hootman et al., 2004). The latter results indicate early impairments that in neuromuscular function prior to OA may be very subtle as also observed in the present thesis.

Conclusions

- Overall thigh muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance was not impaired in the operated leg of patients 2 years post meniscectomy compared to the contra-lateral leg or compared with controls.
- Middle-aged meniscectomized patients self-report substantial pain and functional limitations compared to population-based controls 2 years after resection of a symptomatic degenerative medial meniscus tear.
- No differences were observed between meniscectomized patients and controls in kinematics, kinetics and neuromuscular activity during stair descent 2 years after resection of a symptomatic degenerative medial meniscus tear. Kinematic differences were observed between the operated leg and the contra-lateral leg of patients along with reduced medial compared with lateral neuromuscular activity in the operated leg.
- No differences in changes over time were observed in knee flexor MVC, rapid force capacity or functional performance between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or compared with controls. A difference in knee extensor MVC evolved between the operated and contralateral leg of patients from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy.

Perspectives

The present thesis combined methods of clinical research with laboratory based methods to investigate patient reported outcomes and detailed aspects of neuromuscular function in patients at high risk of knee OA. The results of this thesis suggest that impaired muscle strength is not responsible for the perceived functional limitations and indicate that alterations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity may precede muscle strength deficits, which seem to evolve over time in patients at high risk of knee OA. Future longitudinal studies should be conducted to investigate the proposed time course of changes in neuromuscular function and their effect on knee joint loading.

Summary

Musculoskeletal diseases are the most common chronic disorders and a huge burden to society affecting more than half of the adult Danish population within any two-week period. Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common musculoskeletal disease disabling around 10% of the population above 60 years of age. OA is a slowly developing degenerative disease causing local destruction of the involved joint and the surrounding structures. The knee joint is most frequently affected resulting in pain, functional disability and reduced quality of life. Reduced neuromuscular function is considered a risk factor for knee OA. Meniscectomized patients constitute a sub-group at high risk of developing knee OA, with approximately half the patients showing radiographic signs of knee OA 10-15 years after meniscectomy. Meniscus tears referred to as symptomatic degenerative tears have been suggested to be associated with incipient OA and/or represent early stage OA in the middle-aged population. In this thesis patients meniscectomized for symptomatic degenerative tears were used as a model to study neuromuscular function prior to knee OA.

In the first study muscle strength, functional performance and patient perceived pain and function were examined in 31 patients 2 years after surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear and 31 population-based controls. Despite patients self-reporting pain and functional limitations no differences were observed in muscle strength and functional performance.

In the second study thigh neuromuscular activity and selected biomechanical variables were investigating in 22 patients and 26 controls during the transition step between stair descent and level walking. No differences were observed between patients and controls. However, modulations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity represented by a shorter stance phase and reduced overall medial vs. lateral thigh muscle activity in the meniscectomized leg compared with the contra-lateral leg in patients was observed.

The third study investigated the hypothesis that changes in muscle strength and functional performance would differ between patients and controls over 2 years time. Twenty-two patients and 25 controls participated in this follow-up study conducted 4 years post meniscectomy. Overall changes from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy did not differ in maximal muscle strength and functional performance between patients and controls. However, post-hoc analysis revealed a difference in change in knee extensor MVC resulting in a 6% difference between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients at follow-up 4 years post meniscectomy.

The results of this thesis suggest that impaired muscle strength is not responsible for the perceived functional limitations and indicate that alterations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity may precede muscle strength deficits which seem to evolve over time in patients at high risk of knee OA. The current findings may represent the initial stages in the possible chain of events leading to knee OA in meniscectomized patients.

Dansk resumé

Sygdomme i bevægeapparatet er de hyppigst forekommende kroniske lidelser, og de er en stor byrde for samfundet, idet disse, indenfor en hvilken som helst to ugers periode, påvirker mere end halvdelen af den voksne befolkning i Danmark. Artrose (slidgigt) er den hyppigste af disse sygdomme og invaliderer ca. 10 % af befolkningen over 60 år. Artrose ses oftest i knæleddet og er en langsomudviklende degenerativ sygdom, der forårsager ødelæggelse af det involverede led og de omkringliggende strukturer hvilket resulterer i smerte, invaliditet og nedsat livskvalitet. Nedsat neuromuskulær funktion anses som en risikofaktor for knæartrose. Meniskopererede patienter udgør en subgruppe med høj risiko for knæartrose, idet halvdelen af disse har radiografiske tegn på knæartrose 10-15 år efter operation. Degenerative skader på menisken anses for at være et tegn på artrose eller repræsentere første stadie af sygdommen i den midaldrende del af befolkningen. I denne afhandling anvendes patienter, der har fået foretaget meniskoperation for en degenerativ meniskskade, som en model til at undersøge neuromuskulær funktion før udvikling af knæartrose.

I første studie blev muskelstyrke, objektivt målt funktion samt patientrapporteret smerte og funktion undersøgt hos 31 patienter 2 år efter resektion af en degenerativ meniskskade samt hos 31 kontrolpersoner. På trods af at patienter selvrapporterede mere smerte og nedsat funktion, blev der ikke observeret forskelle i muskelstyrke og objektivt målt funktion.

I andet studie blev neuromuskulær aktivitet i låret samt udvalgte biomekaniske variabler undersøgt under udførslen af overgangsskridtet imellem gang nedad trappe og almindelig gang hos 22 patienter og 26 kontroller. Ingen forskelle blev registreret imellem patienter og kontroller. På trods af dette blev der observeret kinematiske ændringer samt ændringer i neuromuskulær aktivitet manifesteret ved en reduceret standfase samt reduceret medial vs. lateral muskelaktivitet i patienternes opererede ben i forhold til det kontra-laterale ben.

Tredje studie undersøgte om der var forskelle i ændringer i muskelstyrke og objektiv målt funktion imellem patienter og kontroller fra 2 til 4 år efter meniskoperation. Toogtyve patienter og 25 kontrolpersoner deltog i opfølgningsstudiet 4 år efter operation. Generelt var der ingen forskelle i ændringer imellem patienter og kontrolpersoner i maksimal muskelstyrke og objektivt målt funktion. Sekundær analyse viste en forskel i maksimal ændring i styrke i knæekstensorerne, hvilket resulterede i en forskel på 6 % imellem patienternes opererede og kontra-laterale ben ved opfølgningen 4 år efter operation.

Resultaterne fra denne afhandling antyder, at forringet muskelstyrke ikke er ansvarlig for patienternes oplevede funktionsnedsættelse. Desuden indikerer de, at kinematiske ændringer og ændringer i neuromuskulær aktivitet muligvis går forud for den forringelse i muskelstyrke, der ser ud til at opstå over tid hos patienter med høj risiko for udvikling af artrose. Disse fund repræsenterer potentielt den initielle fase i en række af hændelser, der fører til knæartrose hos meniskopererede patienter.

Acknowledgements

This thesis was accomplished with the help of several people to whom I would like to express my gratitude:

All *patients* and *control subjects* for spending a lot of time with me in the laboratory.

Ewa M. Roos, my main supervisor and friend, for believing in me as the first PhD student in FOF and for introducing me to the world of clinical science, your input and mentoring has been invaluable during my years as PhD student.

Per Aagaard, my co-supervisor and friend, for supporting me since my years as a master student and for introducing me to methods like EMG, force plate analysis and isokinetics, your resourceful way of thinking and lots of hours on the MONARK bike.

Kim Bennell and all *staff* and *PhD students* at the Centre for Health, Exercise and Sports Medicine (CHESM), Melbourne, Australia for a warm welcome to Australia and a fantastic research stay.

Mark W. Creaby, for great research discussions, introducing me to 3D motion analysis, limitless hospitality and a fantastic friendship. I already look forward to re-visit you and Jen in Brisbane.

Eva Ageberg, for inviting me to participate in your projects with the CHESM group and for fruitful skype discussion.

Stefan Lohmander, for your time, input and discussions on future projects to secure my future life as a researcher.

Joachim Nielsen and Lars G. Hvid, my officemates for a lot of great hours and good scientific and non-scientific discussions.

Karen Søgaard and *Anders Holsgaard Larsen*, for valuable help and input during my PhD and input on the write up of the thesis.

Søren Overgaard, for help with recruitment of patients

Carsten Jensen, for good discussions on programming and statistics.

Robin Christensen, for statistical input and exciting discussions

Suzanne Capell, for typesetting and correcting my manuscripts

Søren Skovbakke, Jacob Damgaard and *Louise Fleng Sandal*, for your dedicated and thorough help with the data collection.

The Research Unit for Musculoskeletal Function and Physiotherapy, A fabulous group of people with various talents creating a good atmosphere for discussions and scientific input.

All *staff* and *colleagues* at the Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics at the University of Southern Denmark for contributing to a great work environment.

My *family*, my *mother* and *father* for enduring a lot of 'knee' talk.

And of course *Mie* for your love and support and for spending some great months in Australia with me – look forward to becoming a parent together with you!

This thesis was supported with grants from the Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of Southern Denmark. My research stay at CHESM, University of Melbourne, Australia was funded by an Elite Research Scholarship granted by the Danish Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation.

References

Aagaard P, Simonsen E B, Andersen J L, Magnusson P, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Increased rate of force development and neural drive of human skeletal muscle following resistance training. *J Appl Physiol* 2002; 93(4): 1318-1326.

Aagaard P, Simonsen E B, Andersen J L, Magnusson S P, Halkjaer-Kristensen J, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Neural inhibition during maximal eccentric and concentric quadriceps contraction: effects of resistance training. J Appl Physiol 2000; 89(6): 2249-2257.

Aagaard P, Simonsen E B, Magnusson S P, Larsson B, Dyhre-Poulsen P. A new concept for isokinetic hamstring: quadriceps muscle strength ratio. *Am J Sports Med* 1998; 26(2): 231-237.

Aagaard P, Simonsen E B, Trolle M, Bangsbo J, Klausen K. Isokinetic hamstring/quadriceps strength ratio: influence from joint angular velocity, gravity correction and contraction mode. *Acta Physiol Scand* 1995; 154(4): 421-427.

Aagaard P, Suetta C, Caserotti P, Magnusson S P, Kjaer M. Role of the nervous system in sarcopenia and muscle atrophy with aging: strength training as a countermeasure. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2010; 20(1): 49-64.

Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, Christy W, Cooke T D, Greenwald R, Hochberg M, . Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria Committee of the American Rheumatism Association. *Arthritis Rheum* 1986; 29(8): 1039-1049.

Altman R D. Early management of osteoarthritis. Am J Manag Care 2010; 16 Suppl Management: S41-S47.

Andriacchi T P, Mundermann A. The role of ambulatory mechanics in the initiation and progression of knee osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2006; 18(5): 514-518.

Astephen J L, Deluzio K J. Changes in frontal plane dynamics and the loading response phase of the gait cycle are characteristic of severe knee osteoarthritis application of a multidimensional analysis technique. *Clin Biomech (Bristol , Avon)* 2005; 20(2): 209-217. Astrand P O, RYHMING I. A nomogram for calculation of aerobic capacity (physical fitness) from pulse rate during sub-maximal work. *J Appl Physiol* 1954; 7(2): 218-221.

Baliunas A J, Hurwitz D E, Ryals A B, Karrar A, Case J P, Block J A, Andriacchi T P. Increased knee joint loads during walking are present in subjects with knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2002; 10(7): 573-579.

Becker R, Berth A, Nehring M, Awiszus F. Neuromuscular quadriceps dysfunction prior to osteoarthritis of the knee. *J Orthop Res* 2004; 22(4): 768-773.

Bennell K L, Hunt M A, Wrigley T V, Lim B W, Hinman R S. Role of muscle in the genesis and management of knee osteoarthritis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2008; 34(3): 731-754.

Bhattacharyya T, Gale D, Dewire P, Totterman S, Gale M E, McLaughlin S, Einhorn T A, Felson D T. The clinical importance of meniscal tears demonstrated by magnetic resonance imaging in osteoarthritis of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2003; 85-A(1): 4-9.

Bjorner J B, Damsgaard M T, Watt T, Groenvold M. Tests of data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability of the Danish SF-36. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1998a; 51(11): 1001-1011.

Bjorner J B, Thunedborg K, Kristensen T S, Modvig J, Bech P. The Danish SF-36 Health Survey: translation and preliminary validity studies. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1998b; 51(11): 991-999.

Blagojevic M, Jinks C, Jeffery A, Jordan K P. Risk factors for onset of osteoarthritis of the knee in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2010; 18(1): 24-33.

Bremander A B, Dahl L L, Roos E M. Validity and reliability of functional performance tests in meniscectomized patients with or without knee osteoarthritis. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2007; 17(2): 120-127.

Brosky J A, Jr., Nitz A J, Malone T R, Caborn D N, Rayens M K. Intrarater reliability of selected clinical outcome measures following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 1999; 29(1): 39-48.

Buckwalter J A, Saltzman C, Brown T. The impact of osteoarthritis: implications for research. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2004;(427 Suppl): S6-15.

- Bulgheroni P, Bulgheroni M V, Ronga M, Manelli A. Gait analysis of pre- and post-meniscectomy knee: a prospective study. *Knee* 2007; 14(6): 472-477.
- Chen C P, Chen M J, Pei Y C, Lew H L, Wong P Y, Tang S F. Sagittal plane loading response during gait in different age groups and in people with knee osteoarthritis. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2003; 82(4): 307-312.
- Chester R, Smith T O, Sweeting D, Dixon J, Wood S, Song F. The relative timing of VMO and VL in the aetiology of anterior knee pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2008; 9: 64.
- Childs J D, Sparto P J, Fitzgerald G K, Bizzini M, Irrgang J J. Alterations in lower extremity movement and muscle activation patterns in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Biomech (Bristol , Avon)* 2004; 19(1): 44-49.
- Clark B C, Cook S B, Ploutz-Snyder L L. Reliability of techniques to assess human neuromuscular function in vivo. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 2007; 17(1): 90-101.
- Dieppe P A. Relationship between symptoms and structural change in osteoarthritis. what are the important targets for osteoarthritis therapy? *J Rheumatol Suppl* 2004; 70: 50-53.
- Dieppe P A, Cushnaghan J, Shepstone L. The Bristol 'OA500' study: progression of osteoarthritis (OA) over 3 years and the relationship between clinical and radiographic changes at the knee joint. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1997; 5(2): 87-97.
- Dillon C F, Rasch E K, Gu Q, Hirsch R. Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the United States: arthritis data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1991-94. *J Rheumatol* 2006; 33(11): 2271-2279.
- Ding C, Jones G, Wluka A E, Cicuttini F. What can we learn about osteoarthritis by studying a healthy person against a person with early onset of disease? *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2010; 22(5): 520-527.
- Durand A, Richards C L, Malouin F. Strength recovery and muscle activation of the knee extensor and flexor muscles after arthroscopic meniscectomy. A pilot study. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1991;(262): 210-226.
- Durand A, Richards C L, Malouin F, Bravo G. Motor recovery after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy.

Analyses of gait and the ascent and descent of stairs. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1993; 75(2): 202-214.

- Englund M. The role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis genesis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2008; 34(3): 573-579.
- Englund M, Guermazi A, Gale D, Hunter D J, Aliabadi P, Clancy M, Felson D T. Incidental meniscal findings on knee MRI in middle-aged and elderly persons. *N Engl J Med* 2008; 359(11): 1108-1115.
- Englund M, Lohmander L S. Meniscectomy and osteoarthritis: what is the cause and what is the effect? *Future Rheumatology* 2006; 1: 207-215.
- Englund M, Roos E M, Lohmander L S. Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: a sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. *Arthritis Rheum* 2003; 48(8): 2178-2187.
- Ericsson Y B, Roos E M, Dahlberg L. Muscle strength, functional performance, and self-reported outcomes four years after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in middle-aged patients. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006; 55(6): 946-952.
- Farrell M, Richards J G. Analysis of the reliability and validity of the kinetic communicator exercise device. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1986; 18(1): 44-49.
- Felson D T. Developments in the clinical understanding of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2009; 11(1): 203.
- Fithian D C, Kelly M A, Mow V C. Material properties and structure-function relationships in the menisci. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1990;(252): 19-31.
- Fransen M, McConnell S. Exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008;(4): CD004376.
- Fransen M, McConnell S. Land-based exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Rheumatol* 2009; 36(6): 1109-1117.
- Gapeyeva H, Paasuke M, Ereline J, Pintsaar A, Eller A. Isokinetic torque deficit of the knee extensor muscles after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 2000; 8(5): 301-304.
- Gelber A C, Hochberg M C, Mead L A, Wang N Y, Wigley F M, Klag M J. Joint injury in young adults

and risk for subsequent knee and hip osteoarthritis. *Ann Intern Med* 2000; 133(5): 321-328.

- Glatthorn J F, Berendts A M, Bizzini M, Munzinger U, Maffiuletti N A. Neuromuscular function after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2010; 468(5): 1336-1343.
- Heiden T L, Lloyd D G, Ackland T R. Knee joint kinematics, kinetics and muscle co-contraction in knee osteoarthritis patient gait. *Clin Biomech* (*Bristol*, Avon) 2009; 24(10): 833-841.

Helweg-Larsen K, Davisen M, Lauersen B, Andersen S. Slidgigt. Forekomst og Risikofaktorer - Udviklingen i Danmark. 2009. Statens Institut for Folkesundhed, Syddansk Universitet, København.
Ref Type: Report

Henry J C, Kaeding C. Neuromuscular differences between male and female athletes. *Curr Womens Health Rep* 2001; 1(3): 241-244.

Hootman J M, Fitzgerald S, Macera C A, Blair S N. Lower Extremity Muscle Strength and Risk of Self-Reported Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health* 2004; 1(4): 321-330.

Hortobagyi T, Westerkamp L, Beam S, Moody J, Garry J, Holbert D, DeVita P. Altered hamstringquadriceps muscle balance in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Biomech (Bristol , Avon)* 2005; 20(1): 97-104.

Hubley-Kozey C, Deluzio K, Dunbar M. Muscle coactivation patterns during walking in those with severe knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Biomech (Bristol , Avon)* 2008; 23(1): 71-80.

Hubley-Kozey C L, Deluzio K J, Landry S C, McNutt J S, Stanish W D. Neuromuscular alterations during walking in persons with moderate knee osteoarthritis. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 2006; 16(4): 365-378.

Hubley-Kozey C L, Hill N A, Rutherford D J, Dunbar M J, Stanish W D. Co-activation differences in lower limb muscles between asymptomatic controls and those with varying degrees of knee osteoarthritis during walking. *Clin Biomech (Bristol* , *Avon*) 2009; 24(5): 407-414.

Hunter D J, Le Graverand M P, Eckstein F. Radiologic markers of osteoarthritis progression. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2009; 21(2): 110-117.

- Impellizzeri F M, Bizzini M, Rampinini E, Cereda F, Maffiuletti N A. Reliability of isokinetic strength imbalance ratios measured using the Cybex NORM dynamometer. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging* 2008; 28(2): 113-119.
- Isacson J, Gransberg L, Knutsson E. Threedimensional electrogoniometric gait recording. J Biomech 1986; 19(8): 627-635.
- Jan M H, Lai J S, Tsauo J Y, Lien I N. Isokinetic study of muscle strength in osteoarthritic knees of females. *J Formos Med Assoc* 1990; 89(10): 873-879.
- Kean C O, Birmingham T B, Garland S J, Bryant D M, Giffin J R. Minimal detectable change in quadriceps strength and voluntary muscle activation in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2010; 91(9): 1447-1451.
- Keenan K G, Farina D, Maluf K S, Merletti R, Enoka R M. Influence of amplitude cancellation on the simulated surface electromyogram. *J Appl Physiol* 2005; 98(1): 120-131.
- KELLGREN J H, LAWRENCE J S. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1957; 16(4): 494-502.
- Kellis E, Baltzopoulos V. Resistive eccentric exercise: effects of visual feedback on maximum moment of knee extensors and flexors. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1996; 23: 120-124.
- Kurosawa H, Fukubayashi T, Nakajima H. Loadbearing mode of the knee joint: physical behavior of the knee joint with or without menisci. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1980;(149): 283-290.
- Larsen A H, Puggaard L, Hamalainen U, Aagaard P. Comparison of ground reaction forces and antagonist muscle coactivation during stair walking with ageing. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 2008; 18(4): 568-580.
- Lewek M D, Rudolph K S, Snyder-Mackler L. Control of frontal plane knee laxity during gait in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2004; 12(9): 745-751.
- Liikavainio T, Lyytinen T, Tyrvainen E, Sipila S, Arokoski J P. Physical function and properties of quadriceps femoris muscle in men with knee osteoarthritis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008; 89(11): 2185-2194.

Loeser R F, Shakoor N. Aging or osteoarthritis: which is the problem? *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2003; 29(4): 653-673.

Lohmander L S, Englund P M, Dahl L L, Roos E M. The long-term consequence of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: osteoarthritis. *Am J Sports Med* 2007; 35(10): 1756-1769.

Lohmander L S, Gerhardsson d, V, Rollof J, Nilsson P M, Engstrom G. Incidence of severe knee and hip osteoarthritis in relation to different measures of body mass: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2009; 68(4): 490-496.

Lohmander L S, Roos E M. Clinical update: treating osteoarthritis. *Lancet* 2007; 370(9605): 2082-2084.

Lund H, Sondergaard K, Zachariassen T, Christensen R, Bulow P, Henriksen M, Bartels E M, Danneskiold-Samsoe B, Bliddal H. Learning effect of isokinetic measurements in healthy subjects, and reliability and comparability of Biodex and Lido dynamometers. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging* 2005; 25(2): 75-82.

Magyar O M, Illyes A, Knoll Z, Kiss R M. Effect of medial meniscectomy on gait parameters. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 2008; 16(4): 427-433.

Martin D F. Pathomechanics of knee osteoarthritis. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1994; 26(12): 1429-1434.

Matthews P, St-Pierre D M. Recovery of muscle strength following arthroscopic meniscectomy. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1996; 23(1): 18-26.

Messier S P, Gutekunst D J, Davis C, DeVita P. Weight loss reduces knee-joint loads in overweight and obese older adults with knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005; 52(7): 2026-2032.

Messier S P, Loeser R F, Hoover J L, Semble E L, Wise C M. Osteoarthritis of the knee: effects on gait, strength, and flexibility. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1992; 73(1): 29-36.

Mikesky A E, Meyer A, Thompson K L. Relationship between quadriceps strength and rate of loading during gait in women. *J Orthop Res* 2000; 18(2): 171-175.

Miyazaki T, Wada M, Kawahara H, Sato M, Baba H, Shimada S. Dynamic load at baseline can predict radiographic disease progression in medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2002; 61(7): 617-622.

Moffet H, Richards C L, Malouin F, Bravo G. Impact of knee extensor strength deficits on stair ascent performance in patients after medial meniscectomy. *Scand J Rehabil Med* 1993; 25(2): 63-71.

Neame R L, Muir K, Doherty S, Doherty M. Genetic risk of knee osteoarthritis: a sibling study. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2004; 63(9): 1022-1027.

Netravali N A, Giori N J, Andriacchi T P. Partial medial meniscectomy and rotational differences at the knee during walking. *J Biomech* 2010.

Noble J, Hamblen D L. The pathology of the degenerate meniscus lesion. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 1975; 57(2): 180-186.

Noyes F R, Schipplein O D, Andriacchi T P, Saddemi S R, Weise M. The anterior cruciate ligamentdeficient knee with varus alignment. An analysis of gait adaptations and dynamic joint loadings. *Am J Sports Med* 1992; 20(6): 707-716.

Oiestad B E, Engebretsen L, Storheim K, Risberg M A. Knee osteoarthritis after anterior cruciate ligament injury: a systematic review. *Am J Sports Med* 2009; 37(7): 1434-1443.

Paradowski P T, Bergman S, Sunden-Lundius A, Lohmander L S, Roos E M. Knee complaints vary with age and gender in the adult population. Population-based reference data for the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS). BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2006; 7: 38.

Paradowski P T, Englund M, Lohmander L S, Roos E M. The effect of patient characteristics on variability in pain and function over two years in early knee osteoarthritis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2005; 3: 59.

Peat G, McCarney R, Croft P. Knee pain and osteoarthritis in older adults: a review of community burden and current use of primary health care. Ann Rheum Dis 2001; 60(2): 91-97.

Pijnappels M, van der Burg P J, Reeves N D, van Dieen J H. Identification of elderly fallers by muscle strength measures. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2008; 102(5): 585-592.

Piriyaprasarth P, Morris M E, Winter A, Bialocerkowski A E. The reliability of knee joint position testing using electrogoniometry. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2008; 9: 6.

- Poehling G G, Ruch D S, Chabon S J. The landscape of meniscal injuries. *Clin Sports Med* 1990; 9(3): 539-549.
- Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. Multilevel and Longitudinal Modelling Using Stata. Stata Press, College Station, Texas 2008.
- Radin E L. Who gets osteoarthritis and why? J Rheumatol Suppl 2004; 70: 10-15.
- Rath E, Richmond J C. The menisci: basic science and advances in treatment. *Br J Sports Med* 2000; 34(4): 252-257.
- Roos E M. Joint injury causes knee osteoarthritis in young adults. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2005; 17(2): 195-200.
- Roos E M, Ostenberg A, Roos H, Ekdahl C, Lohmander L S. Long-term outcome of meniscectomy: symptoms, function, and performance tests in patients with or without radiographic osteoarthritis compared to matched controls. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2001; 9(4): 316-324.
- Roos E M, Roos H P, Ekdahl C, Lohmander L S. Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)-validation of a Swedish version. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 1998a; 8(6): 439-448.
- Roos E M, Roos H P, Lohmander L S, Ekdahl C, Beynnon B D. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)--development of a selfadministered outcome measure. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1998b; 28(2): 88-96.
- Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang M H, Fossel A H, Katz J N. The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. *Arthritis Rheum* 2003; 49(2): 156-163.
- Schipplein O D, Andriacchi T P. Interaction between active and passive knee stabilizers during level walking. J Orthop Res 1991; 9(1): 113-119.
- Schmitt L C, Rudolph K S. Muscle stabilization strategies in people with medial knee osteoarthritis: the effect of instability. *J Orthop Res* 2008; 26(9): 1180-1185.

- Segal N A, Torner J C, Felson D, Niu J, Sharma L, Lewis C E, Nevitt M. Effect of thigh strength on incident radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in a longitudinal cohort. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009; 61(9): 1210-1217.
- Sharma L, Hurwitz D E, Thonar E J, Sum J A, Lenz M E, Dunlop D D, Schnitzer T J, Kirwan-Mellis G, Andriacchi T P. Knee adduction moment, serum hyaluronan level, and disease severity in medial tibiofemoral osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 1998; 41(7): 1233-1240.
- Slemenda C, Brandt K D, Heilman D K, Mazzuca S, Braunstein E M, Katz B P, Wolinsky F D. Quadriceps weakness and osteoarthritis of the knee. Ann Intern Med 1997; 127(2): 97-104.
- Slemenda C, Heilman D K, Brandt K D, Katz B P, Mazzuca S A, Braunstein E M, Byrd D. Reduced quadriceps strength relative to body weight: a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis in women? *Arthritis Rheum* 1998; 41(11): 1951-1959.
- Sole G, Hamren J, Milosavljevic S, Nicholson H, Sullivan S J. Test-retest reliability of isokinetic knee extension and flexion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2007; 88(5): 626-631.
- Srikanth V K, Fryer J L, Zhai G, Winzenberg T M, Hosmer D, Jones G. A meta-analysis of sex differences prevalence, incidence and severity of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2005; 13(9): 769-781.
- St-Pierre D M, Laforest S, Paradis S, Leroux M, Charron J, Racette D, Dalzell M A. Isokinetic rehabilitation after arthroscopic meniscectomy. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 1992; 64(5): 437-443.
- Stacoff A, Diezi C, Luder G, Stussi E, Kramers-de Quervain I A. Ground reaction forces on stairs: effects of stair inclination and age. *Gait Posture* 2005; 21(1): 24-38.
- Stam H J, Binkhorst R A, Kuhlmann P, van Nieuwenhuyzen J F. Clinical progress and quadriceps torque ratios during training of meniscectomy patients. *Int J Sports Med* 1992; 13(2): 183-188.
- Stam H J, Binkhorst R A, van Nieuwenhuyzen H F, Hagmeier R. The long-term consequence of strength deficits after menisectomy. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1993; 74(3): 271-275.

Statens Institut for Folkesundhed. Muskel- og skeletsygdomme. Folkesundhedsrapporten. 101-116. 2007.

Ref Type: Report

- Sturnieks D L, Besier T F, Hamer P W, Ackland T R, Mills P M, Stachowiak G W, Podsiadlo P, Lloyd D G. Knee strength and knee adduction moments following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2008a; 40(6): 991-997.
- Sturnieks D L, Besier T F, Mills P M, Ackland T R, Maguire K F, Stachowiak G W, Podsiadlo P, Lloyd D G. Knee joint biomechanics following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *J Orthop Res* 2008b; 26(8): 1075-1080.
- Suetta C, Aagaard P, Rosted A, Jakobsen A K, Duus B, Kjaer M, Magnusson S P. Training-induced changes in muscle CSA, muscle strength, EMG, and rate of force development in elderly subjects after long-term unilateral disuse. *J Appl Physiol* 2004; 97(5): 1954-1961.
- Tegner Y, Lysholm J, Lysholm M, Gillquist J. A performance test to monitor rehabilitation and evaluate anterior cruciate ligament injuries. *Am J Sports Med* 1986; 14(2): 156-159.
- Thorlund J B, Michalsik L B, Madsen K, Aagaard P. Acute fatigue-induced changes in muscle mechanical properties and neuromuscular activity in elite handball players following a handball match. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2008; 18(4): 462-472.
- Thorstensson C A, Petersson I F, Jacobsson L T, Boegard T L, Roos E M. Reduced functional performance in the lower extremity predicted radiographic knee osteoarthritis five years later. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2004; 63(4): 402-407.
- Walker P S, Erkman M J. The role of the menisci in force transmission across the knee. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1975;(109): 184-192.
- Ware J E, Jr., Sherbourne C D. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Med Care* 1992; 30(6): 473-483.
- Wilder F V, Hall B J, Barrett J P, Jr., Lemrow N B. History of acute knee injury and osteoarthritis of the knee: a prospective epidemiological assessment. The Clearwater Osteoarthritis Study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2002; 10(8): 611-616.

- Zhang W, Nuki G, Moskowitz R W, Abramson S, Altman R D, Arden N K, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Brandt K D, Croft P, Doherty M, Dougados M, Hochberg M, Hunter D J, Kwoh K, Lohmander L S, Tugwell P. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis: part III: Changes in evidence following systematic cumulative update of research published through January 2009. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2010; 18(4): 476-499.
- Zhao D, Banks S A, Mitchell K H, D'Lima D D, Colwell C W, Jr., Fregly B J. Correlation between the knee adduction torque and medial contact force for a variety of gait patterns. *J Orthop Res* 2007; 25(6): 789-797.

Paper I

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Thigh Muscle Strength, Functional Capacity, and Self-Reported Function in Patients at High Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis Compared With Controls

JONAS BLOCH THORLUND, PER AAGAARD, AND EWA M. ROOS

Objective. Reduced muscle strength is suggested as a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis (OA). Meniscectomy patients have an increased risk of developing knee OA. The aim of this study was to identify reductions in different aspects of muscle strength as well as objectively measured and self-reported lower extremity function in middle-aged patients who had undergone a meniscectomy compared with controls.

Methods. Thirty-one patients who had undergone surgery in 2006 and 2007 (mean \pm SD age 46 \pm 6 years, mean \pm SD body mass index [BMI] 26 \pm 4 kg/m², and mean \pm SD postsurgery 21 \pm 6 months) and 31 population-based controls (mean \pm SD age 46 \pm 6 years and mean \pm SD BMI 26 \pm 4 kg/m²) were examined for maximal muscle strength and rapid force capacity, distance achieved during the one-leg hop test, and the maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 seconds. The Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) was used to determine self-reported outcomes.

Results. No differences were detected in any muscle strength variables between the operated and nonoperated leg (mean \pm SD quadriceps maximum voluntary contraction of 2.80 \pm 0.10 for the operated leg and 2.88 \pm 0.10 for the nonoperated leg), between patients and controls (mean \pm SD torque of 2.70 \pm 0.09 Nm \times kg⁻¹ for the controls; P = 0.26 for main effect leg), or in objectively measured function ($P \ge 0.27$). Patients reported 10–26 points worse KOOS scores in all 5 subscales (P < 0.001).

Conclusion. Thigh muscle strength is not impaired in middle-aged adults 2 years after resection of a degenerative tear. Our findings indicate that factors other than muscle strength are responsible for the perceived functional limitations and suggest that training to improve strength alone may not be sufficient to improve self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee OA.

INTRODUCTION

Reduced muscle strength is suggested as a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis (OA) (1–4). Meniscectomy patients constitute one subgroup at high risk of developing knee OA (5,6), with approximately one-half of the patients showing radiographic signs of knee OA 10–15 years after undergoing a meniscectomy (6–8). Meniscus tears, referred to as symptomatic degenerative tears, have been suggested to be associated with incipient OA and/or represent early-stage OA in the middleaged population (9,10). Therefore, patients undergoing sur-

Address correspondence to Jonas Bloch Thorlund, MSc, Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Campusvej 55, 5230 Odense M, Denmark. E-mail: jthorlund@health.sdu.dk.

Submitted for publication September 16, 2009; accepted in revised form March 9, 2010.

gery for symptomatic degenerative tears constitute a model to study the state prior to knee OA.

In meniscectomy patients, conflicting results have been reported on the rehabilitation of muscle strength and functional performance in the operated leg compared with the nonoperated leg (11–17). In one study, where a control group was included, a reduction in bilateral quadriceps maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) and voluntary activation was observed in meniscectomy patients (18), but no differences were seen between the operated and nonoperated leg. This finding suggests bilateral muscular deficits and emphasizes the need for a control group if the magnitude and nature of lower extremity muscle strength deficiencies in these patients are to be identified and examined.

Testing maximal isometric muscle strength might not adequately describe all aspects of lower extremity muscle function and changes in functional performance compared with healthy controls. For instance, reduced levels of eccentric thigh muscle strength might reduce the ability to absorb impacts and thereby increase knee joint loading (19). Furthermore, impaired capacity for rapid force exertion (i.e., a right shift in the torque time curve indicating a reduced rate

Supported by the Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of Southern Denmark.

Jonas Bloch Thorlund, MSc, Per Aagaard, PhD, Ewa M. Roos, PT, PhD: University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark.

of force development [RFD]) is thought to be important for functional performance (20). Reduced rapid force capacity would decrease the percentage of force produced in the early phase of muscle contraction and thereby reduce the ability to react on sudden perturbations, potentially representing a functional deficiency in postural control and other types of reactive motor tasks. Understanding in detail these muscle strength deficiencies and their relationship to self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee OA would be important in clinical decision making and in developing future knee OA prevention regimens.

The aim of the present study was to identify reductions in various aspects of muscle function for the knee extensor and flexor muscles (i.e., maximal concentric, eccentric, and isometric muscle strength, as well as rapid force capacity) together with deficiencies in objectively measured and self-reported physical function in middle-aged meniscectomy patients compared with population-based controls. It was hypothesized that meniscectomy patients would show a bilateral deficiency in muscle strength and objectively measured function compared with controls.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients. Patients ages 35-55 years at the time of surgery, who had undergone surgery in 2006 and 2007 for a medial meniscal tear in the posterior half of the meniscus, were identified through the surgical code system from 2 different hospitals. The age criteria were set to include a majority of patients with degenerative meniscal tears but without knee OA. Patients were excluded if they were misclassified by the surgical code system, or if they had a previous knee ligament injury, severe cartilage changes defined as deep clefts or visible bone at the time of the meniscectomy, or self-reported comorbidities limiting participation in the study. A modified version of the Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire, developed by Sangha et al (21), was used to identify comorbidities. After their meniscectomy, patients were given a leaflet with standard rehabilitation exercises, which they were encouraged to perform at home. Information on compliance with the exercise recommendation was not collected.

Age- and sex-matched controls were identified through the Danish Civil Registration System. An invitation was sent to a total of 600 people living in the same geographic area as the meniscectomy patients. Those who accepted the invitation received the modified version of the Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire (21). Subjects were excluded if they had had a previous knee ligament injury, knee surgery, or self-reported comorbidities limiting participation in the study. Eligible controls were stratified into 4 groups: men ages 35–45 years, men ages 46–55 years, women ages 35–45 years, and women ages 46–55 years. For every patient who was included in the study, a control was randomly selected from the appropriate age group by use of a random number generator. All testing was conducted in the period from August to November 2008.

Test procedures. Testing was done on 2 separate occasions. On the first occasion the informed consent form was

signed and the subjects answered the Short Form 36 (SF-36) health survey and the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), both self-administered questionnaires. Then body height and weight were measured, and the patient's fat free mass was estimated by a conventional bioimpedance leg-to-leg method (TANITA TBF-305, Tanita). The subjects were then tested for the maximum number of knee bends they could perform within 30 seconds and for the distance they could cover in the one-leg hop test (22). All muscle strength tests were carried out in an isokinetic dynamometer (Kinetic Communicator 500H, Chattecx) on the second occasion \sim 7 days later. Also on the second occasion, subjects were asked to report the amount of vigorous and moderate physical activity in which they had engaged during work and leisure time over the previous 7 days. Subjects then performed a warm-up activity consisting of a submaximal bicycle exercise test, during which maximal oxygen consumption (Vo_{2max}) was estimated using Åstrands nomogram (23). Finally, the muscle strength tests were conducted. The order of test leg was randomized for both groups on both testing occasions (i.e., operated/nonoperated in the patients and left/right in the controls). The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Region of Southern Denmark.

Outcome measures. Muscle strength testing. Placement of subjects in the isokinetic dynamometer was conducted as previously described (24,25). The dynamometer force and position signals were recorded by a personal computer at a 1,000 Hz sampling rate during isometric tests and a 100 Hz rate during dynamic tests, and was filtered by a fourth-order zero-lag Butterworth low-pass filter at 15 Hz cutoff frequency. To correct for the effect of gravity on the measured joint torques, the passive mass of the lower leg was measured in the dynamometer at a knee joint angle of 45° (26). In addition to the submaximal bicycle warm-up, subjects performed a further warm-up and preconditioning exercise in the dynamometer, which consisted of 4 concentric and 3 eccentric contractions, gradually increasing force. Subsequently, maximal concentric, eccentric, and isometric muscle strength were measured unilaterally in the knee extensors and knee flexors in both legs of all participants. Knee joint angular velocity during dynamic testing was set to 30°/second with a knee joint range of motion from 90° to 20° (0° = full knee extension). Successive trials at each contraction mode were conducted until the subject was unable to further increase peak torque (4–6 trials were typically conducted).

Isometric MVC was measured at a 70° knee joint angle (best of 3 trials) during knee extension and flexion, respectively. The average slope (\triangle torque/ \triangle time) at time points 0–30, 50, 100, and 200 msec of the torque time curve was calculated to evaluate the capacity for rapid force production. These time intervals have previously been used to assess RFD in the initial phase of muscle contraction in healthy patients (25,27) and in surgical patients (20). The onset of contraction was defined as the instant where force increased by 2% of peak torque above the resting baseline level. Visual feedback of the dynamometer torque output was provided to the subjects on a computer screen after



Figure 1. Flow chart of the recruitment process for the meniscectomy patients and controls.

each trial (28). The reliability and validity of the KinCom dynamometer have previously been verified in detail (29).

Self-reported outcomes. The KOOS was used to assess function during activities of daily living (ADL) and during sport and recreation function (Sport/Rec). The KOOS also assesses pain, other symptoms, and knee-related quality of life (30). A normalized score is calculated for each subscale (0 indicating extreme symptoms and 100 indicating no symptoms). The KOOS score has been validated for meniscectomy patients and has shown high test-retest reproducibility (30,31).

The SF-36 was used to assess general physical function (32). The SF-36 consists of 8 subscales: physical function, role physical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social function, role emotional, and mental health. The SF-36 is self-explanatory, takes ~ 10 minutes to complete, and is scored from 0–100 (0 = extreme problems and 100 = no problems). The Acute Danish version of the SF-36 was used (33,34).

Physical activity level was reported as the amount (in hours and minutes) of vigorous and moderate physical activity undertaken during the previous 7 days and reported separately for work and leisure time. Each period of physical activity had to last for at least 10 minutes at a time. Vigorous physical activity was defined as activity that makes one breathe harder than normal, and moderate physical activity was defined as activity that makes one breathe somewhat harder than normal.

Functional capacity tests. The one-leg hop test (35) has been shown to be valid and reliable in meniscectomy patients (22). The subject stands on one foot with the hands on the back and is asked to jump as far as possible and land steadily on the same foot. The subject has to be able to land and stand long enough for the examiner to measure the length of the jump. At least 3 trials with 60-second rest periods between each attempt (or until the subject made no further progress) were conducted, and the longest jump was recorded.

The maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 seconds (16) has also been shown to be a valid and reliable test in meniscectomy patients (22). The subject's long axis of the foot was aligned with a straight line and the toes placed on a perpendicular line; light fingertip support was provided to the subject by the examiner to aid balance. The subject was asked to flex the knee while standing on one leg, without bending forward at the hip, until the line along the toes was no longer visible to the subject (\sim 30° knee flexion). The maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 seconds was recorded.

Statistical analysis. Becker et al have previously reported a difference of $\sim 20\%$ in quadriceps MVC between meniscectomy patients and controls (18). To detect a similar difference in quadriceps MVC (80% power with a significance level of 0.05), our sample size calculation indicated a need for 25 individuals in each group. Student's unpaired *t*-test and the Mann-Whitney test were used to compare subject characteristics between patients and controls, as appropriate. To evaluate the differences in strength variables and functional performance of the patient and control legs, a mixed linear model was used with "subject" as random effect and "leg" (i.e., operated, nonoperated, and control legs), "sex," and "age" as fixed effects (i.e., applying age as a continuous covariate). Differences among legs in the torque time curve pattern (and therefore RFD) were also assessed by using a mixed linear model with the combination of "subject" and "side" (i.e., repeated nested measurements on each leg of the subjects) as random effects and "leg" (i.e., operated, nonoperated,

Table 1. Characteristics of subjects*				
	Patients (n = 31)	Controls (n = 31)		
Subjects, no. male/female	21/10	19/12		
Time since surgery, months	20.6 ± 6.1	N/A		
Age, years	46.0 ± 5.5	45.9 ± 5.8		
Height, cm	174.5 ± 6.9	175.0 ± 9.1		
Weight, kg	77.7 ± 14.0	78.5 ± 16.3		
Body mass index, kg/m ²	25.5 ± 3.8	25.5 ± 4.3		
Fat free mass, kg	57.8 ± 9.4	58.5 ± 12.0		
$\rm Vo_{2max}$, ml $\rm O_2 imes kg^{-1}$	$35.8\pm8.9\dagger$	37.0 ± 11.1		
Hand grip strength, kg	39.1 ± 9.1	38.1 ± 8.8		
Vigorous and moderate				
physical activity level,				
hours/week‡				
Work	2.3 (0, 16)†	0.0 (0, 1)§		
Leisure	0.9 (0, 2.5)†	1.3 (0, 3)		
Self-reported comorbidities¶				
1–2 musculoskeletal, no.	13	11		
1–2 general, no.	6	10		

* Values are the mean \pm SD unless otherwise indicated. N/A = not applicable; Vo_{2max} = maximal Vo_2.

+ N = 30.

‡ Distribution of physical activity was skewed and is shown as the median (25th, 75th percentiles).

§ Significantly different than patients ($P \le 0.05$ by Mann-Whitney test).

¶ For which subjects were either treated and/or no limitation imposed for study participation. Musculoskeletal comorbidities reported other than knee: joint problems and back pain. General comorbidities reported: high blood pressure, diabetes mellitus, ulcer, heart problems, and depression.

and control legs), "sex," "age," and "time point" (i.e., 0-30, 50, 100, and 200 msec) as fixed effects. Age and sex were introduced in the models to adjust for potential confounding, as anticipated in classic epidemiology. The Mann-Whitney test was used to compare self-reported outcomes (i.e., KOOS and SF-36 scores) in patients and controls. Correlation analyses were performed by calculation

of Spearman's rho to assess the relationship between Sport/Rec and concentric, eccentric, and isometric peak torque. Stata software, version 10.1 (StataCorp) was used for all statistical analyses, with the prespecified level of significance equal to 0.05.

RESULTS

A detailed overview of the recruitment flow is shown in Figure 1. Thirty-one patients (10 women) and 31 controls (12 women) were ultimately examined. Due to a slow recruitment process of patients in the beginning of the study, the first 7 controls were included before patients were included, which is the reason for the discrepancy between the number of women, 10 and 12, respectively, in the patient and control groups. Therefore, the study is matched on a group level instead of on a case level.

Characteristics of patients and controls are shown in Table 1. No differences were observed between patients and controls except for physical activity at work, where patients were more active than controls. At the first test session, 5 patients reported knee injuries (which had not been reported previously) in the contralateral knee, 3 patients underwent a meniscectomy, 1 patient had a deficient anterior cruciate ligament (ACL), and 1 patient had an ACL reconstruction and meniscectomy. These patients were not excluded since our a priori hypothesis was a bilateral strength deficit between patients and controls. Furthermore, their results in the strength and functional tests were within 2 SDs of the mean of the nonoperated leg. All other patients had a healthy control leg.

Thigh muscle strength and objectively measured functional capacity. Overall, no differences were observed between the operated and nonoperated legs of the patients or when compared with controls in any of the strength variables (Table 2). No differences were observed in rapid force capacity (i.e., no right shift in the torque time curve

Table 2. Isokinetic muscle strength and functional performance tests*					
	Patients				
	Operated leg (n = 31)	Nonoperated leg (n = 31)	Controls $(n = 31; 62 \text{ legs})$	Р	
Isokinetic muscle strength†					
Knee extension, Nm \times kg ⁻¹					
Concentric peak torque	2.66 ± 0.08	2.73 ± 0.08	2.55 ± 0.07	0.20	
Eccentric peak torque	3.37 ± 0.12	3.48 ± 0.12	3.27 ± 0.11	0.29	
Isometric MVC	2.80 ± 0.10	2.88 ± 0.10	2.70 ± 0.09	0.26	
Knee flexion, Nm $ imes$ kg ⁻¹					
Concentric peak torque	1.37 ± 0.05	1.39 ± 0.05	1.39 ± 0.04	0.84	
Eccentric peak torque	1.76 ± 0.07	1.79 ± 0.06	1.87 ± 0.06	0.46	
Isometric MVC	1.20 ± 0.05	1.26 ± 0.05	1.20 ± 0.04	0.23	
Functional performance					
Knee bends/30 seconds, no.	25.8 ± 1.8	26.1 ± 1.8	28.6 ± 1.8	0.45	
One-leg hop, cm	82.4 ± 4.5	84.5 ± 4.5	91.1 ± 4.3	0.27	

* Values are the mean \pm SE, adjusted for age and sex. Mixed linear model. *P* indicates main effect of "leg." MVC = maximum voluntary contraction.

 \pm Isokinetic test patients, n = 29. One patient failed to meet for the second test, and 1 patient did not complete the test due to severe pain after the warm-up procedure.



Figure 2. Mean torque time curve during knee extension for the operated leg (solid line), nonoperated leg (broken line), and control legs (dotted line). No difference in rapid force capacity using the time points 0-30, 50, 100, and 200 msec among any of the legs (mixed linear model).

and therefore no reduction in RFD) during maximal isometric knee extension (P = 0.18) (Figure 2) and knee flexion (P = 0.71) (data not shown). Furthermore, no significant differences were observed in the one-leg hop test or the maximum number of knee bends in 30 seconds test (Table 2).

Self-reported function and other outcomes. Patients reported worse knee function than controls in the KOOS subscales for ADL ($P \le 0.001$) and for Sport/Rec ($P \le 0.001$), as well as worse general physical function scores for the SF-36 subscale ($P \le 0.001$). Additionally, patients reported more knee pain, bodily pain, other knee symptoms, and worse knee-related quality of life scores than controls (Figures 3 and 4).



Figure 3. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) results for the meniscectomy group (solid circles) and the control group (open circles). Scores are means with 95% confidence intervals presented as an outcome profile of the 5 dimensions of the KOOS scale, where a score of 100 represents no knee problems and a score of 0 represents extreme problems. There was a significant difference in all subscales ($P \le 0.001$) between meniscectomy patients and controls (Mann-Whitney test). ADL = activities of daily living; Sport/Rec = sports and recreation; QOL = quality of life.



Figure 4. Short Form 36 (SF-36) health survey results for the meniscectomy group (solid circles) and the control group (open circles). Scores are means with 95% confidence intervals presented as an outcome profile, where a score of 100 represents no problems and a score of 0 represents extreme problems. There was a significant difference (Mann-Whitney test) between meniscectomy patients and controls in PF ($P \le 0.001$) and BP ($P \le 0.01$). PF = physical function; RP = role physical; BP = bodily pain; GH = general health; VT = vitality; SF = social function; RE = role emotional; MH = mental health.

Relationships between self-reported function and objectively measured function and maximal muscle strength. Weak and nonsignificant correlations were observed between Sport/Rec and the various muscle strength variables, i.e., concentric and eccentric peak torque and isometric MVC ($r_s = 0.07-0.23$, $P \ge 0.22$).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to examine detailed aspects of muscle strength together with objectively measured and self-reported functional capacity in meniscectomy patients compared with age- and sexmatched controls. Despite that, patients in accordance with previous studies reported impaired function, elevated pain, and more symptoms than controls (17,36,37). The hypothesized bilateral reductions in various muscle strength variables and functional tests between patients and controls were not observed. Likewise, no differences were observed between the operated and nonoperated leg in the patients, even though this finding could be masked by the patients with injuries to the contralateral knee.

Previous knee injury and reduced muscle strength are considered risk factors for knee OA (1,2,38). This study investigated different aspects of muscle strength and functional capacity in meniscectomy patients who were considered to represent a "pre-OA" state (10,18). Some previous studies report quadriceps strength deficiencies (11,13), whereas others observe no difference in muscle function (12,14,15) when comparing the operated with the nonoperated leg in meniscectomy patients. In 2 recent studies on strength deficiencies 4 years after meniscectomy in patients similar to those in the present study, impaired knee extensor strength and functional capacity were observed in the operated versus the nonoperated leg (17) and bilaterally compared with controls (18). The present study was conducted to combine the strength of these 2 studies by elucidating detailed aspects of muscle strength and functional performance impairments in meniscectomy patients compared with age- and sex-matched controls, and relating these aspects to self-reported knee function. Unexpectedly, however, the initial hypothesis of bilateral strength deficiencies between patients and controls could not be verified. Furthermore, no differences were detected between the operated and nonoperated legs of the meniscectomy patients in maximal muscle strength and functional capacity tests (Table 2 and Figure 2).

The discrepancies between the muscle strength data obtained in the present study and previous studies (17,18) might be due to differences in patient selection, selection of controls, and/or methodologic differences. In fact, patient recruitment per se could be suspected to be a major reason for the divergent results on muscle strength reported in meniscectomy patients. The recruitment process is often sparsely reported in previous studies. Patient recruitment from a clinical setting or advertising for patients may introduce selection bias toward patients with more symptoms. In the present study, great care was taken during the recruitment process to ensure that patients were representative of a population who had undergone a meniscectomy for a degenerative tear. Furthermore, the meniscectomy patients in the present study were very similar to controls except for the self-reported knee problems (Table 1 and Figure 3). In the study by Becker et al (18), none of the patients participated in sports activities and no information on participation in sports was given for the controls. Therefore, the reported difference between the patients and controls (18) might be influenced by a higher level of physical activity in the control group. In the current study, patients self-reported more moderate and vigorous physical activity at work than controls, whereas physical activity during leisure time was equal between the patient and control groups (Table 1). However, general muscle strength (grip strength) and general fitness (VO_{2max}) were equal in patients and controls supporting similar physical activity levels (Table 1). In the present study, controls were not excluded if they had minor self-reported comorbidities that were similar to those of the patients, since this was to be expected in a population of middleaged individuals. No information was given on comorbid conditions in the study by Becker et al (18); therefore, it is not possible to know if different levels of comorbidities between the studies could help explain the inconsistent results.

In the current study, patients were examined ~ 21 months after their meniscectomy, whereas in the studies by Becker et al (18) and Ericsson et al (17), patients were examined ~ 48 months postmeniscectomy. Therefore, it is possible that the patients in our study showed no reduction in muscle strength, since the potential development of knee OA may not have progressed as dramatically due to the shorter postsurgery time interval. However, the ages of the participants in the present study and the 2 previous studies are similar, with a mean age range of 42.8–46.0 years (17,18).

Changed muscle activation patterns and increased agonist–antagonist coactivation have been observed in knee OA patients compared with healthy age-matched controls (39-42). Hence, impaired neuromuscular function might precede knee OA and also precede muscle weakness. It seems from the present results that when patients performed isolated unilateral single-joint motor tasks in an isokinetic dynamometer, a test with very few degrees of freedom, no difference in performance was observed compared with controls. However, in functional tests that rely more on sensory input and postural (sensory motor) control, there was a borderline clinically relevant difference of 10% between patients and controls. The study was, however, not statistically powered to detect this difference, since sample size estimation was done on quadriceps MVC. Consequently, future studies should examine whether meniscectomy patients have altered neuromuscular activity when performing functional tasks/daily activities or whether sensory input is impaired. Another implication of these findings is that it might be useful if the training of symptomatic patients at risk of OA included training to increase neuromuscular control instead of only muscle strengthening.

A weak and nonsignificant relationship was observed between Sport/Rec and muscle strength variables, indicating the tests were measuring different constructs. Factors other than maximal isolated leg muscle strength could potentially also affect self-reported knee function. Factors like pain, mental health, general fitness (Vo_{2max}), and physical activity level are likely candidates to influence self-reported Sport/Rec function. Furthermore, self-reported knee function has been shown to be related to general subject characteristics like age, sex, and body mass index (BMI) (43,44). A backward stepwise multiple regression analysis with these variables was conducted to explore other potential determinants of self-reported Sport/ Rec function. Meniscectomy, poor mental health, and a higher BMI were found to be associated with worse KOOS Sport/Rec function (multiple regression coefficient $r^2 =$ 0.52, P < 0.001). Having had a meniscectomy was the strongest predictor ($r^2 = 0.35$) of a worse Sport/Rec function score in the model. Other factors like fear of pain and re-injury or self-efficacy could also affect self-reported function, but we have not evaluated these aspects.

There are some limitations to the present study. The results cannot be generalized to all meniscectomy patients since we followed strict inclusion/exclusion criteria to include a majority of patients with degenerative meniscal tears. Therefore, the results may only apply to middle-aged patients with degenerative tears and not to younger patients who have experienced traumatic tears. Furthermore, only approximately one-third of the patients who received an invitation participated in the study. We have no information on patients that did not participate in the study and direction of any bias due to this can only be speculative. However, the patients self-reported the same amount of pain, symptoms, and functional limitations as previously seen in other studies with similar patients (17,37). Controls from the same geographic region as the patients were recruited through the Danish Civil Registration System. Nevertheless, one cannot be sure that the controls are representative of the general population from which they were recruited, even though care was taken during the recruitment process to exclude only controls with knee

problems related to the research question and to include controls with minor comorbidities common in the general population to this age group.

Study groups (i.e., patients and controls) were not exactly matched on sex (i.e., 10 and 12 women in the patient and control groups, respectively), which could potentially have influenced the results. However, all variables concerning strength and functional capacity had been adjusted for age and sex. Five patients had an injury to the contralateral knee. These patients were not excluded since our a priori hypothesis was a bilateral strength deficit between patients and controls. Furthermore, their results in the strength and functional tests were within 2 SDs of the mean of the nonoperated leg. However, it cannot be ruled out that these patients could mask differences between the operated and nonoperated leg. Excluding these 5 patients from the analysis resulted in a difference range of 6-8% in isometric quadriceps and hamstrings strength between the patients' operated and nonoperated legs, respectively. Differences less than 10% are often not considered clinically relevant (see supplementary Table 1, available in the online version of this article at http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/ 77005015/home).

In conclusion, thigh muscle strength is not impaired in middle-aged adults 2 years after resection of a degenerative meniscal tear. Our findings indicate that factors other than muscle strength are responsible for the perceived functional limitations and suggest that training to improve strength alone may not be sufficient to improve self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee OA.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, and all authors approved the final version to be submitted for publication. Mr. Thorlund had full access to all of the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study conception and design. Thorlund, Roos.

Acquisition of data. Thorlund.

Analysis and interpretation of data. Thorlund, Aagaard, Roos.

REFERENCES

- 1. Slemenda C, Brandt KD, Heilman DK, Mazzuca S, Braunstein EM, Katz BP, et al. Quadriceps weakness and osteoarthritis of the knee. Ann Intern Med 1997;127:97–104.
- Slemenda C, Heilman DK, Brandt KD, Katz BP, Mazzuca SA, Braunstein EM, et al. Reduced quadriceps strength relative to body weight: a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis in women? Arthritis Rheum 1998;41:1951–9.
- 3. Thorstensson CA, Petersson IF, Jacobsson LT, Boegard TL, Roos EM. Reduced functional performance in the lower extremity predicted radiographic knee osteoarthritis five years later. Ann Rheum Dis 2004;63:402–7.
- 4. Hootman JM, Fitzgerald S, Macera CA, Blair SN. Lower extremity muscle strength and risk of self-reported hip and knee osteoarthritis. J Phys Act Health 2004;1:321–30.
- 5. Englund M, Lohmander LS. Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twenty-two years after meniscectomy. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50:2811–9.
- 6. Englund M, Roos EM, Lohmander LS. Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteo-

arthritis: a sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48:2178–87.

- 7. Roos H, Adalberth T, Dahlberg L, Lohmander LS. Osteoarthritis of the knee after injury to the anterior cruciate ligament or meniscus: the influence of time and age. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 1995;3:261–7.
- 8. Roos H, Lauren M, Adalberth T, Roos EM, Jonsson K, Lohmander LS. Knee osteoarthritis after meniscectomy: prevalence of radiographic changes after twenty-one years, compared with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum 1998;41:687–93.
- 9. Englund M. The role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis genesis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2008;34:573–9.
- 10. Englund M, Lohmander LS. Meniscectomy and osteoarthritis: what is the cause and what is the effect? Future Rheumatol 2006;1:207–15.
- 11. Stam HJ, Binkhorst RA, Kuhlmann P, van Nieuwenhuyzen JF. Clinical progress and quadriceps torque ratios during training of meniscectomy patients. Int J Sports Med 1992;13:183–8.
- Stam HJ, Binkhorst RA, van Nieuwenhuyzen HF, Hagmeier R. The long-term consequence of strength deficits after menisectomy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1993;74:271–5.
- Gapeyeva H, Paasuke M, Ereline J, Pintsaar A, Eller A. Isokinetic torque deficit of the knee extensor muscles after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2000;8:301–4.
- Matthews P, St-Pierre DM. Recovery of muscle strength following arthroscopic meniscectomy. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1996;23:18–26.
- St-Pierre DM, Laforest S, Paradis S, Leroux M, Charron J, Racette D, et al. Isokinetic rehabilitation after arthroscopic meniscectomy. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1992;64: 437–43.
- Roos EM, Ostenberg A, Roos H, Ekdahl C, Lohmander LS. Long-term outcome of meniscectomy: symptoms, function, and performance tests in patients with or without radiographic osteoarthritis compared to matched controls. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2001;9:316-24.
- Ericsson YB, Roos EM, Dahlberg L. Muscle strength, functional performance, and self-reported outcomes four years after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in middle-aged patients. Arthritis Rheum 2006;55:946–52.
- Becker R, Berth A, Nehring M, Awiszus F. Neuromuscular quadriceps dysfunction prior to osteoarthritis of the knee. J Orthop Res 2004;22:768–73.
- Bennell KL, Hunt MA, Wrigley TV, Lim BW, Hinman RS. Role of muscle in the genesis and management of knee osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2008;34:731–54.
- Suetta C, Aagaard P, Rosted A, Jakobsen AK, Duus B, Kjaer M, et al. Training-induced changes in muscle CSA, muscle strength, EMG, and rate of force development in elderly subjects after long-term unilateral disuse. J Appl Physiol 2004; 97:1954-61.
- Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang MH, Fossel AH, Katz JN. The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. Arthritis Rheum 2003;49:156-63.
- Bremander AB, Dahl LL, Roos EM. Validity and reliability of functional performance tests in meniscectomized patients with or without knee osteoarthritis. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2007;17:120-7.
- Astrand PO, Ryhming I. A nomogram for calculation of aerobic capacity (physical fitness) from pulse rate during submaximal work. J Appl Physiol 1954;7:218–21.
- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Magnusson SP, Larsson B, Dyhre-Poulsen P. A new concept for isokinetic hamstring: quadriceps muscle strength ratio. Am J Sports Med 1998;26:231–7.
- 25. Thorlund JB, Michalsik LB, Madsen K, Aagaard P. Acute fatigue-induced changes in muscle mechanical properties and neuromuscular activity in elite handball players following a handball match. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2008;18:462–72.
- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Trolle M, Bangsbo J, Klausen K. Isokinetic hamstring/quadriceps strength ratio: influence from joint angular velocity, gravity correction and contraction mode. Acta Physiol Scand 1995;154:421–7.

- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Andersen JL, Magnusson P, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Increased rate of force development and neural drive of human skeletal muscle following resistance training. J Appl Physiol 2002;93:1318–26.
- Kellis E, Baltzopoulos V. Resistive eccentric exercise: effects of visual feedback on maximum moment of knee extensors and flexors. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1996;23:120–4.
- 29. Farrell M, Richards JG. Analysis of the reliability and validity of the kinetic communicator exercise device. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1986;18:44–9.
- Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS, Ekdahl C, Beynnon BD. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): development of a self-administered outcome measure. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1998;28:88–96.
- Roos EM, Roos HP, Ekdahl C, Lohmander LS. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): validation of a Swedish version. Scand J Med Sci Sports 1998;8:439–48.
- Ware JE Jr, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item Short-Form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992;30:473-83.
- 33. Bjorner JB, Damsgaard MT, Watt T, Groenvold M. Tests of data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability of the Danish SF-36. J Clin Epidemiol 1998;51:1001–11.
- Bjorner JB, Thunedborg K, Kristensen TS, Modvig J, Bech P. The Danish SF-36 health survey: translation and preliminary validity studies. J Clin Epidemiol 1998;51:991–9.
- Tegner Y, Lysholm J, Lysholm M, Gillquist J. A performance test to monitor rehabilitation and evaluate anterior cruciate ligament injuries. Am J Sports Med 1986;14:156–9.
- 36. Roos EM, Dahlberg L. Positive effects of moderate exercise on glycosaminoglycan content in knee cartilage: a four-month, randomized, controlled trial in patients at risk of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52:3507–14.

- 37. Roos EM, Bremander AB, Englund M, Lohmander LS. Change in self-reported outcomes and objective physical function over 7 years in middle-aged subjects with or at high risk of knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2008;67:505–10.
- Lohmander LS, Englund PM, Dahl LL, Roos EM. The longterm consequence of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med 2007;35:1756–69.
- Childs JD, Sparto PJ, Fitzgerald GK, Bizzini M, Irrgang JJ. Alterations in lower extremity movement and muscle activation patterns in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2004;19:44–9.
- Hinman RS, Bennell KL, Metcalf BR, Crossley KM. Delayed onset of quadriceps activity and altered knee joint kinematics during stair stepping in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2002;83:1080–6.
- Zeni JA, Rudolph K, Higginson JS. Alterations in quadriceps and hamstrings coordination in persons with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2010;20: 148-54.
- 42. Hortobagyi T, Westerkamp L, Beam S, Moody J, Garry J, Holbert D, et al. Altered hamstring-quadriceps muscle balance in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2005;20:97–104.
- 43. Paradowski PT, Bergman S, Sunden-Lundius A, Lohmander LS, Roos EM. Knee complaints vary with age and gender in the adult population: population-based reference data for the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS). BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2006;7:38.
- 44. Paradowski PT, Englund M, Lohmander LS, Roos EM. The effect of patient characteristics on variability in pain and function over two years in early knee osteoarthritis. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2005;3:59.

Paper II

Neuromuscular Function during Stair Descent in Meniscectomized Patients and Controls

JONAS BLOCH THORLUND, EWA M. ROOS, and PER AAGAARD

Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, DENMARK

ABSTRACT

THORLUND, J. B., E. M. ROOS, and P. AAGAARD. Neuromuscular Function during Stair Descent in Meniscectomized Patients and Controls. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc., Vol. 43, No. 7, pp. 1272–1279, 2011. Purpose: The aim of this study was to identify differences in knee range of motion (ROM), movement speed, ground reaction forces (GRF) profile, neuromuscular activity, and muscle coactivation during the transition between stair descent and level walking in meniscectomized patients at high risk of knee osteoarthritis (OA) compared with the nonoperated leg and with healthy controls. Methods: A total of 22 meniscectomized patients (15 men and 7 women $(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}), 45.4 \pm 5.1 \text{ yr}, 174.3 \pm 7.1 \text{ cm}, 77.3 \pm 15.4 \text{ kg})$ and 26 healthy controls (16 men and 10 women, $45.6 \pm 6.1 \text{ yr}, 174.9 \pm 8.1 \text{ cm}, 71.3 \pm 15.4 \text{ kg})$ 78.6 ± 16.8 kg) were tested using synchronous force plate, goniometer, and EMG recording (vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM), biceps femoris (BF), semitendinosus (ST)) during the transition step between stair descent and level walking. Pain was assessed using the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score. **Results**: Patients reported more pain than controls ($P \le 0.001$), but no differences were observed between patients and controls in any variables including knee ROM during stance (operated leg = 42.9°, nonoperated leg = 44.3° , controls = 43.4° , respectively, P = 0.42). A shorter stance phase (T_{stance} ; 657 vs 679 ms) was observed for the meniscectomized leg versus the nonoperated leg in patients along with reduced overall medial versus lateral thigh muscle activity in the meniscectomized leg during the weight acceptance phase ($P \le 0.05$) and at peak GRF ($P \le 0.01$). Conclusions: Patients and controls did not differ in any of the examined variables. However, kinematic differences were observed in the meniscectomized leg compared with the nonoperated leg along with attenuated medial leg muscle activity in the meniscectomized leg. The present findings support the hypothesis that meniscectomized individuals demonstrate early modulations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity that may represent an initial phase in the development of knee OA. Key Words: KNEE JOINT, OSTEOARTHRITIS, MENISCECTOMY, BIOMECHANICS, EMG

P atients with knee osteoarthritis (OA) self-report pain and functional limitations (20,34). The reductions in physical function have been associated with reduced muscle strength in the lower extremities (20,34,39), together with altered neuromuscular control thought to affect knee joint kinematics and kinetics during level gait and stair ascent/descent (11,14,16,17,32). However, it is not known whether these changes precede or follow because of knee OA.

Meniscectomized patients are at high risk of developing knee OA and thus constitute a good model to study OA onset (7,8). In a recent study on middle-aged meniscectomized patients, no reductions were reported in any muscle strength variables despite patients self-reporting more pain and reduced physical function compared with healthy controls ~ 2 yr after meniscectomy (37). However, a clinically relevant difference of $\sim 10\%$ was observed between meniscectomized patients and controls in clinical tests, indicating

0195-9131/11/4307-1272/0 MEDICINE & SCIENCE IN SPORTS & EXERCISE_® Copyright © 2011 by the American College of Sports Medicine DOI: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182074de9 impairments in functional tasks with multiple degrees of freedom (37). Reduced functional capacity may reflect a movement strategy to minimize pain and to protect the knee joint by reducing joint range of motion (ROM) and movement speed and may, as such, be accompanied by altered patterns of neuromuscular activity. Changes in neuromuscular activity might involve increased muscle coactivation and altered medial versus lateral muscle activity, which have been previously reported in knee OA patients (11,14–17,19,32).

Changes in the neuromuscular activity pattern of prime mover thigh muscles in OA patients could potentially affect the focal concentration of bone-on-bone contact forces in the knee joint during locomotion. Further, long-term alterations in neuromuscular activity profile may precede future muscle strength deficits and either contribute *per se* to the development of OA or, alternatively, reflect an adoptive countermeasure strategy that is insufficient to prevent OA development. Stair descent constitutes a useful model to investigate such potential changes in neuromuscular control and loading, representing a demanding complex daily locomotor task with multiple degrees of freedom.

Several longitudinal training studies have demonstrated that resistance training and neuromuscular training can induce changes in the neuromuscular activity and control of muscles crossing the knee joint (1,9,27). Thus, it seems important to gain knowledge of specific changes in neuromuscular activity profile in meniscectomized patients at high risk of knee OA to design effective interventions to optimize

Address for correspondence: Jonas Bloch Thorlund, M.Sc., Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Campusvej 55, 5230 Odense M, Denmark; E-mail: jthorlund@health.sdu.dk. Submitted for publication April 2010. Accepted for publication November 2010.

knee joint loading and possibly prevent or postpone knee OA development in these patients.

The aim of the current study was to identify differences in knee ROM, movement speed, ground reaction forces (GRF) and neuromuscular activity including muscle coactivation and medial versus lateral muscle activation during stair descent in patients meniscectomized for symptomatic degenerative meniscal tears compared with healthy controls. We hypothesized that patients would display altered patterns of neuromuscular activity including alterations in agonist–antagonist muscle coactivation, accompanied by a decreased range of knee joint motion and reduced movement speed along with reduced GRF to adopt a movement strategy with minimized knee joint loading compared with the nonoperated leg and with healthy controls.

METHODS

Patients, 35–55 yr old at the time of surgery, who had undergone surgery for a medial meniscal tear in the posterior half of the meniscus in the years 2006 and 2007 were identified through the surgical code system from two different hospitals. The age criteria were set to include most patients with degenerative meniscal tears but without knee OA. Patients were excluded if they were misclassified by the surgical code system, if they had had a previous knee ligament injury or severe cartilage changes defined as deep clefts or visible bone at the time of meniscectomy, or if they self-reported comorbidities limiting participation in the study. A modified version of The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire developed by Sangha et al. (30) was used to identify comorbidities.

The controls (35–55 yr old), from the same geographic region as the patients, were identified through the Danish Civil Registration System. Subjects were excluded if they had had a previous knee ligament injury, knee surgery, or selfreported comorbidities limiting participation in the study. The study aimed at matching patients and controls (i.e., on age and sex) at a group level.

Test procedures. After the informed consent form was signed, knee pain was assessed using the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) (29) followed by measurements of body height and weight. The KOOS also assesses knee-related quality of life, other symptoms, and function during activities of daily living and during sport and recreational activity. Only scores from the pain subscale are reported in this study. A normalized score is calculated for each subscale (0 indicating extreme symptoms and 100 indicating no symptoms). The KOOS has been validated for meniscectomized patients and has shown high test–retest reproducibility (28,29).

After placement of EMG electrodes and electrogoniometers (more details given below), the subjects were asked to descend a four-step staircase at a self-chosen speed, without the use of hand rails and wearing their own comfortable walking shoes. At the bottom of the stairs, subjects contin-

ued walking performing a horizontal transition step down onto a force plate imbedded in the floor. The horizontal staircase position was adjusted relative to the position of the force plate so that the length of the horizontal transition step corresponded to one-third of the total leg length for each individual subject (measured from the midpoint of the greater trochanter to the midpoint of the lateral malleolus). Subjects were carefully instructed to continue walking until they reached a cone placed 2 m beyond the force plate. Subjects were allowed two to three stair descent trials for the purpose of familiarization before actual testing. Subsequently, two experimental trials were performed for each leg (i.e., the operated and nonoperated for the patients and the left and the right legs of the controls), and the average of these two trials was used for further analysis. Trials were repeated if visible hesitation, misplaced footing, or stumbles were observed. After the stair descent tests, the subjects conducted three isometric maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) trials for the quadriceps and hamstring muscles, respectively, for the purpose of EMG normalization. The staircase was designed with a rise of 16 cm, a depth of 23 cm, and a step width of 60 cm. The current study had experimental focus on the transition step between stair descent and subsequent level walking because this transition step involves high peak GRF (GRF_{peak}) and thus represents a demanding task for the knee joint during daily walking activities. The order of test leg was randomized for both groups, i.e., operated/nonoperated in the patients and left/ right in the controls. In addition to the described test procedures, isokinetic muscle strength was also obtained as previously reported (37). The study was approved by the local ethics committee of the Region of Southern Denmark (ID S-20080044).

Knee angle recordings. A flexible electrogoniometer (Biometrics SG150; Biometrics Ltd., Gwent, U.K.) was placed laterally across both knees of the subjects according to the manufacturer's manual to measure instantaneous knee joint angle during movement. Goniometer data were synchronously recorded with the EMG and force plate signals. During later offline analysis, the instants of foot strike and toe-off were determined from the GRF curve and used as temporal reference points. The goniometer was calibrated with the knee flexed at a 90° angle (0° = full extension).

Force plate analysis. The methods used for data collection and processing are similar to those reported by Larsen et al. (18). In brief, a force plate (Kistler 9281 B; Kistler Instruments, Winterthur, Switzerland) was placed in the floor at a distance of one-third the leg length of the subject from the final step of the stairs to ensure that full foot contact was made as the person stepped down from the last step. The force plate was completely isolated from the staircase structure and the floor to avoid vibration artifacts. The vertical GRF signal (Fz) was recorded at 1000 Hz using a 12-bit A/D converter (DT 3010; Data Translation, Marlboro, MA) (18). Furthermore, two strain gauge–based load cells connected to a custom-made amplifier were integrated in the

STAIR PERFORMANCE IN PATIENTS AT RISK OF OA

second and fourth steps of the staircase. The duration between contacts on the two load cells (steps) were determined from the load cell signals and used to calculate stride frequency. In the current study, analytical focus was given to the first part of the Fz signal (Fig. 1), which represents the vertical impact phase (i.e., weight acceptance) and thus comprises the phase of energy absorption and GRF_{peak} during ground contact and thus the phase most demanding for the knee joint. All Fz (GRF) signals were normalized as a percentage of body weight (%BW; Fig. 1) and rate of GRF rise during the initial stance phase (loading slope (Load_{slope})) and the GRF_{peak} was calculated. GRF_{peak} occurred in the first half of the Fz signal (Fig. 1: Fz_2). In some cases, an initial force peak (Fz_1) was detected before Fz₂, and if higher than Fz₂, Fz₁ was identified as GRF_{peak} . However, in most cases, Fz_1 was lower than Fz_2 . Load_{slope} was defined as the mean rate of Fz rise in percentage of body weight (%BW \cdot s⁻¹) from the instant of foot strike to 80% of GRF_{peak} and reflects the ability to absorb GRF impacts during the initial phase of foot contact. Furthermore, the stride frequency (strides per minute) (S_{freq}) , average knee joint velocity (° s⁻¹) from foot strike to GRF_{peak} (V_{mean}) , time from foot strike to GRF_{peak} ($T_{\text{peak GRF}}$), and time for the entire stance phase (T_{stance}) were determined.

EMG recording and analysis. Bipolar surface EMG signals were obtained from selected knee extensor and flexor muscles (vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM), biceps femoris (BF), and semitendinosus (ST)) during stair descent and were subsequently normalized to the maximal EMG signal amplitude recorded during an MVC. MVC for the quadriceps and hamstring muscles were performed in a sitting position as maximal isometric extensor or flexor contractions, respectively. The hip was flexed at 90°, and the knee angle was in 60° of extension. Strong verbal encouragement was given during every contraction to promote maximal voluntary effort. EMG signals



were obtained according to procedures reported elsewhere (18.38) and in agreement with SENIAM recommendations (www.SENIAM.org) using Ag/AgCl surface electrodes (Blue Sensor M, M-00-S/50; Ambu, Ballerup, Denmark) with a 20-mm interelectrode distance. Before placing the electrodes, the skin was shaved and cleaned with alcohol to reduce electrode-skin impedance. EMG electrodes were directly connected to small custom-built preamplifiers taped to the skin. The EMG signals were transmitted through shielded wires to a custom-built differential instrumentation amplifier with a frequency response of 10-10,000 Hz and a common-mode rejection ratio >100 dB. An amplifier gain of 400 (52 dB) was used and included analog highpass (10 Hz) and low-pass filtering (550 Hz), respectively. Signal-to-noise ratio exceeded 55 dB. All EMG signals were synchronously sampled at a 1000-Hz sampling rate along with the goniometer and force plate signals. During subsequent analysis, any potential DC offset was removed from the raw EMG signals by linear detrending, and subsequently, the signals were digitally high-pass-filtered at the 5-Hz cutoff frequency, followed by full-wave rectification and low-pass filtering at the 10-Hz cutoff frequency (2). All filtering routines used fourth-order zero-lag Butterworth filters. Finally, all EMG signals were normalized to their peak EMG amplitude during MVC. Neuromuscular activity was calculated as the mean normalized EMG amplitude during the loading slope phase (Actload) and at peak GRF (Actpeak GRF; mean in a 20-ms time interval before the instant of GRF_{peak}).

As described by Larsen et al. (18), the magnitude of agonist–antagonist muscle coactivation was calculated as the magnitude of relative normalized signal overlapping (common EMG – signal area) for two EMG signals, namely, EMG_a and EMG_b, relative to the total EMG signal area calculated in a given time interval.

coactivation =
$$\frac{\text{Jmin}\{\text{EMG}_a, \text{EMG}_b\} dt}{\text{Jmax}\{\text{EMG}_a, \text{EMG}_b\} dt}$$

Muscle coactivation was calculated for the whole thigh and separately for the lateral and medial parts of the thigh, respectively, during the loading slope phase (Coact_{load}: from the instant of foot strike to 80% GRF_{peak}) and at peak GRF (Coact_{peakGRF}; mean in a 20-ms time interval before the instant of GRF_{peak}).

In addition, to investigate the distribution of medial versus lateral muscle activity, we also calculated mean medial ((VM + ST)/2) and mean lateral ((VL + BF)/2) neuromuscular activity, respectively, in the leg operated on and non-operated leg of the patients and for the left/right leg of the controls during the initial weight acceptance phase (loading slope phase) and at GRF_{peak} (mean in a 20-ms time interval before the instant of GRF_{peak}).

Statistical analysis. The Student's unpaired *t*-test and the Mann–Whitney test were used to compare subject characteristics between patients and controls as appropriate. Furthermore, the Student's paired *t*-test was used to



TABLE 1. Characteristics of subjects.

	Patients ($n = 22$)	Controls $(n = 26)$
Subjects, male/female, n	15/7	16/10
Time since surgery (months)	$20.7~\pm~6.6$	N/A
Age (yr)	45.4 ± 5.1	45.6 ± 6.1
Height (cm)	174.3 ± 7.1	174.9 ± 8.1
Weight (kg)	77.3 ± 15.4	$78.6~\pm~16.8$
BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	25.4 ± 4.1	25.6 ± 4.7
KOOS, pain	81.0 ± 18.4 ^a	97.2 ± 4.6
Self-reported comorbidities		
1–2 musculoskeletal, ^b n	10	9
1–2 general, ^b n	6	6

Values are means \pm SD.

^a Significantly different from controls, P < 0.001.

^b Self-reported comorbidities that subjects were either treated for and/or did not impose any limitation on participation in the study. Musculoskeletal comorbidities reported other than knee problems: joint problems and back pain. General comorbidities reported high blood pressure, diabetes, ulcer, heart problems, and depression.

evaluate differences between medial and lateral muscle activity within the different legs (i.e., operated on, nonoperated, and control legs). A mixed linear model (26) was used to evaluate differences between legs in the kinematic, kinetic, and EMG variables of interest with "subject" as random effect and "leg" (i.e., leg operated on and nonoperated leg for the patients and the left and the right legs of the controls) as fixed effect. If data did not follow the Gaussian distribution, they were log-transformed before analysis but are still presented as non-log-transformed means. Correlation analysis was performed using Spearman ρ to examine the relationship between the magnitude of selfreported pain in patients and the outcome variables obtained in the leg operated on that were significantly different from those of the nonoperated leg or controls. Stata 10.1 (Statacorp, College Station, TX) was used for all statistical analyses, with a prespecified level of significance = 0.05.

RESULTS

A total of 31 patients and 31 controls were ultimately examined. A detailed explanation of the recruitment flow has previously been published (37). Because of equipment malfunction on two consecutive testing days, five patients and five controls had to be excluded from this analysis. Furthermore, four patients reported knee injuries to the contralateral knee (which had previously not been reported). These patients were also excluded. Thus, data are presented for the remaining 22 patients and 26 controls. The characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. Patients and controls were similar in all variables, except patients reported more knee pain than controls (P < 0.001; Table 1).

Kinematic and kinetic variables. No differences were observed between patients and controls in ROM, movement speed, and GRF variables. However, patients showed a reduced stance phase (T_{stance}) when stepping out on the force plate on the operated leg compared with the nonoperated leg (*post hoc* test, P = 0.01). In support, there was a tendency for increased stride frequency (S_{freq}) in trials where patients performed the stair descent transition step using the operated leg compared with the nonoperated leg (Table 2).

Neuromuscular activity and muscle coactivation.

No differences were observed in level of activation among the operated, nonoperated, and control legs (Fig. 2). Patients displayed less activity in the medial hamstring muscle (ST) compared with the lateral (BF) hamstrings muscles in the operated and nonoperated legs. This pattern of lower medial versus hamstring muscle activity was also observed in controls. Furthermore, patients showed increased medial (VM) versus lateral (VL) muscle activity at peak GRF (Act_{neak GRF}) in the nonoperated leg ($P \leq 0.05$), along with a tendency toward reduced medial (VM) versus lateral activity (VL) in the operated leg (Fig. 2). No differences in medial versus lateral muscle activity were observed for the quadriceps muscle in controls. The magnitude of muscle coactivation was similar in patients and controls. However, controls showed a tendency to a higher level of coactivation compared with patients in the medial part of the thigh during the loading slope phase (Fig. 3).

Medial versus lateral leg muscle activity. No differences were observed in mean medial (VM + ST) versus mean lateral (VL + BF) muscle activity among the operated, nonoperated, and control legs (Fig. 4). However, in meniscectomized legs, the mean neuromuscular activity was lower in the medial compared with the lateral thigh muscles during the loading slope phase ($P \le 0.05$) and at GRF_{peak} ($P \le 0.01$) (Fig. 4). In contrast, no mediolateral differences in overall thigh muscle activity were observed for the non-operated leg or in control legs (Fig. 4).

Relationship between patient-reported pain and selected variables. Correlation analysis was performed between KOOS pain score and duration of the stance phase (T_{stance}) and mean medial (VM + ST) muscle activity during the loading slope phase and at GRF_{peak}, respectively. A negative relationship was observed between KOOS pain

TABLE 2	. Kinematic and I	kinetic variables	during t	he transition	from stair	descent to I	evel
walking.			-				

	Patients			
	Operated Leg (n = 22)	Nonoperated Leg (<i>n</i> = 22)	Controls $(n = 26, 52 \text{ Legs})$	P
Knee joint position				
Angle _{foot strike} (°)	11.5 ± 1.5	11.4 ± 1.5	10.4 ± 1.2	0.82
Angle _{toe-off} (°)	54.3 ± 1.40	55.8 ± 1.4	53.7 ± 1.0	0.44
ROM _{stance} (°)	42.9 ± 1.1	$44.3~\pm~1.1$	$43.4~\pm~0.9$	0.42
ROM _{weight} (°)	20.8 ± 1.0	22.4 ± 1.0	21.2 ± 0.8	0.22
Movement speed				
S_{treg} (stride per minute)	68.0 ± 2.8	$65.7~\pm~2.8$	61.6 ± 2.5	0.07
V_{mean} (°·s ⁻¹)	130.1 ± 10.0	148.5 ± 10.0	138.5 ± 7.4	0.26
T _{peak GBF} (ms)	109.4 ± 6.7	107.8 ± 6.7	106.8 ± 5.3	0.94
T _{stance} (ms)	657 ± 22^{a}	679 ± 22	677 ± 19	0.04
GRF				
GRF _{neak} (%BW)	163.4 ± 4.8	169.8 ± 4.8	160.3 ± 4.0	0.12
$\log (\% RW/s^{-1})$	1066 + 161	2135 ± 161	1001 + 136	0.32

Values are means ± SE; mixed linear model. *P* value indicates main effect of "leg". Angle_{foot strike}, knee angle at foot strike; Angle_{toe-off}, knee angle at toe-off; GRF_{peak}, peak GRF; Load_{slope}, loading slope; ROM_{stance}, difference between knee angle foot strike and toe-off, range of motion during stance phase; ROM_{weight}, difference between knee angle foot strike and maximal knee flexion during weight acceptance, range of motion during weight acceptance; S_{treq}, stride frequency; *T*_{peak GRF}, time foot strike to peak GRF; *T*_{stance}, time entire stance phase; *V*_{mean}, knee angular velocity from foot strike to peak GRF. ^a Significant difference between the operated and nonoperated leg of the patient, *post hoc* test. *P* < 0.05.



FIGURE 2—Level of activation in percentage of MVC measured in the transition phase between stair descent and level walking for the operated leg (*black bars*) and nonoperated leg (*gray bars*) of the patients and the left/right leg of the controls (*white bars*), during the loading phase (Act_{load}) and at peak GRF (Act_{peak GRF}; mean in a preceding 20-ms time interval) for the vastus lateralis (VL), vastus medialis (VM), biceps femoris (BF), and semitendinosus (ST). Values are means \pm SE. *Significantly different from lateral side (VL or BF), $P \le 0.05$. **Significantly different from lateral side (VL or BF), $P \le 0.01$. (*) Tendency for difference compared with lateral side (VL or BF), $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$.

and T_{stance} ($r_s = -0.47$, P = 0.03), whereas no relationship was observed between self-reported pain and medial muscle activity.

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current study was to examine whether altered patterns of neuromuscular activity and agonist– antagonist muscle coactivation could be identified in middle-aged meniscectomized patients at high risk of future knee OA between the operated and nonoperated legs and compared with healthy controls. Such alterations could potentially affect knee joint kinetics and kinematics and hence influence the development of OA. We did not observe the hypothesized differences between patients and controls, but we observed a shorter stance phase (T_{stance}) in the meniscectomized leg compared with the nonoperated leg in patients. Furthermore, lower neuromuscular activity was observed in



FIGURE 3—Level of coactivation for the operated leg (*black bars*) and nonoperated leg (*gray bars*) of the patients (n = 22) and the left/right leg of the controls (n = 26) (*white bars*), during the loading slope phase (Coact_{load}) and at peak GRF (Coact_{peak GRF}; mean in a preceding 20-ms time interval) calculated for the whole thigh (VM + VL vs BF + ST), lateral part of the thigh (VL vs BF), and the medial part of the thigh (VM vs ST). Values are means \pm SE. (*) Tendency for the main effect of "leg" among operated, nonoperated, and control legs, $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$.

the medial (mean VM + ST) compared with the lateral (mean VL + BF) thigh muscles in the meniscectomized leg of patients. This may represent early changes in neuromuscular control in the initial state of knee OA development.

Previous studies on patients with knee OA have reported increased levels of leg muscle coactivation (14,15,19,32), altered medial versus lateral muscle activation (11,16,17), and increased knee adduction moment (3,19) during gait and stair ascent/descent. It is not clear whether these changes are a consequence of knee OA or precede the disease. Several studies have been conducted on the biomechanics of gait and stair ascent/descent (4,6,21,22,35,36) and changes in neuromuscular activity (6,10,21,22) in meniscectomized patients. However, the above studies either involved younger patients with traumatic meniscal tears (4,6,21,22) and/ or patients soon after surgery, thus representing early postsurgical recovery (6,10,22,35,36). Observed deficiencies, therefore, might not only have been due to the meniscal tear per se but may also have been due to the surgical procedure itself (6,22,35,36). In the current study, middle-aged patients were examined ~21 months after meniscectomy of degenerative tears to represent patients in a "preosteoarthritis" state (7,8) while considered to be fully rehabilitated after surgery.

In contrast to our expectations, no differences in any knee joint kinetic and kinematic variables were observed between patients and controls. Likewise, no differences emerged in knee ROM (ROM_{stance} and ROM_{weight}), knee joint position (Anglefoot strike and Angletoe-off), or GRF between the operated and nonoperated legs of the patients (Table 2). Nevertheless, a reduced T_{stance} (~3%) was observed in meniscectomized legs compared with nonoperated legs. Thus, our hypotheses of an altered kinetic and kinematic profile in meniscectomized patients were only partially confirmed by the current data, but differences were only evident between the operated and nonoperated legs of the patients. The finding of a 3% reduced T_{stance} during the stairto-ground transition phase in the meniscectomized leg compared with nonoperated leg is probably of limited clinical significance, although it potentially reflects a greater



Figure 4—Lateral (VL + BF) versus medial (VM + ST) mean muscle activity for the operated leg (*black bars*) and nonoperated leg (*gray bars*) of the patients (n = 22) and the left/right leg of the controls (n = 26) (*white bars*) during initial weight acceptance (loading slope phase) and at GRF_{peak} (mean in a preceding 20-ms time interval). Values are means ± SE. Significant difference compared with mean lateral muscle activity, * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$.

reliance on the unaffected limb during stair descent. However, the finding of a negative relationship between pain and the duration of the stance phase in the operated leg (i.e., more pain was associated with a longer stance phase) indicates that a useful strategy to minimize pain during stair descent in this population is by producing a given amount of kinetic impulse (momentum) using an extended time of contact (*t*) and thereby reduce the magnitude of contact force (*F*) exerted in the knee joint (since Δ momentum = *Ft*). Thus, the above relationship may be a sign of pain contributing to an asymmetric movement pattern in an attempt to reduce knee joint load.

It was expected that meniscectomized patients would demonstrate altered patterns of neuromuscular control including increased muscle coactivation, which have been suggested to affect knee ROM. However, contrary to our expectations, knee ROM did not differ between patients and controls, but patients tended to have lower muscle coactivation in the medial part of the thigh than controls during the weight acceptance phase (Fig. 3).

In the current study, neuromuscular activity was generally lower (~50%) in the medial (ST) versus lateral (BF) hamstring muscles in both legs of the patients. A similar pattern was observed in controls (~40% lower medial activity), indicating that this represents a general and normal pattern of hamstring activity during stair descent (Fig. 2). Clinicians often observe medial quadriceps (VM) atrophy and neuromuscular deficits after knee injury and delayed VM versus VL muscle activity onset has been reported in patients with patellofemoral pain (5). Our results seems to support this notion because neuromuscular activity tended to be lower in the medial (VM) compared with the lateral (VL) quadriceps in meniscectomized legs at GRF_{peak} .

The current study also investigated the distribution of overall medial versus lateral muscle activity because skewed

patterns of medial versus lateral muscle activity could potentially affect knee control/function and joint stability. No differences were observed between mean medial (VM + ST)and mean lateral (VL + BF) muscle activity among the operated, nonoperated, and control legs. However, we observed reduced ($\sim 20\%$) medial compared with lateral mean muscle activity in meniscectomized legs. In contrast, no differences in medial versus lateral muscle activity were observed in the nonoperated legs of patients or in controls. Increased levels of lateral muscle activity have previously been observed in patients with knee OA compared with controls (11,16), increasing with OA severity (17). This likely represents a neuromuscular strategy to reduce knee adduction moment and decrease medial knee joint compartment loading (11). Thus, the reduction in medial muscle activity currently observed in meniscectomized legs could reflect a strategy to decrease compression forces in the medial compartment of the knee joint. The specific effect of attenuated medial muscle activity on biomechanical knee joint loading profile and specifically on the knee adduction moment, which is often used as a surrogate measure for medial knee compartment joint loading (24,31,40) and is associated with medial knee OA severity (33), currently remains unknown. Recently, Netravali et al. (23) reported that patients meniscectomized for medial meniscal tears in the posterior part of the meniscus (similar to the present patients) showed increased external rotation of the tibia throughout the stance phase during walking. The presence of such a gait pattern is likely to affect knee joint stability and could be an alternative explanation for the altered medial versus lateral muscle activity in the meniscectomized legs in this study.

The patients examined in the current study self-reported elevated levels of knee pain compared with populationbased controls. Increased pain feedback may be a contributor to the reduced medial muscle activity. Pain has also been suggested to be a contributing factor in arthrogenic muscle inhibition (AMI) (25) resulting in reduced motor drive to the muscles surrounding an injured joint (13). Henriksen et al. (12) recently reported reduced levels of muscle activity in response to experimentally induced VM muscle pain during a forward lunge. However, in the present study, we observed no relationship between pain and reduced medial muscle activity indicating that pain was probably not the main cause of the observed alterations in neuromuscular activity during stair descent.

We recently reported no differences in maximal muscle strength between the operated and nonoperated legs of the same patients as the present study (37), indicating that changes/asymmetries in neuromuscular activity potentially precede the occurrence of future strength deficits/asymmetries in this population of patients. In the current study, the relatively modest limb-to-limb differences observed in patients may be due to the relatively short time interval between surgery and testing (i.e., ~2 yr), and thus, the potential development of knee OA may not have progressed as much as in patients studied at later time points. Furthermore, this may also explain the current lack of gross systematic differences in neuromuscular activity and kinetic gait profile between patients and controls since early changes may manifest first as asymmetries between the operated and nonoperated leg of the patients, potentially leading to bilateral differences at more progressed stages toward knee OA.

The current study has limitations. First, this was a crosssectional study. Thus, the underlying cause of the observed changes and the effect on knee OA development remains speculative. Second, in the current study, we used GRF as an indicator of knee joint loading; however, this measure may not reflect the actual magnitude of bone-on-bone contact forces exerted in the knee joint. Third, five patients and five controls were excluded because of equipment malfunction. These participants may have performed differently from the included participants. However, this is unlikely because both the excluded patients and the controls were highly similar to the rest of the participants (i.e., age, height, weight).

CONCLUSIONS

The hypothesized reduction in knee ROM, movement speed, and altered GRF kinetics and neuromuscular activity between patients and controls could not be confirmed.

REFERENCES

- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Andersen JL, Magnusson P, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Increased rate of force development and neural drive of human skeletal muscle following resistance training. *J Appl Physiol.* 2002;93:1318–26.
- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Andersen JL, Magnusson SP, Halkjaer-Kristensen J, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Neural inhibition during maximal eccentric and concentric quadriceps contraction: effects of resistance training. *J Appl Physiol.* 2000;89:2249–57.
- Astephen JL, Deluzio KJ, Caldwell GE, Dunbar MJ. Biomechanical changes at the hip, knee, and ankle joints during gait are associated with knee osteoarthritis severity. *J Orthop Res.* 2008;26: 332–41.
- Bulgheroni P, Bulgheroni MV, Ronga M, Manelli A. Gait analysis of pre- and post-meniscectomy knee: a prospective study. *Knee*. 2007;14:472–7.
- Chester R, Smith TO, Sweeting D, Dixon J, Wood S, Song F. The relative timing of VMO and VL in the aetiology of anterior knee pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2008;9:64.
- Durand A, Richards CL, Malouin F, Bravo G. Motor recovery after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Analyses of gait and the ascent and descent of stairs. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1993;75:202–14.
- 7. Englund M. The role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis genesis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* 2008;34:573–9.
- Englund M, Lohmander LS. Meniscectomy and osteoarthritis: what is the cause and what is the effect? *Future Rheumatol*. 2006;1:207–15.
- Ericsson YB, Dahlberg LE, Roos EM. Effects of functional exercise training on performance and muscle strength after meniscectomy: a randomized trial. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2009;19: 156–65.

However, we observed a shorter stance phase in meniscectomized legs during the transition step between stair descent and level walking along with lower medial leg muscle activity in the meniscectomized leg. These findings support the hypothesis that meniscectomized patients demonstrate early modulations in kinematics and neuromuscular activity, which may represent a strategy to reduce knee joint pain. Further, the present study findings also indicate that training/ rehabilitation of meniscectomized patients should focus also on neuromuscular control of the hamstring and quadriceps muscles and not rely entirely on muscle strength development alone. The current findings may represent an initial stage in the possible chain of events leading to knee OA in meniscectomized patients. The exact mechanisms of these changes and their effect on knee adduction moment and knee OA development remain unknown and warrant further investigation. Future studies should examine whether the observed biomechanical and neuromuscular changes are exacerbated in patients with a longer postsurgery time interval (i.e., representing patients at a more progressed state of knee OA development).

This study was supported by The Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of Southern Denmark.

The results of the present study do not constitute any endorsement by the American College of Sports Medicine.

- Glatthorn JF, Berendts AM, Bizzini M, Munzinger U, Maffiuletti NA. Neuromuscular function after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2010;468:1336–43.
- Heiden TL, Lloyd DG, Ackland TR. Knee joint kinematics, kinetics and muscle co-contraction in knee osteoarthritis patient gait. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon).* 2009;24:833–41.
- Henriksen M, Alkjaer T, Simonsen EB, Bliddal H. Experimental muscle pain during a forward lunge—the effects on knee joint dynamics and electromyographic activity. *Br J Sports Med.* 2009; 43:503–7.
- Hopkins JT, Ingersoll CD. Arthrogenic muscle inhibition: a limiting factor in joint rehabilitation. J Sports Rehab. 2000;9:135–59.
- Hortobagyi T, Westerkamp L, Beam S, et al. Altered hamstring– quadriceps muscle balance in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. 2005;20:97–104.
- Hubley-Kozey C, Deluzio K, Dunbar M. Muscle co-activation patterns during walking in those with severe knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon).* 2008;23:71–80.
- Hubley-Kozey CL, Deluzio KJ, Landry SC, McNutt JS, Stanish WD. Neuromuscular alterations during walking in persons with moderate knee osteoarthritis. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2006;16: 365–78.
- Hubley-Kozey CL, Hill NA, Rutherford DJ, Dunbar MJ, Stanish WD. Co-activation differences in lower limb muscles between asymptomatic controls and those with varying degrees of knee osteoarthritis during walking. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. 2009; 24:407–14.
- Larsen AH, Puggaard L, Hamalainen U, Aagaard P. Comparison of ground reaction forces and antagonist muscle coactivation during stair walking with ageing. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2008;18: 568–80.

- Lewek MD, Rudolph KS, Snyder-Mackler L. Control of frontal plane knee laxity during gait in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2004;12:745–51.
- Liikavainio T, Lyytinen T, Tyrvainen E, Sipila S, Arokoski JP. Physical function and properties of quadriceps femoris muscle in men with knee osteoarthritis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2008;89: 2185–94.
- Magyar OM, Illyes A, Knoll Z, Kiss RM. Effect of medial meniscectomy on gait parameters. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2008;16:427–33.
- Moffet H, Richards CL, Malouin F, Bravo G. Impact of knee extensor strength deficits on stair ascent performance in patients after medial meniscectomy. *Scand J Rehabil Med.* 1993;25:63–71.
- Netravali NA, Giori NJ, Andriacchi TP. Partial medial meniscectomy and rotational differences at the knee during walking. *J Biomech*. 2010;43(15):2948–53.
- Noyes FR, Schipplein OD, Andriacchi TP, Saddemi SR, Weise M. The anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee with varus alignment: an analysis of gait adaptations and dynamic joint loadings. *Am J Sports Med.* 1992;20:707–16.
- Palmieri-Smith RM, Thomas ACA. Neuromuscular mechanism of posttraumatic osteoarthritis associated with ACL injury. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2009;37(3):147–53.
- Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. Multilevel and Longitudinal Modelling Using Stata. College Station (TX): Stata Press; 2008. p. 49–91.
- Risberg MA, Holm I, Myklebust G, Engebretsen L. Neuromuscular training versus strength training during first 6 months after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a randomized clinical trial. *Phys Ther.* 2007;87:737–50.
- Roos EM, Roos HP, Ekdahl C, Lohmander LS. Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)—validation of a Swedish version. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 1998;8:439–48.
- Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS, Ekdahl C, Beynnon BD. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)—development of a self-administered outcome measure. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 1998;28:88–96.
- 30. Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang MH, Fossel AH, Katz JN. The Self-

Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2003;49:156–63.

- Schipplein OD, Andriacchi TP. Interaction between active and passive knee stabilizers during level walking. J Orthop Res. 1991;9:113–9.
- Schmitt LC, Rudolph KS. Muscle stabilization strategies in people with medial knee osteoarthritis: the effect of instability. *J Orthop Res.* 2008;26:1180–5.
- Sharma L, Hurwitz DE, Thonar EJ, et al. Knee adduction moment, serum hyaluronan level, and disease severity in medial tibiofemoral osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1998;41:1233–40.
- Steultjens MP, Dekker J, van Baar ME, Oostendorp RA, Bijlsma JW. Muscle strength, pain and disability in patients with osteoarthritis. *Clin Rehabil*. 2001;15:331–41.
- Sturnieks DL, Besier TF, Hamer PW, et al. Knee strength and knee adduction moments following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2008;40(6):991–7.
- Sturnieks DL, Besier TF, Mills PM, et al. Knee joint biomechanics following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *J Orthop Res.* 2008; 26:1075–80.
- Thorlund JB, Aagaard P, Roos EM. Thigh muscle strength, functional capacity, and self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee osteoarthritis compared with controls. *Arthritis Care Res* (*Hoboken*). 2010;62:1244–51.
- Thorlund JB, Michalsik LB, Madsen K, Aagaard P. Acute fatigue– induced changes in muscle mechanical properties and neuromuscular activity in elite handball players following a handball match. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2008;18:462–72.
- van der Esch M, Steultjens M, Harlaar J, Knol D, Lems W, Dekker J. Joint proprioception, muscle strength, and functional ability in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2007;57: 787–93.
- Zhao D, Banks SA, Mitchell KH, D'Lima DD, Colwell CW Jr, Fregly BJ. Correlation between the knee adduction torque and medial contact force for a variety of gait patterns. *J Orthop Res.* 2007;25:789–97.

Paper III

Muscle strength and functional performance in patients at high risk of knee osteoarthritis: A Follow-up Study

Jonas Bloch Thorlund¹ MSc; Per Aagaard¹ PhD; Ewa M. Roos¹ PT, PhD

¹Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Campusvej 55, 5230 Odense M, Denmark.

The study was supported by The Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of

Southern Denmark

Word count: 3264

Level of evidence: III

Address for reprints and corresponding author:

Jonas Bloch Thorlund

Institute for Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics

University of Southern Denmark

Campusvej 55

5230 Odense M, Denmark

Phone: +45 6550 3894

Fax: +45 6550 3480

Email: jthorlund@health.sdu.dk

Key words: Knee Joint, Osteoarthritis, KOOS, longitudinal, neuromuscular

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To investigate if changes from 2 to 4 years post arthroscopic partial meniscectomy (APM) in mechanical muscle function and objectively measured function differ between the operated and contra-lateral leg of APM patients or compared with controls.

Methods: Twenty-two patients (age 46.6 ± 5.0 , BMI 24.7 ± 2.9) and 25 controls (age 46.4 ± 5.2 , BMI 25.1 ± 4.6) previously examined at ~2 years post APM were examined again at ~4 years post surgery for maximal knee extensor/flexor voluntary contraction (MVC) and rapid force capacity. Functional performance was assessed by the distance achieved during a one-leg hop test and the maximum number of knee bends performed in 30 seconds. The Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) was used to evaluate self-reported outcomes.

Results: Overall changes from 2 to 4 years post APM did not differ in maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or control legs. However, secondary analysis showed a difference in change in knee extensor MVC resulting in a 6% difference between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients at follow-up.

Conclusions: No differences in longitudinal changes were observed from 2 to 4 years post APM between patients and controls. The secondary finding of differential changes over time in knee extensor MVC between the operated and contra-lateral leg partly confirm our hypothesis that differences in muscle strength may evolve from 2 to 4 years post APM. This differential change may represent an initial sign of an evolving lower limb muscle asymmetry, which may play a role in the development of knee OA.

2

INTRODUCTION

Patients undergoing arthroscopic partial meniscectomy (APM) constitute a sub-group of patients with a high risk of developing knee osteoarthritis (OA) [9, 11, 21]. Studies have shown that approximately half of the patients show radiographic signs of knee OA 10-15 years after meniscectomy [11, 26, 27]. Meniscus tears are often categorized as either traumatic or degenerative tears. Traumatic tears are typically observed in an otherwise 'healthy' meniscus of younger active individuals in relation to a sports related trauma [22]. Degenerative tears are observed in the middle-aged (35-55 years) and older population and are described as horizontal cleavages, flap tears or complex tears but the etiology is unclear [22]. Degenerative meniscus tears have been suggested to be associated with incipient OA and/or represent early-stage OA in the middle-aged population [8, 10]. Thus, patients undergoing meniscus surgery for symptomatic degenerative tears constitute a model to study the state prior to knee osteoarthritis.

Reduced muscle strength has been suggested as one of the modifiable risk factors for knee OA [17, 28, 29, 39]. Previous studies of maximal muscle strength in meniscectomized patients have reported large short-term (0-6 months) fluctuations and different levels of recovery [7, 15, 16, 20, 31-33]. However, previous study populations have been rather heterogeneous including patients with different combinations of medial/lateral and traumatic/degenerative meniscus tears making data interpretation difficult. Furthermore, short-term recovery (0-6 months) may primarily be a sign of recovery from the surgery induced trauma rather than reflecting recovery from the meniscus tear *per se*.
Various aspects of mechanical muscle function and self-reported pain and function have recently been investigated in a homogenous group of patients ~2 years after surgery for medial symptomatic degenerative meniscus tears [36]. Despite patients self-reporting pain and reduced function no differences in mechanical muscle function were observed in the operated leg compared with the contra-lateral leg or when compared with population-based controls [36]. In contrast, two previous studies with similar patients reported a bilateral difference >20% in maximal muscle strength between patients and controls [4] and a moderate difference of ~9% in muscle strength and objectively measured function between the operated and the contra-lateral leg 4 years post APM [13].

These discrepancies in muscle strength deficits between studies may be explained by differences in post-surgery time intervals and thus the potential development of knee OA may not have progressed as dramatically at 2 years vs. 4 years post APM.

The aim of the present follow-up study was to investigate if changes from 2 to 4 years post APM in maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and objectively measured function would differ between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or compared with population-based controls. It was hypothesized that differences would evolve in maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and objectively measured function from 2 to 4 years post APM between the operated and contra-lateral leg and compared to controls. Deterioration in muscle strength and functional performance between years 2 and 4 post APM could reveal a potential window of opportunity for knee OA prevention strategies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Details about the baseline recruitment process, flow chart and inclusion/exclusion criteria at 2 years post APM have previously been reported [36]. In short, patients 35-55 years old at time of surgery, who had undergone APM for a medial meniscus tear in the posterior half of the meniscus in the years 2006 and 2007 were identified through the surgical code system from two different hospitals. The age criteria was set to include a majority of patients with degenerative meniscus tears but without knee OA. Exclusion criteria; misclassified by the surgical code system, previous knee ligament injury, severe cartilage changes defined as deep clefts or visible bone at APM and self-reported comorbidities limiting participation in the study. Age and gender matched controls from the same geographic area as the patients, were identified through the Danish Civil Registration System. Exclusion criteria; previous knee surgery and/or ligament injury and self-reported co-morbidities limiting participation in the study.

All participants included at baseline (31 patients and 31 controls) received a written invitation to participate in the follow-up examination. If participants failed to reply to the invitation they were contacted by phone. The baseline and follow-up examination were conducted 21.6 ± 5.1 and 49.6 ± 5.0 (means±SD) months following time of APM, respectively.

Outcome measures

Muscle strength testing

Following a standardized warm-up and preconditioning procedure, maximal voluntary isometric contraction strength (MVC) was measured in an isokinetic dynamometer

(KinCom; Kinetic Communicator 500H, Chattecx Corp., Hixson, TN, USA) for the knee extensors and knee flexors at a 70° knee joint angle (0°=full knee extension, best of three trials) according to previously published procedures [1, 36, 37]. The dynamometer force signal was recorded as previously reported [36, 37], and multiplied with the lever arm (i.e. the distance from the axis of rotation to the fore transducer) to calculate joint torques (N m). All measurements were corrected for the effect of gravity [2] and normalized to body mass [5]. Visual feedback of the dynamometer torque output was provided to the subjects on a computer screen after each trial [18]. The reliability and validity of the KinCom dynamometer have previously been verified in detail elsewhere [14, 30].

In addition, the average slope (Δ torque/ Δ time) at time points 0-30, 50, 100 and 200 milliseconds (ms) (0 ms = onset of contraction) of the torque-time curves were analyzed to evaluate the capacity for rapid force production (i.e. rate of force development – RFD) in the initial phase of contraction. These time intervals have previously been used to assess RFD in the initial phase of muscle contraction in healthy [1, 37] as well as in surgical patients [34].

Functional capacity tests

Two tests, the one-leg hop test [35] and the maximal number of single-legged knee bends subjects were able to perform within 30 s [23] were used to assess functional performance. Both tests have previously been shown to be valid and reliable in meniscectomized patients [6]. Testing procedures where identical to the baseline assessment [36].

The operated and the contra-lateral leg of the patients as well as the left and right leg of the controls, were assessed during muscle strength and functional capacity testing.

Self-reported outcomes

The Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) was filled out prior to all other measurements and physical tests. The KOOS is a knee specific questionnaire used to assess knee related pain, symptoms, function during activities of daily living (ADL) and sport and recreation function (Sport/Rec) as well as quality of life (QOL) [25]. A normalized score is calculated for each subscale (0 indicating extreme symptoms and 100 indicating no symptoms). The KOOS score has been validated for meniscectomized patients and has shown high test-retest reproducibility [24, 25].

Other descriptive measures:

At baseline, anthropometrics and hand grip strength were measured and maximal oxygen uptake was estimated using Åstrands Nomogram [3] as previously described [36]. Informed consent form was signed at baseline and follow-up and the study procedures were approved by the ethics committee of the Region of Southern Denmark (ID: S-20080044). All procedures were identical at both examinations and the order of test-leg was randomized for both groups (i.e. operated/contra-lateral in the patients and left/right in the controls). The examiner was not blinded to group allocation (i.e. patient/control) but patients wore non-supportive knee bandages on both legs to conceal which leg was the operated leg.

Statistical analysis: Students unpaired t-test and chi-squared test were used as appropriate to compare baseline characteristics of patients and controls that completed all examinations at both time points.

The Mann-Whitney test was used to assess differences in self-reported outcomes (i.e. KOOS scores) between patients and controls at follow-up and between participants (i.e. patients and controls, respectively) included in the present analyses and those who did only reply the questionnaires.

No differences were detected between the left and right leg of the controls in any of the physical tests. Thus, left and right legs were collapsed into 'control legs'. To detect differences in changes between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs in maximal knee extensor/flexor strength and functional performance mixed linear models were used with 'subject' as random effect and 'leg' (i.e. operated, contra-lateral and control legs) as fixed effect. Changes in RFD at 0-30, 50, 100 and 200 ms, respectively were analyzed using a mixed linear model with 'subject' and 'side' as random effects (i.e. repeated nested measurements on each leg of the subjects) and 'leg' as fixed effect. The variable 'side' was added to the analysis to account for the within leg variation between the left/right legs of controls. All models were adjusted for baseline values and age and sex were introduced as covariates in the model to adjust for potential confounding.

Stata 10.1 (Statacorp, College Station, TX, USA) was used for all statistical analyses, using a pre-specified level of significance = 0.05.

RESULTS

Four patients (2 men/2 women) and 3 controls (3 men) had dropped out at the follow-up examination (Patients: 1 due to back injury, 3 unable to contact; Controls: 2 due to lack of time, 1 unable to contact). Overall, no differences were observed in characteristics (age, BMI and VO₂-max) of patients (n=4) and controls (n=3) that dropped out compared

8

to those who were available for follow up at 4 years post APM. However, controls that dropped out demonstrated a higher hand grip strength $(51.5\pm7.3 \text{ vs. } 36.6\pm7.7 \text{ kg} \text{ [means}\pm\text{SD]}, p=0.003).$

Furthermore, 5 patients (1 man/4 women) and 3 controls (2 men/1 woman) were only able/willing to reply the KOOS questionnaire and did not participate in the physical examination (Patients: 1 moved to another country, 1 due to back injury, 1 due to depression, 1 scheduled for knee replacement, 1 due to recent surgery for hernia; Controls: 2 due to lack of time, 1 due to joint pain). Patients that only answered the questionnaire (n=5) self-reported more pain (78.3 \pm 12.3 vs. 90.3 \pm 13.2 [means \pm SD], p=0.03), more symptoms (71.4 \pm 13.1 vs. 90.7 \pm 10.1, p=0.004), impaired ADL (82.1 \pm 12.8 vs. 94.5 \pm 9.4, p=0.03) and reduced Sport/Rec function (45.0 \pm 33.0 vs. 84.5 \pm 20.8, 0.01) together with a tendency towards reduced QOL (57.5 \pm 27.0 vs. 78.7 \pm 16.7, p=0.08) than patients completing the 4 year follow up (n=22). Contrary, there were no difference in any KOOS subscale scores between controls participating in the physical examination (n=25) and those who only replied the questionnaire (n=3).

Data for the remaining 22 patients and 25 controls are used in the analysis in the present study. No differences were observed in any of the baseline characteristics between patients and controls except for hand grip strength (Table 1).

Maximal muscle strength, RFD and functional performance

At the baseline examination no differences were observed between the operated and contra-lateral legs of patients or when compared with controls in maximal isometric knee extensor/flexor strength, overall RFD or functional performance (Table 2).

A tendency towards a difference in change from baseline to follow-up was observed between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs in knee extensor MVC (p=0.09). Secondary analysis showed a significant difference (p=0.04) in change in knee extensor MVC from baseline to follow-up when comparing only the operated and contralateral legs of patients. No differences in change were observed between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs in knee flexor MVC or functional performance (Table 2).

No differences in change from baseline to follow-up were observed in overall RFD of the knee extensors (Table 3) or flexors (p>0.34, data not shown) between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs.

Self-reported outcomes

At follow-up 4 years post APM patients self-reported reduced knee related QOL compared with controls (78.7 ± 3.6 vs. 90.0 ± 2.7 , p=0.007). Furthermore, there was a tendency towards patients self-reporting more pain (p=0.08) and symptoms (p=0.08) compared to controls whereas no differences were observed in self-reported function (i.e. ADL and Sport/Rec (p>0.18) (Figure 1).

DISCUSSION

The primary finding of the present study was that no overall differences were observed in change over time between patients meniscectomized for degenerative medial meniscus tears and population-based controls in maximal muscle strength, rapid force capacity and functional performance from 2 to 4 years post surgery. However, secondary analysis showed a difference in change over time in patient knee extensor MVC, manifested as an

increase in the contra-lateral leg compared with the operated leg, from 2 to 4 years post APM.

Previous knee injury and impaired muscle strength are considered risk factors for knee OA [19, 28, 29]. A recent study was unable to detect differences in mechanical muscle function between meniscectomized patients considered to be in a "pre-OA" state and population-based controls 2 years post APM [36]. Yet, two previous studies have reported reduced muscle strength in similar patients 4 years post surgery [4, 13]. Thus, this follow-up study was conducted to investigate if strength deficits could evolve between years 2 and 4 post meniscectomy and potentially represent a window of opportunity for interventions to retain strength and potentially slow the development or decrease the risk of knee OA in these patients. No significant differences were observed in longitudinal changes from baseline to follow-up in maximal knee flexor muscle strength, overall rapid force capacity (i.e. RFD) of the knee extensors and flexors or functional performance between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or compared with controls. However, a tendency towards a difference in change from baseline to follow-up was observed between the operated, contra-lateral and control legs in knee extensor MVC (p=0.09). Secondary analysis revealed a significant difference (p=0.04) in change in knee extensor MVC from baseline to follow-up resulting in a 6% difference between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients at follow-up. The observed difference in change was caused by an increase in contra-lateral leg MVC rather than reduced strength of the operated leg. This may be due to increased dependence on the contra-lateral leg. In support of this notion, we recently reported a reduced stance phase in the operated leg compared to the contra-lateral leg in meniscectomized patients

during stair descent indicating greater reliance on the un-injured limb [38]. The finding of a 6% difference between legs is in line with the findings by Ericsson et al. [13] reporting modest differences of 6-9% in maximal knee extensor torque between the operated and contra-lateral leg 4 years post meniscectomy. In contrast, Becker et al. [4] reported a bilateral strength deficit >20% between meniscectomized patients and controls. This discrepancy may be caused by differences in selection of patients/controls. Thus, recruitment per se could be suspected to be a major factor for the divergent results on muscle strength deficits in APM patients. The recruitment process is often sparsely reported. Patient recruitment from a clinical setting or by advertisement may introduce selection bias towards patients with more severe symptoms. In the present study, great care was taken during the initial recruitment process to ensure that patients were representative of a population who had undergone meniscectomy for a degenerative tear [36]. In the study by Becker et al. [4] no information was given on patient recruitment procedures. In addition, none of their patients were engaged in sports or exercise activities and no information on participation in sports was provided for their control subjects. Thus, the reported difference in muscle strength (i.e. >20%) in the study by Becker et al. [4] between patients and controls might be influenced by a higher level of physical activity in the control group. In the current study general muscle strength (hand grip strength) and general fitness (VO₂-max) (i.e. surrogate measures of physical activity) were similar in patients and controls at time of recruitment indicating similar levels of physical activity [36].

A recent study have previously reported initial changes in neuromuscular activity pattern of selected leg muscles between the operated and contra-lateral leg during stair

descent 2 years post APM [38] although no differences in maximal muscle strength were observed [36]. The present observation of differential longitudinal changes in knee extensor MVC partly confirm the hypothesis that deficits in muscle strength may evolve between the operated and contra-lateral leg from 2 to 4 years post APM. Although small in number, the literature supports the clinical relevance. Hootman et al. [17] reported baseline deficits of 7 and 9% in knee extensor strength in men and women, respectively, of similar age as in the present study, self-reporting knee or hip OA 14 years later compared to those who did not. These findings indicate that impairments in muscle strength prior to knee OA may be subtle and that the observed differential change, and evolving asymmetry over time may be an early sign of changes in knee extensor muscle strength prior to knee OA, where especially quadriceps muscle strength has been suggested to play a role [28, 29]. Thus, the present findings suggest that monitoring legto-leg differences in muscle strength over time in the clinic may be important since such differences could be targeted with training interventions which have previously shown to be effective for this type of patients [12].

In the present study patients self-reported worse quality of life together with a tendency towards more pain and symptoms compared to controls. KOOS sub scores however indicated less problems at 4 years post APM compared to 2 years post APM [36] and also when compared to data by Ericsson et al. [13] 4 years post meniscectomy. Patients not performing the physical test but only replying the KOOS questionnaire self-reported worse on all subscales compared to those patients who completed the physical tests, which might explain this discrepancy. The fact that patients not performing the physical tests of the KOOS could potentially

13

decrease the likelihood of detecting differences between the operated and contra-lateral leg of patients or compared with controls. To take this into account, all statistics on muscle strength variables and functional performance were adjusted for values at 2 years post meniscectomy. No difference in KOOS scores were observed between those controls that participated in the physical examination compared to those who only replied to the questionnaire.

The current study has limitations. Due to the strict inclusion/exclusion criteria to include a majority of patients with degenerative tears the present results and conclusions may only apply to these patients and cannot be generalized to younger patients with traumatic tears. Further, drop out of patients and controls occurred from the first to the second assessment (i.e. 4 patients and 3 controls). However, physical characteristics (age, BMI and VO₂-max) did not differ between patients (n=4) and controls (n=3) that dropped out compared to those who stayed in the study except that drop out controls showed a higher hand grip strength than control subjects who stayed in the study. Finally, study groups (i.e. patients and controls) were not exactly matched with respect to sex at time of recruitment and due to drop outs this distribution got even more skewed at the follow-up examination. Even though chi-squared test showed no statistically significant difference in the distribution of men and women in the two groups (p=0.13) all strength and functional performance variables were adjusted for age and sex.

CONCLUSION

Longitudinal changes in knee flexor MVC, knee extensor/flexor RFD and functional performance in the time span from 2 to 4 years post meniscectomy were similar in

14

operated and contra-lateral legs of patients and legs of population-based controls. However, secondary analysis revealed differential changes in knee extensor MVC between the operated and contra-lateral leg, manifested as increased contra-lateral leg strength, partly confirming our hypothesis that differences in muscle strength may evolve from 2 to 4 years post APM. This differential change may represent an initial sign of an evolving lower limb muscle asymmetry, which may play a role in the development of knee OA.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by The Danish Rheumatism Association and the Region of Southern Denmark. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Andersen JL, Magnusson P, Dyhre-Poulsen P (2002) Increased rate of force development and neural drive of human skeletal muscle following resistance training. J Appl Physiol 93:1318-1326
- Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Trolle M, Bangsbo J, Klausen K (1995) Isokinetic hamstring/quadriceps strength ratio: influence from joint angular velocity, gravity correction and contraction mode. Acta Physiol Scand 154:421-427
- Astrand PO, Ryhming I (1954) A nomogram for calculation of aerobic capacity (physical fitness) from pulse rate during sub-maximal work. J Appl Physiol 7:218-221
- Becker R, Berth A, Nehring M, Awiszus F (2004) Neuromuscular quadriceps dysfunction prior to osteoarthritis of the knee. J Orthop Res 22:768-773
- Bennell KL, Hunt MA, Wrigley TV, Lim BW, Hinman RS (2008) Role of muscle in the genesis and management of knee osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 34:731-754
- Bremander AB, Dahl LL, Roos EM (2007) Validity and reliability of functional performance tests in meniscectomized patients with or without knee osteoarthritis. Scand J MedSci Sports 17:120-127
- Durand A, Richards CL, Malouin F (1991) Strength recovery and muscle activation of the knee extensor and flexor muscles after arthroscopic meniscectomy. A pilot study. Clin Orthop Relat Res 262:210-226
- Englund M (2008) The role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis genesis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 34:573-579

- Englund M, Lohmander LS (2004) Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twenty-two years after meniscectomy. Arthritis Rheum 50:2811-2819
- 10. Englund M, Lohmander LS (2006) Meniscectomy and osteoarthritis: what is the cause and what is the effect? Future Rheumatology 1:207-215
- Englund M, Roos EM, Lohmander LS (2003) Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: a sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum 48:2178-2187
- Ericsson YB, Dahlberg LE, Roos EM (2009) Effects of functional exercise training on performance and muscle strength after meniscectomy: a randomized trial. Scand J Med Sci Sports 19:156-165
- Ericsson YB, Roos EM, Dahlberg L (2006) Muscle strength, functional performance, and self-reported outcomes four years after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in middle-aged patients. Arthritis Rheum 55:946-952
- Farrell M, Richards JG (1986) Analysis of the reliability and validity of the kinetic communicator exercise device. Med Sci Sports Exerc 18:44-49
- 15. Gapeyeva H, Paasuke M, Ereline J, Pintsaar A, Eller A (2000) Isokinetic torque deficit of the knee extensor muscles after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 8:301-304
- Glatthorn JF, Berendts AM, Bizzini M, Munzinger U, Maffiuletti NA (2010) Neuromuscular function after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Clin Orthop Relat Res 468:1336-1343

- Hootman JM, Fitzgerald S, Macera CA, Blair SN (2004) Lower Extremity Muscle Strength and Risk of Self-Reported Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis. Journal of Physical Activity and Health 1:321-330
- Kellis E, Baltzopoulos V (1996) Resistive eccentric exercise: effects of visual feedback on maximum moment of knee extensors and flexors. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 23:120-124
- Lohmander LS, Englund PM, Dahl LL, Roos EM (2007) The long-term consequence of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med 35:1756-1769
- 20. Matthews P, St-Pierre DM (1996) Recovery of muscle strength following arthroscopic meniscectomy. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 23:18-26
- Petty CA, Lubowitz JH (2011) Does arthroscopic partial meniscectomy result in knee osteoarthritis? A systematic review with a minimum of 8 years' follow-up. Arthroscopy 27:419-424
- Poehling GG, Ruch DS, Chabon SJ (1990) The landscape of meniscal injuries. Clin Sports Med 9:539-549
- 23. Roos EM, Ostenberg A, Roos H, Ekdahl C, Lohmander LS (2001) Long-term outcome of meniscectomy: symptoms, function, and performance tests in patients with or without radiographic osteoarthritis compared to matched controls. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 9:316-324
- 24. Roos EM, Roos HP, Ekdahl C, Lohmander LS (1998) Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)--validation of a Swedish version. Scand J Med Sci Sports 8:439-448

- 25. Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS, Ekdahl C, Beynnon BD (1998) Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)--development of a self-administered outcome measure. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 28:88-96
- 26. Roos H, Adalberth T, Dahlberg L, Lohmander LS (1995) Osteoarthritis of the knee after injury to the anterior cruciate ligament or meniscus: the influence of time and age. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 3:261-267
- 27. Roos H, Lauren M, Adalberth T, Roos EM, Jonsson K, Lohmander LS (1998) Knee osteoarthritis after meniscectomy: prevalence of radiographic changes after twenty-one years, compared with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum 41:687-693
- Slemenda C, Brandt KD, Heilman DK, Mazzuca S, Braunstein EM, Katz BP, Wolinsky FD (1997) Quadriceps weakness and osteoarthritis of the knee. Ann Intern Med 127:97-104
- 29. Slemenda C, Heilman DK, Brandt KD, Katz BP, Mazzuca SA, Braunstein EM, Byrd D (1998) Reduced quadriceps strength relative to body weight: a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis in women? Arthritis Rheum 41:1951-1959
- 30. Sole G, Hamren J, Milosavljevic S, Nicholson H, Sullivan SJ (2007) Test-retest reliability of isokinetic knee extension and flexion. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 88:626-631
- St-Pierre DM, Laforest S, Paradis S, Leroux M, Charron J, Racette D, Dalzell MA (1992) Isokinetic rehabilitation after arthroscopic meniscectomy. EurJ Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 64:437-443

- 32. Stam HJ, Binkhorst RA, Kuhlmann P, van Nieuwenhuyzen JF (1992) Clinical progress and quadriceps torque ratios during training of meniscectomy patients. Int J Sports Med 13:183-188
- 33. Sturnieks DL, Besier TF, Hamer PW, Ackland TR, Mills PM, Stachowiak GW, Podsiadlo P, Lloyd DG (2008) Knee strength and knee adduction moments following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Med Sci Sports Exerc 40:991-997
- 34. Suetta C, Aagaard P, Rosted A, Jakobsen AK, Duus B, Kjaer M, Magnusson SP (2004) Training-induced changes in muscle CSA, muscle strength, EMG, and rate of force development in elderly subjects after long-term unilateral disuse. J Appl Physiol 97:1954-1961
- 35. Tegner Y, Lysholm J, Lysholm M, Gillquist J (1986) A performance test to monitor rehabilitation and evaluate anterior cruciate ligament injuries. Am J Sports Med 14:156-159
- 36. Thorlund JB, Aagaard P, Roos EM (2010) Thigh muscle strength, functional capacity, and self-reported function in patients at high risk of knee osteoarthritis compared with controls. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 62:1244-1251
- 37. Thorlund JB, Michalsik LB, Madsen K, Aagaard P (2008) Acute fatigue-induced changes in muscle mechanical properties and neuromuscular activity in elite handball players following a handball match. Scand J Med Sci Sports 18:462-472
- Thorlund JB, Roos EM, Aagaard P (2011) Neuromuscular Function during Stair Descent in Meniscectomized Patients and Controls. Med Sci Sports Exerc 43:1272-1279

39. Thorstensson CA, Petersson IF, Jacobsson LT, Boegard TL, Roos EM (2004) Reduced functional performance in the lower extremity predicted radiographic knee osteoarthritis five years later. Ann Rheum Dis 63:402-407

FIGURE LEGENDS:

Figure 1: Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Score (KOOS) results at 4 years post meniscectomy for the patients (solid circles) and controls (open circles). Results are means with 95% confidence intervals presented as an outcome profile of the 5 dimensions of the KOOS scale. A score of 100 represents no knee problems and a score of 0 represents extreme problems. ADL=activities of daily living, Sport/Rec=sport and recreational function, QOL=quality of life.

FIGURE 1:



	Patients	Controls	Р
Subjects, no. (male/female)	22 (17/5)	25 (14/11)	0.13
Time since surgery (months)	21.6 ± 5.1	N/A	
Age (years)	46.6 ± 5.0	46.4 ± 5.2	0.88
$\mathbf{BMI}(\mathbf{kg/m}^2)$	24.7 ± 2.9	25.1 ± 4.6	0.70
VO_2 -max (ml $O_2 \cdot kg^{-1}$)	37.9 ± 8.2	35.9 ± 9.5	0.44
Hand grip strength (kg)	41.4 ± 7.8	36.7 ± 7.4	0.04

 Table 2: Maximal muscle strength and functional performance at baseline (2 years post meniscectomy)

and change from baseline to follow-up (4 years post meniscectomy) for the operated leg (n=22), contralateral leg (n=22) and control legs (50 legs, n=25).

	Baseline, un-adjusted mean (SD)				Change from baseline assessment, mean adjusted for baseline assessment, age and sex (95% CI)			
	Operated leg	Contra- lateral leg	Controls legs	<i>p</i> -value*	Operated leg	Contra-lateral leg	Controls legs	<i>p</i> -value**
Knee extensor MVC (Nm*kg ⁻¹)	2.91 (0.60)	2.93 (0.54)	2.60 (0.43)	n.s.	0.01 (-0.16-0.18)	0.19 (0.02-0.37)	0.04 (-0.10-0.18)	n.s.
Knee Flexor MVC (Nm*kg ⁻¹)	1.20 (0.21)	1.27 (0.23)	1.18 (0.28)	n.s.	0.06 (-0.02-0.14)	0.06 (-0.02-0.15)	0.05 (-0.02-0.12)	n.s.
Knee bends/ 30 s (no.) One-leg hop (cm)	27.2 (9.6) 92.4 (20.0)	26.9 (8.4) 91.5 (19.7)	29.8 (10.8) 90.5 (23.4)	n.s. n.s.	5.0 (2.7-7.3) 3.5 (-1.9-9.0)	4.0 (1.8-6.3) 5.3 (-0.2-10.8)	3.9 (1.8-6.0) -0.8 (-5.4-3.7)	n.s. n.s.

* Mixed linear model adjusted for age and sex. P-value indicate main effect of 'leg' ** Mixed linear model adjusted for baseline assessment, age and sex. P-value indicate main effect of 'leg'

CI, confidence interval; MVC, Maximal Voluntary Contraction

Table 3: Rate of force development (RFD) for the knee extensors in the time intervals 0-30, 50, 100 and 200 at baseline (2 years post meniscectomy) and change from baseline to follow-up (4 years post meniscectomy) for the operated leg (n=22), contra-lateral leg (n=22) and control legs (50 legs, n=25).

	Baseline, un-adjusted mean (SD)				Change from baseline assessment, mean adjusted for baseline assessment, age and sex (95% CI)			
	Operated leg	Contra- lateral leg	Controls legs	<i>p</i> -value*	Operated leg	Contra- lateral leg	Controls legs	<i>p</i> -value**
0-30 ms (Nm*s ⁻¹ *kg ⁻¹)	12.6 (6.7)	14.1 (6.0)	10.4 (4.2)	n.s.	2.6 (0.3-4.9)	2.5 (0.1-4.8)	3.0 (1.3-4.6)	n.s.
0-50 ms (Nm*s ⁻¹ *kg ⁻¹)	15.8 (7.0)	16.4 (6.3)	13.3 (5.0)	n.s.	1.9 (-0.2-4.1)	2.9 (0.8-5.1)	2.5 (1.0-4.0)	n.s.
0-100 ms (Nm*s ⁻¹ *kg ⁻¹)	14.7 (4.1)	14.4 (4.4)	13.0 (3.1)	n.s.	1.0 (-0.3-2.3)	2.3 (1.0-3.6)	0.8 (-0.3-1.8)	n.s.
0-200 ms (Nm*s ⁻¹ *kg ⁻¹)	10.2 (2.4)	10.1 (2.7)	9.0 (1.8)	n.s.	0.6 (-0.3-1.4)	1.2 (0.4-2.1)	0.4 (-0.3-1.1)	n.s.

* Mixed linear model adjusted for age and sex. P-value indicate main effect of 'leg'

** Mixed linear model adjusted for baseline assessment, age and sex. P-value indicate main effect of 'leg'